NOTE TO USERS

This reproduction is the best copy available.

UMI®

THE ROLE OF KRAB-ZFP ASSOCIATED PROTEIN 1 (KAP1) IN THE CONTROL OF PROMYELOCYTIC LEUKAEMIA NUCLEAR BODY (PML NB) NUMBER

by

Rosemarie B. Kepkay

Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

at

Dalhousie University Halifax, Nova Scotia July 2009

© Copyright by Rosemarie B. Kepkay, 2009



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-56314-4 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-56314-4

NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.

Canada

AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manguant.

DALHOUSIE UNIVERSITY .

To comply with the Canadian Privacy Act the National Library of Canada has requested that the following pages be removed from this copy of the thesis:

Preliminary Pages

Examiners Signature Page (pii) Dalhousie Library Copyright Agreement (piii)

Appendices

Copyright Releases (if applicable)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES	vi
ABSTRACT	viii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS USED	ix
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	xx
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 NUCLEAR STRUCTURE	2
1.1.1 CHROMATIN STRUCTURE	3
1.1.2 SUBNUCLEAR COMPARTMENTS	6
1.2 PROMYELOCYTIC LEUKAEMIA NUCLEAR BODIES	9
1.2.1 THE DYNAMIC STRUCTURE OF PML NBS	10
1.2.2 THE COMPLEX BIOCHEMICAL COMPOSITION OF PML NBS	12
1.2.3 THE PLURIFUNCTIONAL PML NB	14
1.3 THE ROLE OF ATM AND ATR KINASES IN GENOME STABILITY	20
AND DNA-DAMIGE SIGNALING	20
1.3.1 ATM AND ATR ACTIVATION	22
1.3.2 MEDIATORS OF ATM AND ATR KINSASES	23
1.3.3 DOWNSTREAM EFFECTORS OF ATM AND ATR KINASES	25
1.3.3.1 CELL-CYCLE CONTROL	25
1.3.3.2 DNA REPAIR	28
1.3.3.3 MODIFICATION OF CHROMATIN	29
1.4 THE ROLE OF PML NBS IN GENOME STABILITY AND DNA-	
DAMAGE SIGNALING	32
1.4.1 PML NBS AND DNA REPAIR	33
1.4.2 PML NBS AS DNA DAMAGE SENSORS	37
1.4.3 HOW DOES ATM/ATR REGULATE PML NB NUMBER?	39
	-
CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS	58
2.1 REAGENTS	59
2.2 CELL LINES AND DRUG TREATMENTS	59

2.4 IMMUNOFLUORESCENCE	60
2.5 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	61
2.6 WESTERN BLOT ANALYSIS OF WHOLE CELL LYSATES	62
2.7 FLOW CYTOMETRY FOR CELL CYCLE ANALYSIS	63
2.8 MICROCOCCAL NUCLEASE DIGESTION	64
2.9 ELECTRON SPECTROSCOPIC IMAGING	65
CHAPTER 3: RESULTS	68
3.1 GENTERATING A TERT-IMMORATALIZED NHF CELL LINE	69
3.2 LOSS OF KAP1 CAUSES AN INCREASE IN PML NB NUMBER IN A CELL-TYPE INDEPENDENT MANNER AND DOES NOT RELATE TO CHANGES IN CELL CYCLE DISTRIBUTION	70
3.3 LOSS OF KAP1 ALTERS CHROMATIN STRUCTURE	72
3.4 EVIDENCE FOR A KAP1 PHOSPHORYLATION-DEPENDENT MECHANISM REGULATING CHANGES IN PML NB NUMBER	73
3.5 FOLLOWING DNA DAMAGE, PML NB NUMBER FURTHER INCREASES WITH LOSS OF KAP1 OR MUTANT KAP1	74
CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION	87
4.1 SUMMARY	
4.2 A KAPI-DEPENDENT MECHANISM REGULATING PML NB NUMBER	88
4.2.1 HOW DOES KAPI CONTROL PML NB NUMBER?	89
4.3 PML NB NUMBER IS CONTROLED BY PHOSPHORYLATION OF KAP1	92
4.4 EVIDENCE OF A KAP1-INDEPENDENT MECHANISM REGULATING PML NB NUMBER	94
4.5 FUTURE DIRECTIONS	94
4.5.1 DOES ΔKAP1AFFECT S-PHASE?	95
4.5.2 WHAT IS THE SPATIAL ORGANIZATION OF KAP1 IN NUCLEI AND HOW DOES LOSS OF KAP1 AFFECT CHROMATIN MOBILITY?	95
4.5.3. DOES LOSS OF KAP1 AFFECT GENOME STABILITY AND/OR DNA REPAIR?	96
4.6 CONCLUSIONS	97
REFERENCES	99
	. 1

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Chromatin structure 4	11
Figure 2. Kap1 structure and function4	42
Figure 3. Mechanisms of PML NB disruption following cell stress	13
Figure 4. The plurifunctional PML NB4	14
Figure 5. Activation of ATM and ATR with their respective accessory proteins	15
Figure 6. Mediators of the ATM response to DNA damage	1 6
Figure 7. The cell cycle and its relationship to DNA repair4	18
Figure 8. Activation of the G1/S cell-cycle checkpoint4	19
Figure 9. Activation of the intra-S cell-cycle checkpoint	50
Figure 10. Activation of the G2/M cell-cycle checkpoint5	;1
Figure 11. Non-homologous end joining (NHEJ)5	;2
Figure 12. Homologous recombination (HR)5	;3
Figure 13. ATM, Kap1 and chromatin structure	;5
Figure 14. The biophysical and molecular components of the mechanism regulating PML NB number following the induction of DSBs5	6
Figure 15. Retroviral transduction of cell lines for this study	57
Figure 16. ATM DNA-damage signaling pathways and PML NB behaviour following etoposide (VP16) treatment remain unperturbed7	'6
Figure 17. Relative Kap1 protein levels in cell lines with different constitutions of Kap1	'8
Figure 18. Representative immunofluorescence images of Tert-NHF cell lines with wild-type Kap1 or loss of Kap17	'9
Figure 19. PML NB number increases with loss of Kap1 before and after DNA damage	30

Figure 20. Characterization of a U2OS cell line for Kap1 protein levels and PML NB number with normal levels of Kap1 and upon loss of Kap1	81
Figure 21. Loss of Kap1 does not activate an S-phase cell-cycle checkpoint	82
Figure 22. Loss of Kap1 induces chromatin decondensation	83
Figure 23. Change in nuclear-lamina-associated chromatin with loss of Kap1	84
Figure 24. Representative immunofluorescence images of Tert-NHF cell lines with mutant Kap1	85
Figure 25. Expression of mutant Kap1 indicates that PML NB number may be regulated by phosphorylation of Kap1	86
Figure 26. Model for the regulation of PML NB number by Kap1	98

ABSTRACT

Promyelocytic leukemia nuclear bodies (PML NBs) are dynamic subnuclear protein compartments that are thought to play roles in many diverse cellular functions. The major component of PML NBs is the PML protein, and PML gene expression is frequently lost in human cancers. PML NBs also play a role in the response to DNA damage. We and others have shown that PML NBs behave as DNA-damage sensors by increasing in number following the induction of DNA breaks. However, the molecular mechanism behind this phenomenon has not been elucidated. Previous studies have established that the ataxia telangiectasia (AT) mutated (ATM) and AT and Rad3-related (ATR) kinase pathways can regulate PML NB number post-DNA damage. After ATM activation, DNA repair is initiated as well as decondensation of chromatin by phosphorylation of KRAB-ZFP associated protein 1 (Kap1). PML NBs make contacts with the surrounding chromatin and can increase in number in response to perturbations in chromatin structure. Therefore, changes in PML NB number in response to DNA damage may arise due to ATM-mediated Kap1-dependent decondensation of chromatin. We have assessed PML NB number in normal and Kap1-deficient cells before and after DNA damage. Loss of Kap1 causes PML NB number to increase without DNA damage, directly implicating Kap1 in the control of PML NB number due to changes in chromatin structure. Phosphorylation of Kapl also plays a role in regulating PML NB number. A Kaplindependent process regulates PML NB number following DNA damage, as PML NB number further increase post-DNA damage. Understanding the mechanism(s) behind this phenomenon is an important step towards individualized cancer therapy by validating the PML NB as a biomarker for tumour response to radiation and chemotherapy.

viii

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS USED

53BP1	53-binding protein 1
a.u.	Arbitrary units
Akt	AK mouse transformed
ALT	Alternative lengthening of telomeres
alpha-MEME	alpha-Minimum essential media eagle
AML1	Acute myeloid leukaemia 1
APBs	ALT-associated PML NBs
APL	Acute promyelocytic leukaemia
As ₂ O ₃	Arsenic trioxide
ASF1a	Anti-silencing 1a
ATM	Ataxia telangiectasia mutated
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
ATR	Ataxia telangiectasia and Rad3-related
ATRIP	ATR-interacting protein
ATRX	Alpha thalassemia/mental retardation syndrome X-linked
Bak	Bcl2-antagonist/killer 1
Bax	Bcl2-associated X protein
Bcl-2	B-cell CLL/lymphoma 2
BD	Binding domain
BLM	Bloom syndrome
bp	Base, pairs
BRCA1	Breast cancer 1, early onset

Ň	BRCA2	Breast cancer 2, early onset	
	BRCT	BRCA1 C-terminal domain	
	BrdU	Bromodeoxyuridine	
	Bromo	Bromodomain	
	C term	C terminus	
	CaCl ₂	Calcium chloride	
	CBP	CREB-binding protein	
,	Cdc	Cell division cycle	
	Cdk	Cyclin-dependent kinase	
	Chk1	Checkpoint kinase 1	
	Chk2	Checkpoint kinase 2	
	CK2	Casein kinase 2	
	CML	Chronic myeloid leukaemia	
	CREB	Cyclic adenosine monophosphate response element binding	
	CO ₂	Carbon dioxide	
	DAPI	4,6'diamidino-2-phenylindole	
	Daxx	Death-domain-associated protein	
	Dbf4	Dumbell forming 4	
	DFC	Dense fibrillar component	
	DMEM	Dublecco's modified eagle medium	
	DMP-30	2,4,6-tris(dimethylaminomethyl)phenol	
	DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid	
	DNAPK	DNA protein kinase	X
	• •		
		X	

DNAPK-cs	DNA protein kinase-catalytic subunits
Dnase-I	Deoxyribonuclease I
DSB	Double-strand break
DTT	Dithiothreitol
E2F	E2 transcription factor
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EMS	Electron Microscopy Sciences
EtBr	Ethidium bromide
FANCD2	Fanconi's anemia complementation group 2
Fas	Apoptosis stimulating fragment
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
FC	Fibrillar Centre
FISH	Fluorescent in situ hybridization
G1-phase	Growth phase #1
G2-phase	Growth phase #2
Gadd45a	Growth arrest and DNA-damage inducible 45 α
GFP	Green fluorescent protein
GSK3β	Glycogen synthase kinase 3 ß
h	Hours
H1	Histone 1
H2A	Histone 2A
H2A.X	Histone 2A.X
H2B	Histone 2B

xi

H3	Histone 3	
H3K27	Histone 3 lysine residue 27	
H3K36	Histone 3 lysine residue 36	,
H3K4	Histone 3 lysine residue 4	
H3K79	Histone 3 lysine residue 79	
H3K9	Histone 3 lysine residue 9	
H3me3K9	Histone 3 tri-methylated on lysine residue 9	
H4	Histone 4	
H4K20	Histone 4 lysine residue 20	
HA	Hemagglutinin	
НАТ	Histone acetyltransferase	
HAUSP	Herpesvirus-associated ubiquitin-specific protease	
HC1	Hydrochloric acid	
HDAC	Histone deacetylase	•
HDAC7	Histone deacetylase 7	
HDM2	Human double-minute homolog	
HIPK2	Homeodomain-interacting protein kinase 2	
HIRA	Histone cell-cycle regulation defective A	
HMET	Histone methyltransferase	÷.,
HP1	Heterochromatin protein 1	
HR	Homologous recombination	
HRc	High resolution camera	
HSV-1	Herpes simplex virus-1	

Hyg	Hygromycin
ICD	Interochromosomal domain
ICP0	Infected Cell Polypeptide 0
INO80	INOsitol requiring 80
IR	Ionizing radiation
Isg20	Interferon-stimulated exonuclease gene 20
KAP1	KRAB-associated protein 1
kB	Kilobases
KCl	Potassium Chloride
kDa	Kilodalton
KRAB	Krüppel-associated box domain
KRIP1	KRAB-interacting protein 1
Ku	Ku thyroid autoantigen
LIG4	DNA ligase 4
LM/ESI	Light microscopy/electron spectroscopic imaging
MAPK-1	Mitogen-activated kinase-1
MAPPs	Mitotic accumulations of PML protein
Mb	Megabases
MDC1	Mediator of DNA-damage checkpoint 1
Mdm2	Murine double-minute 2
mg	Milligrams
MHCI	Major histocompatibility class I
min	Minutes

mL	Millilitres
mM	Millimolar
MMS4	Methyl Methane Sulfonate sensitivity 4
MNase	Micrococcal nuclease
M-phase	Mitosis phase
Mre11	Meiotic recombination 11
MRN	Mre11-Rad50-NBS1
mRNA	Messenger RNA
MUS81	Methyl Methane Sulfonate and UV sensitive 81
MX1	Myxovirus resistance 1
N term	N terminus
NA	Numerical aperture
Na ₃ VO ₄	Sodium vanadate
NaCl	Sodium chloride
NaF	Sodium fluoride
NB	Nuclear body
NBS1	Nijmegen breakage syndrome 1
ND10	Nuclear domain 10
Neo	Neomycin
NHEJ	Non-homologous end joining
NHF	Normal human fibroblast
NIH	National Institute of Health
nm	Nanometer

	NMA	N-pyridoxyl-2-methylalanine-5-phosphate
	NOPP140	Nucleolar and coiled-body phosphoprotein 1
	NOR	Nucleolar organizer regions
	NPAT	Nuclear protein of the ATM locus
	NSA	Nonenyl Succinic Anhydride
	NuA4	Nucleosome acetyltransferase of H4
	NuRD	Nucleosome remodeling
	p21	Protein 21 kDa
	p27Kip1	Protein 27 kDa kinesin-related protein 1
C	p300	Protein 300 kDa
	p53	Protein 53 kDa
	ΡΑ28γ	Proteasome activator subunit γ
	pAkt	Phophorylated Akt
,	PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
	PCNA	Proliferating-cell nuclear antigen
	PFA	Paraformadehyde
	PHD	Plant homeo domain
	PI3K	Phophoinositide-3-kinase
	PIKK	PI3K-like protein kinase
	Pin1	Peptidyl-prolyl cis/trans isomerase
	PIP2	Phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate
	PIP3	Phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-triphosphate
· ·	РКВ	Protein kinase B
	,	

РКС	Protein kinase C
PML	Promyelocytic leukaemia
PML NB	Promyelocytic leukaemia nuclear body
PODS	PML oncogenic domains
PP2A	Protein phosphatase 2A
pRb	Retinoblastoma protein
PrK	Proteinase K
PTEN	Phosphatase and tensin homologue deleted in chromosome 10
Puro	Puromycin
PxVxL	Proline-any amino acid-valine-any amino acid-leucine
Rad	RADiation sensitive
RARa	Retinoic acid receptor α
RBCC	RING-finger B box coiled-coil domain
rDNA	Ribosomal DNA
RecQ	Recombinase Q
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RNAi	Ribonucleic acid interference
RNF	Ring-finger nuclear factor
RNP	Ribonucleoprotein
RPA	Replication protein A
rpm	Rotations per minute
rRNA	Ribosomal RNA
RSC	Chromatin structure remodeling complex

xvi

RT	Room temperature
S824A	Serine residue at position 824 replaced with alanine
S824D	Serine residue at position 824 replaced with aspartic acid
SAHF	Senescence-associated heterochromatin foci
SARA	Smad anchor for receptor activation
SCE	Sister-chromatid exchange
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulfate
SEM	Standard error of the mean
Ser	Serine
SETDB1	SET-domain bifurcated 1
shRNA	Short hairpin RNA
Smad2/3	SMA and mothers against decapentaplegic 2/3
SMC1	Structural maintenance of chromosome 1
SMN	Survival of motor neurons
snoRNA	Small nucleolar RNA
snRNA	Small nuclear RNA
snRNP	Small nuclear RNP
snoRNP	Small nucleolar RNP
Sp100	Speckled 100 kDa
S-phase	Synthesis phase
SQ/TQ	Serine-Glutamine or Threonine-Glutamine
SSBs	Single-strand breaks
ssDNA	Single-stranded DNA

xvii.

Su(Var)3-7	Suppressors of variegation 3-7
Su(Var)3-9	Suppressors of variegation 3-9
SUMO-1	SMT3 suppressor of mif two 3 homolog 1
SWI-SNF	SWItch/Sucrose NonFermentable
SWR1	Sick With Rat8 1
TERT	Telomerase reverse transcriptase
Tert-NHF	Immortalized normal human fibroblasts
TGFβ	Transforming growth factor β
Thr	Threonine
TIF1	Transcription intermediary factor 1
TIP60	Tat-interactive protein 60 kDa
ΤΝΓα	Tumour necrosis factor a
TopBP1	Topoisomerase (DNA) II binding protein 1
TopoII	Topoisomerase II
Trf	Telomere-repeat-binding protein
Tris	Tris(hydroxymethyl)aminomethane
U2OS	Osteosarcoma cells
UBC	Ubiquitin conjugating enzyme
UV	Ultraviolet
VP16	Etoposide
WRN	Werner
Wnt	Wingless (Wg) and INT
XLF	XRCC4-like factor

XRCC4	X-ray repair complementing defective repair in Chinese hamster cells 4
ZFP	Zinc-finger protein
μg	Micrograms
μL	Microlitres
μm	Micrometres
μΜ	Micromolar

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank my supervisor Dr. Graham Dellaire for providing me with a great project over the past two years, which despite many glitches along the way, turned out to be a interesting project in the long run. I would also like to thank my committee members, Drs. Rick Singer, Patrick Lee and Craig McCormick for further guidance and great suggestions for this project. This project could have not been possible without the gracious help from Dr. Yosef Shiloh and Yael Ziv who provided reagents, protocols and expertise in this field of research.

I could have not done my research without all of the Dellaire lab members who have made the lab a wonderful place to work, especially Brenda Tse and Colleen Hewitt who have been there from the start. I would not be where I am today without the love and support of my family and friends. A special thanks to my parents, Paul and Kathy, who have pushed me to do great things with my life and have supported me every step of the way with whatever I have chosen. I love you both very much!

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1 NUCLEAR STRUCTURE

Eukaryotic cells have evolved to compartmentalize cellular processes into organelles. The nucleus is one multifaceted organelle that not only contains our genetic information as DNA but also the molecular machinery to transcribe, replicate and repair our genes. In eukaryotic cells, DNA is normally packaged with histone proteins to form chromatin ^{1, 2}. The minimal repeat unit is the nucleosome composed of histone proteins where DNA wraps around the histone core ³. Non-histone proteins allow chromatin to have different degrees of DNA compaction forming all 23 chromosomes that are further compartmentalized into discrete territories ^{4, 5}. Furthermore, the position of some genes on chromosomes and the position of the chromosome within the nucleus can regulate both gene expression as well as the frequency of chromosome translocations between genes ^{5, 6}.

The space that separates chromosomal territories is termed the interchromosomal domain (ICD) ⁷. A number of distinct subnuclear domains or bodies lie within the ICD including nucleoli, Cajal bodies and promyeolocytic leukaemia nuclear bodies, which are functionally complex ⁸⁻¹⁰. Extensive architecture of the nucleus organizes and regulates the many processes that occur within the nucleus. Changes in nuclear and subnuclear body structure following cell stress correlate with a number of cellular pathologies, including the development of cancer ^{11, 12}. The functional significance of nuclear organization remains poorly understood, but advances in nuclear structure research can help in understanding the etiology behind certain diseases as well as help to diagnose and treat them.

1.1.1 CHROMATIN STRUCTURE

The basic building block of chromatin is the nucleosome, which is composed of the core histone proteins ³. Heterodimers of histones H2A and H2B are complexed with two heterodimers of histones H3-H4 and this histone complex is enveloped by 146 bp of DNA to form a nucleosome particle ³. *In vivo*, chromatin exists as a 10-nm fiber (i.e. 'beads-on-a-string' conformation) ^{3, 13} as well as higher-order nucleosome arrays involving the linker histone H1 to form a secondary structure of 30-nm fibers, referred to as the 'solenoid' conformation ¹⁴ (Figure 1). Tertiary structure of chromatin involves long-distance chromatin fiber interactions and interactions with numerous chromatin-associated proteins ^{15, 16} (Figure 1).

Chromatin organization is also complicated by the fact that chromatin can exist as either euchromatin or heterochromatin ¹⁷⁻¹⁹. Euchromatin condenses during the cell cycle and decondenses during interphase to allow transcription, as euchromatin is usually gene-rich ^{17, 18, 20}. Heterochromatin is more compact as it remains condensed throughout interphase ²⁰. Heterochromatin is also transcriptionally silent, contains repetitive sequences ^{18, 19, 21} and can exist as two types. The first type, constitutive heterochromatin is always condensed and is the same in all cells in a species ^{18, 22}. For example, centromeric and telomeric chromatin are types of constitutive heterochromatin that maintain centromere and telomere structure throughout cell division ^{18, 22}. Facultative heterochromatin is more dynamic and regulated, as it can spend time in a euchromatic or heterochromatic state in different cell types or at different developmental stages, therefore regulating gene expression ^{22, 23}. The switch from actively transcribed genes in euchromatin to silenced genes in heterochromatin has been well studied in *Drosophila* by

position-effect variegation ^{24, 25}. Position-effect variegation occurs when a gene is inactivated due to its abnormal juxtaposition with heterochromatin ^{24, 25}. An example occurs in *Drosophila* where eye colour is variegated due to transposition of the white gene placing it next to heterochromatin, resulting in red-white mosaic coloured eyes, where as *Drosophila* with the wild-type white gene have red eyes ^{24, 25}.

Many factors can alter the formation of euchromatin or heterochromatin. Certain modifications of N-terminal histone 'tails' correlate with gene activation (i.e. euchromatin) or gene silencing (i.e. heterochromatin) ^{26, 27}. These include at least 5 types of modifications, of which lysine acetylation and methylation are the most studied ²⁶. Whether a histone tail modification is gene activating or gene silencing depends on which residue(s) are modified. Hyperacetylation and trimethylated H3K4, H3K36 and H3K79 are typical in actively transcribed euchromatin ^{26, 28, 29}. Hypoacetylation and high levels of at specific methylation sites (H3K9, H3K27 and H4K20) are most common in a silent heterochromatic state ^{26, 28, 29}.

Not only is H3K9 methylation important for heterochromatin formation, nonhistone proteins are also associated with heterochromatin. The best characterized of these non-histone proteins is heterochromatin protein 1 (HP1), originally discovered in *Drosophila*, for which orthologs exist from yeast to humans ³⁰. Humans have three isoforms of HP1, α , β and γ ³⁰. The HP1 isoforms differ in localization: HP1 α and β are found in pericentric heterochromatin, whereas HP1 γ is present in euchromatin and excluded from heterochromatin ³⁰. Methylated H3K9 is the binding site for the N-terminal chromodomain in HP1 ^{31, 32}. The HP1 proteins are fundamental anchors in the formation of heterochromatin and silencing euchromatic genes ³³. HP1 can further mediate protein-protein interactions through its C terminal chromoshadow domain for gene silencing. For example, suppressors of variegation (Su(Var) 3-7 and 3-9) in *Drosophila* exhibit similar localization to HP1 and interact with the chromoshadow domain of HP1 $^{31, 34, 35}$. Transcription intermediary factors (TIF) α and β can also interact with the chromoshadow domain of HP1 36 .

TIF1β is an important co-repressor that interacts with HP1 through its chromoshadow domain ³⁷⁻³⁹, and this interaction is important for cell differentiation ^{40, 41}. TIF1β is also known as KRAB-associated protein 1 (Kap1) or KRAB-interacting protein 1 (KRIP1) ^{37, 38, 42-45}. The HP1-binding domain of Kap1 is 15 amino acids and contains a PxVxL motif (Figure 2A) ^{43, 44, 46}. Within the HP1-binding domain of Kap1, serine residue 473 can be phosphorylated by protein kinase C (PKC) preventing interaction with HP1 and allowing the expression of regulatory genes involved in the cell cycle ⁴⁷. The HP1-Kap1 interaction allows Kap1 to coordinate activities to regulate chromatin structure by interacting with Mi-2α, a component of the nucleosome-remodeling (NuRD) histone-deacetylase complex (HDAC) and SET-domain bifurcated 1 (SETDB1), a H3K9-selective histone methyltransferase (HMET) (Figure 2B) ^{48, 49}. Mi-2α and SETDB1 are recruited through the plant homeo domain (PHD) finger-bromodomain of Kap1 ^{48, 49} and requires sumoylation of the Kap1 bromodomain, which is mediated by the ubiqutin-conjugating enzyme UBC9 and the PHD-finger E3 ligase activity of Kap1 ^{50, 51}.

Kap1 largely coordinates transcriptional repression through its N terminal domain by binding to proteins containing the Kruppel-associated box (KRAB) domain where Kap1 was originally discovered (Figure 2) ^{37, 38, 42, 52, 53}. KRAB domains are conserved in the N terminus of over 400 zinc-finger proteins (ZFPs) and are strong transcriptional

repression domains that bind DNA ⁵⁴⁻⁵⁶. Interestingly, KRAB-ZFP transcription factors in conjunction with Kap1 participate in an autoregulatory loop to repress their own gene expression ⁵⁷. The RING B box coiled-coil (RBCC) domain of Kap1 interacts with KRAB domains (Figure 2A) ^{58, 59} and this interaction is conserved between three subfamilies of KRAB domains ⁵³. Furthermore, a single KRAB domain can bind three molecules of the Kap1-RBCC ⁶⁰. Therefore, Kap1 acts as an important molecular scaffold to coordinate activities of numerous proteins, including KRAB-ZFP, HP1, SETDB1 and Mi-2α that alter chromatin structure to silence gene transcription as outlined above (Figure 2B).

1.1.2 SUBNUCLEAR COMPARTMENTS

Within the ICD space of the nucleus lies a number of subnuclear compartments or bodies that play important roles within the nucleus, possess intricate structural complexities, and functionally are only partially characterized. Examples of subnuclear compartments are the nucleolus, Cajal bodies and promyelocytic leukaemia nuclear bodies (PML NBs), which is discussed below in further detail ⁸.

The nucleolus is the most prominent structure inside the nucleus, and mammalian cells contain between 1-5 nucleoli ⁶¹. Around 700 proteins are associated with nucleoli ^{62, 63}. Only approximately 30% of these nucleolar proteins take part in ribosome biogenesis, which is widely believed to be the central role of the nucleolus ^{10, 62, 63}. Ribosome biogenesis requires synthesis, cleavage and modification of ribosomal RNA (rRNA), interactions with small nucleolar ribonuclear proteins (snoRNP) and the final assembly with ribosomal proteins to form and export 40S and 60S subunits ^{61, 64-66}. rRNA synthesis and assembly of ribosomes is also tightly linked to the formation of

functionally distinct sub-nucleolar domains important for nucleolar structure. Initial rRNA synthesis by RNA polymerase I occurs at the fibrillar centres (FC) ^{61, 64-66}. Nucleolar structure largely relies on rRNA genes and actively transcribed rDNA are termed nucleolar-organizer regions (NORs) ^{61, 64, 67}. NORs are tandem head-to-tail repeats of rRNA genes where RNA polymerase I initiates rRNA synthesis at the end of mitosis and clustering NORs in early G1 directs assembly of the nucleolus ^{65, 67, 68}. Conversely, during mitosis nucleoli disassemble as RNA polymerase I dissociates and rRNA synthesis is arrested ^{65, 67, 68}. Nascent rRNA is then processed at the dense fibrillar component (DFC), which contains fibrillarin and surrounds the FCs ^{61, 64-66}. Finally, before export to the cytoplasm, ribosomes mature in the granular centres containing nucleophosmin/nuclear phosphoprotein B23 ^{61, 64-66}.

The remaining 70% of the nucleolar associated proteins are not attributed to ribosome biogenesis, and therefore it has been suggested that the nucleolus is a plurifunctional subnuclear compartment ^{62, 63, 69}. The nucleolus participates in other cellular processes including maturation of non-nucleolar RNAs and ribonucleoproteins (RNPs), messenger RNA (mRNA) export and decay, cell senescence, control of viral infection, cell-cycle progression, tumour suppression, DNA repair, telomerase function and cell stress response ^{10, 69-71}. Not only does the nucleolus have a dynamic structure, especially during mitosis, but protein composition is continually in flux; the steady-state accumulation of proteins that give rise to a structurally coherent nuclear domain ^{72, 73}. As such, the nucleolus can respond to a number of cell stressors (transcriptional inhibiton, hypoxia, DNA damage) in dynamic and dramatic ways by rapid changes in protein composition ^{71, 74-77}. Therefore, changes in biochemical composition of the nucleolus may

play a role in regulating the cell stress response, in particular in response to DNA damage ^{70, 71}.

Another dynamic subnuclear compartment are Cajal bodies, which were initially termed 'nucleolar accessory bodies' by Ramón y Cajal, who first discovered them due to their association with nucleoli⁷⁸. These structures are also referred to as 'coiled bodies' due to their coiled appearance by electron microscopy 79 . The Cajal body was eventually renamed in honour of its discoverer ⁷⁹. The number and size of Cajal bodies varies between cell types and during the cell cycle, but mammalian cells usually have 1-10 Cajal bodies per nucleus, ranging from 0.1-2 μ m in diameter ⁷⁹⁻⁸². Cajal bodies behave similar to nucleoli during the cell cycle as they require high levels of transcriptional activity⁸³⁻⁸⁵. In the cell cycle, Cajal bodies disappear in mitosis and reappear during G1 growth phase ⁸³⁻⁸⁵. The main structural component of Cajal bodies is p80 coilin, which is necessary for Cajal-body formation, but is not essential for life ^{86, 87}. However, p80 coilin is not the only protein that is localized to Cajal bodies. Other proteins that are found at Cajal bodies include: fibrillarin and nucleolar and coiled-body phosphoprotein 1 (NOPP140), which are nucleolar proteins; nuclear protein of the ATM locus (NPAT), a histone transcription factor; and survival of motor neurons (SMN) that is involved in spinal muscular atrophy and participates in the formation of small nuclear RNA (snRNA) 80-82

Cajal bodies not only interact with numerous proteins but can also interact with many small nuclear RNA (snRNA) species including U1, U2, U4, U5, U6, U11 and U12^{8, 79, 88} and small nucleolar RNAs (snoRNAs) involved in splicing RNA polymerase I, II and III transcripts^{79, 80, 89, 90}. This suggests that Cajal bodies play roles in RNA

processing. For example, Cajal bodies have been shown to interact with U7 snRNA, which is required for 3' trimming of histone pre-mRNA ^{79, 80, 91, 92}. It has been proposed that the Cajal body forms in order to assemble the machinery for RNA processing rather than to carry out RNA processing, as Cajal bodies do not contain DNA or non-snRNP splicing factors ^{80, 81, 86, 89, 93}. Cajal bodies are also mobile but exhibit restricted diffusion within the ICDs of nuclei in live cells through reversible chromatin contacts ⁸⁵. Cajal bodies can also respond dramatically to cellular stress such as viral infection or DNA damage ^{94, 95}, which may be due to changes in chromatin structure or activation of DNA-damage or stress-induced kinase pathways ⁷¹. For example, following ultraviolet (UV)-C radiation, proteasome activator subunit γ (PA28 γ) is activated and associates with p80 coilin inducing redistribution of p80 coilin, and allowing disassembly of Cajal bodies ⁹⁴.

The promyelocytic leukaemia nuclear body (PML NB) is another dynamic subnuclear compartment that, like nucleoli and Cajal bodies, undergoes dynamic changes during the cell cycle and under cell stress. The intricate structure, complex biochemical composition and plethora of functions associated with PML NBs is discussed in greater detail in the following section.

1.2. PROMYELOCYTIC LEUKAEMIA NUCLEAR BODIES

PML NBs, also referred to as PML oncogenic domains (PODS), Kremer bodies or nuclear domain 10 (ND10), were originally characterized using autoantibodies from patients with primary billary cirrhosis ⁹⁶⁻⁹⁸. PML NBs were originally thought to be an important nuclear matrix protein ⁹⁹. However, after two decades of research, PML NBs have proved to be an important subnuclear compartment with a dynamic and complex structure, whose function appears to be regulated by changes by its biochemical composition.

1.2.1 THE DYNAMIC STRUCTURE OF PML NBs

PML NBs are a largely proteinaceous subnuclear compartment of 0.3-1 µm in diameter. containing little RNA and making extensive chromatin contacts, attributes revealed by correlative light microscopy and electron spectroscopic imaging (LM/ESI)¹⁰⁰⁻¹⁰². The main structural component of PML NB is the PML protein, which is essential for PML NB formation ^{103, 104}. However, other proteins, including the transcriptional repressor speckled 100-kDa protein (Sp100) and small ubiqutin-like modifier-1 (SUMO-1), are also important for PML NB structural integrity ¹⁰¹. Sumoylation of PML and Sp100 are particularly important in mediating specific protein interactions that include recruitment of the death-domain-associated protein (Daxx)¹⁰⁴⁻¹⁰⁷. A potential mechanism for the sumovlation of PML may be though histone deacetylase 7 (HDAC7), which has been shown to be important for PML NB formation ^{108, 109}. HDAC7-dependent sumoylation of PML is induced by tumour necrosis factor (TNF) α allowing HDAC7 to associate with an E2 SUMO ligase, UBC9, stimulating PML sumoylation, suggesting HDAC7 may possess SUMO E3 ligase-like activity independent of its HDAC activity ^{108, 110}. Conversely, removal of SUMO by SUMO-specific proteases causes reorganization of PML NBs and redistributes some PML-NB associated proteins, such as Daxx¹¹¹⁻¹¹³.

There is an average of 10 PML NBs per cell in most cell types, which is reflected in one of the PML NB original names, ND10 ⁹⁶. However, the number of PML NBs in a cell can range from 5-30 NBs, which is cell type and cell cycle-dependent ^{101, 114}. The

contacts that PML NBs make with chromatin play a role in maintaining PML NB integrity and stability ^{102, 115}. PML NBs have been shown to double in number in early S-phase through a supramolecular fission mechanism, directly linking this phenomenon to DNA replication ^{102, 114}. PML NBs are pulled apart as the surrounding chromatin topology changes, and the resulting PML microbodies are indistinguishable to the parental body ^{102, 114}. This behaviour indicates that new PML NBs come from pre-existing PML NBs, and are not due to random accumulation of PML protein ¹⁰². In late S-phase Daxx leaves PML NBs ¹¹⁶ and during mitosis PML NB number decreases as Sp100 and SUMO-1 are depleted and bodies begin to aggregate when chromatin contacts are broken ^{105, 117}. These mitotic accumulations of PML protein (MAPPs) contribute to the reformation of PML NBs in G1, which again accumulate Sp100 and SUMO-1 ^{117, 118}.

Changes in PML NB number occur in response to changes in sumoylation status or during the cell cycle. However, PML NBs can also respond to cellular stress. Some cellular stresses can affect PML NB number by a SUMO-dependent mechanism, including viral protein expression, heat shock or heavy-metal treatment, all of which trigger the desumoylation of PML and other body components such as Sp100 (Figure 3) ^{101, 115}. Desumoylation leads to the blebbing of PML NBs into numerous small PML microstructures devoid of SUMO-1 ^{101, 115}. As cells recover from stress, PML. microstructures fuse together and SUMO-1 levels again increase ^{101, 115}. Other cellular stresses can act in a SUMO-independent fashion, including staurosporine treatment, transcription inhibition, DNase-I treatment, apoptosis and DNA damage, all of which create changes in chromatin topology (Figure 3) ^{101, 102, 119}. The resulting supramolecular subunits that are released from PML NBs during DNA damage are similar to the microbodies released during S-phase, which again suggests changes in chromatin structure may regulate PML NB number ^{114, 120}.

1.2.2 THE COMPLEX BIOCHEMICAL COMPOSITION OF PML NBs

PML NBs are not only dynamic in their structure and behaviour, but what makes a PML NB is complex. PML NBs contain the PML protein, which is the main structural component of PML NBs. SUMO-1 is important for structural integrity and Sp100 and Daxx are important components of the PML NB whose roles have been previously discussed. PML NBs associate with numerous other proteins under various conditions that contribute to the promiscuity of PML NBs in terms of their functions (Figure 4). Furthermore, PML NBs have been shown to interact non-randomly with genomic loci. To make things more complicated, the PML protein itself has numerous isoforms, allowing PML isoform-specific interactions.

The PML gene is composed of nine exons, of which exons 6-9 are alternatively spliced resulting in seven isoforms of the PML protein that differ at the C terminus¹²¹⁻¹²³. All PML isoforms contain the RBCC motif at the N terminus, which mediates protein-protein interactions and plays a role in PML NB formation^{124, 125}. A nuclear localization signal (NLS) is also present in all PML isoforms with the exception of PML VII ^{122, 123}. Individual PML isoforms are identified by the motifs present in the C terminus. A nuclear exclusion signal is present in PML I ¹²⁶ as is a binding site for acute myeloid leukaemia I (AML1) ¹²⁷ and a nucleolar targeting signal ¹²⁸. PML IV has binding motifs for p53, human double-minute homolog (HDM2) and HDACs ¹²⁹⁻¹³¹. Furthermore, PML IV also regulates telomerase function by interacting with telomerase reverse transcriptase (TERT), the catalytic component of telomerase ¹³². The various PML isoforms have

different effects on PML NB organization, including changes in PML NB number, size and shape in different cell types when PML isoforms are overexpressed ¹³³. These differences with respect to these PML NB attributes suggest these isoforms may also exhibit differences in function.

In addition to changes in associated proteins, PML NBs have been shown to be meeting places for different genomic loci ¹³⁴. PML NBs particularly associate with gene-rich and transcriptionally active regions of the genome ^{135, 136}. Immuno-FISH analyses have been used to identify the specific gene loci that interact with PML NBs. The major histocompatibility (MHC) class I cluster on chromosome 6, which is important in antigen presentation, has been shown to be associated with PML NBs¹³⁵. However, the implications of the specific interaction are complicated, as some studies show that PML NB and MHCI association is related to some active genes in the MHC complex ¹³⁷. although this has not been confirmed ^{138, 139}. PML NBs also associate with the p53 gene, which encodes a potent tumour suppressor protein mediating numerous signaling pathways¹⁴⁰. Therefore, it is suggested that PML NBs may play a role in p53-mediated pathways. Furthermore, a number of viral genomes have been shown to target PML NBs during productive infections, perhaps due to the high transcriptional activity ^{104, 141-143}. How specific genomic loci associate with PML NBs is unclear. This association may be due to high transcription activity, as found for viral genomes, ¹³⁴ or for recruitment of genomic loci by transcription factors to specifically regulate transcriptional activity 134, 144, 145.

Differences in PML isoforms and association of PML NBs with genomic loci reflect only a fraction of the complexity involved in the regulation of PML NB

composition and function. The biochemical composition of PML NBs is largely due to the variety of proteins that associate or localize to PML NBs under numerous conditions. Over 75 proteins have been described as having an association with PML NBs^{144, 146, 147} (Nuclear Protein Database http://npd.hgu.mrc.ac.uk) and exchange of a variety of these components is dynamic ¹⁴⁸. It is difficult to attribute a specific function to PML NBs due to the plethora of proteins that interact with them and their involvement in different cellular processes (Figure 4). Therefore, like the nucleolus, PML NBs are plurifunctional compartments. How PML NBs play roles in so many cellular processes is unclear and a number of models have been suggested ^{101, 144, 149, 150}. One model suggests that PML NBs act as depots or storage sites to sequester nuclear proteins and maintain levels of certain nuclear factors (i.e. Daxx)^{98, 151}. Another model proposes that rather than acting as storage sites, PML NBs serve as sites for post-translational modification of nuclear proteins. For example, accumulation of homeodomain-interacting protein kinase 2 (HIPK2), p53 and CREB-binding protein (CBP) at PML NBs regulates phophorylation (by HIPK2) and acetylation (by CBP) of p53^{152, 153}. A third model suggests that PML NBs are sites for specific nuclear functions such as DNA transcription, replication or repair ^{134, 144}. This view can be supported by the evidence presented earlier that PML NBs associate with genomic loci and viral genomes. However, it should be noted that these models are not mutually exclusive.

1.2.3 THE PLURIFUNCTIONAL PML NB

As discussed above, PML NBs are plurifunctional subnuclear compartments playing roles in viral infection, proteolysis, gene regulation, apoptosis, cell senescence, tumour suppression and DNA repair (Figure 4).
Many DNA viruses and viral proteins interact with PML NBs ^{134, 141}. Many initial studies were done using Herpes simplex virus 1 (HSV-1) ^{141, 154-156}. The main role of PML NBs in viral infection is to act as initial sites of transcription and replication for DNA viruses ¹⁵⁴⁻¹⁵⁶. Furthermore, many regulatory proteins encoded by DNA viruses associate with PML NBs and can change PML NB structure and biochemical composition. For example, an early regulatory protein in HSV-1 infection called infected cell polypeptide 0 (ICP0) disrupts PML NBs by inducing proteasome-dependent degradation of the SUMO-1 forms of PML and Sp100 ¹⁵⁴. More specifically, an isoform of PML, PML Ib, is localized to the cytoplasm to promote cellular resistance to viral infection by sequestering ICP0 in the cytoplasm, limiting HSV-1 viral protein accumulation and replication ¹⁵⁷.

A role for PML NBs in proteolysis is also suggested from studies involving the ICP0 viral protein ¹⁵⁴. The 11S proteasome subunits have been shown to localize to PML NBs and require sumoylation of PML ¹⁵⁸. Therefore, degradation of PML by proteasome-mediated pathways requires sumoylated PML.

The interactions of viral genomes ^{141, 142} and genomic loci ¹³⁴ with PML NBs provide evidence for transcriptional role of PML NBs. The fact that nascent RNA is detected in the vicinity of PML NBs also supports a transcriptional role of PML NBs ¹⁰⁰. As PML cannot bind DNA directly, PML NBs may interact with transcription factors and regulators or participate in chromatin remodeling processes ^{144, 149}. With regards to the MHC locus, it has been suggested that PML NBs regulate transcription by organizing genes in higher-order chromatin loops to alter transcriptional activity ¹⁵⁹. PML NBs interact with a number of transcriptional co-activators, including CBP and p53 ^{129, 160}, and a number of co-repressors, including the retinoblastoma protein (pRb)¹⁶¹. Furthermore, PML NBs have been shown to co-localize with heterochromatin proteins, like HP1¹⁶², suggesting a role of PML NBs in the establishment of heterochromatin and gene silencing¹⁶³. Therefore, it has been suggested that PML NBs play dual roles by stabilizing co-activator or co-repressor-transcription factor complexes¹⁴⁴.

The tumour-suppressive nature of PML and PML NBs has been of great interest as PML NBs play roles in apoptosis and cell senescence, which are two mechanisms that keep cell growth in check and prevent cancer ^{164, 165}. The first indication of a role for PML in cancer was the discovery of the PML gene itself. The PML gene was identified in a (15:17) translocation with the retinoic acid receptor α (RAR α) gene in patients with acute promyelocytic leukemia (APL), where mature lymphocytes are not produced and there is an accumulation of promyelocytes ^{166, 167}. In patients with APL, the production of this oncogenic fusion protein, PML-RAR α , causes disruption of PML NBs in the promyelocytes ^{103, 166, 167}. Treatment of APL with all-*trans*-retinoic acid allowed reformation of PML NBs triggering differentiation, which correlates with remission of these patients ¹⁶⁸. Arsenic trioxide (As₂O₃) has also been used as a treatment for patients with APL as it induces apoptosis of the leukaemic cells ¹⁶⁹ as well as degradation of PML-RAR α vby a SUMO-triggered ring-finger nuclear factor (RNF) 4 ubiquitin-mediated pathway ^{158, 170, 171}.

Decreased PML expression has also been found in solid tumours of various histological origins, including breast, colon, lung and prostate tissue ¹⁷². Further indication that PML is a tumour suppressor is that PML-/- mice survive, but form tumours when exposed to various physical and chemical carcinogens ¹⁷³. Therefore, PML

is a classical tumour suppressor, as its loss or disruption appears to enhance the development of cancer. Since the loss of the PML protein is correlated with both tumour formation and increased susceptibility to carcinogens, the regulation of PML protein levels has emerged as an important aspect of tumour suppression. PML can be lost or degraded by various mechanisms. Phosphorylation of PML on serine residue 117 by casein kinase II (CK2) regulates PML protein levels by promoting ubiquitin-mediated degradation, leading to tumourigenesis ¹⁷⁴. Inhibition of this phosphorylation event by CK2 enhances the tumour-suppressive properties of PML ¹⁷⁴. PML degradation is also regulated by the interaction of PML with the petidyl-prolyl *cis-trans* isomerase Pin1 ¹⁷⁵. Pin1-dependent degradation of PML is inhibited by PML sumoylation and relies on phosphorylation of PML by mitogen-activated kinase-1 (MAPK1) ¹⁷⁶.

In addition to being a tumour suppressor itself, PML and PML NBs are also involved in other tumour-suppressive networks. PML has been linked to numerous other proteins involved in tumour suppression and aids in the coordination of proteins involved in these pathways. The phophoinositide-3-kinase (PI3K)-AK mouse transformed (Akt) signaling pathway regulates cellular processes including cell proliferation, growth, survival and motility needed for cells to initiate tumourigenesis ¹⁷⁷. Growth-factor tyrosine kinases activate PI3Ks, which catalyze the production of a lipid secondary messenger phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-triphosphate (PIP3) ^{177, 178}. PIP3 recruits and activates a number of downstream effectors including Akt or protein kinase B (PKB), which mediate signals to promote cell growth and survival ^{177, 179}. Phosphatase and tensin homologue deleted in chromosome 10 (PTEN) regulate the conversion of PIP3 to inactive phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate (PIP2), preventing the activation of Akt ^{177, 180}. Therefore, PTEN acts as a tumour suppressor. Studies have shown that PML regulates Akt ¹⁸¹ as well as PTEN ^{182, 183}. PML recruits the Akt phosphatase protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A) to inactivate phosphorylated Akt (pAkt) in the nucleus where pAkt would normally promote cell survival and cancer progression ¹⁸¹. PTEN is regulated by its translocation between the nucleus and the cytoplasm. PTEN is de-ubiquitylated by herpesvirus-associated ubiquitin-specific protease (HAUSP) resulting in the nuclear exclusion of PTEN, which leads to activation of Akt, cell survival and cancer progression ^{182, 183}. PML has been demonstrated to oppose HAUSP activity through a mechanism involving Daxx ¹⁸³.

The potent tumour suppressor p53 is involved in a number of signaling pathways and PML plays a large role in coordinating p53 function. Firstly, PML directly interacts with the p53 gene ^{134, 140}. Secondly, PML, more specifically PML isoform IV, interacts with the DNA-binding domain of p53, localizes at PML NBs and acts as a transcriptional activator ^{130, 184, 185}. Thirdly, PML promotes p53 stabilization by sequestering the p53 ubiquitin-ligase murine double-minute 2 (Mdm2) to the nucleolus, preventing p53 degradation ^{129, 186, 187}. Furthermore, localization of HIPK2, p53 and CBP at PML NBs promotes activation of p53 by regulating the phophorylation (by HIPK2) and acetylation (by CBP) of p53 ^{152, 153}. These interactions between PML and p53 help facilitate transcription of p53-responsive genes, allowing cells to undergo cellular senescence ^{188, 189} or apoptosis ^{184, 190} under various conditions. Lastly, PML itself is a p53 target gene, adding an autoregulatory feature to mediating p53 function ¹⁹¹.

In addition to promoting apoptosis, activation of p53 also results in cellular senescence. Stabilization and activation of p53 through phosphorylation of serine residue

46 and acetylation of lysine residue 382 is induced by PML, specifically PML IV, and is important for cellular senescence ¹⁸⁸. PML IV is also important in mediating cellular senescence by negatively regulating telomerase by interacting with its catalytic component, TERT, resulting in shortened telomeres ¹³². Furthermore, oncogenic ras induces PML to promote cellular senescence through the p53 and pRb tumour-suppressor pathways, and both p53 and pRb localize to PML NBs ^{189, 192}. Independently of p53 and Rb, cellular senescence is also caused by the formation of facultative chromatin into senescence-associated heterochromatin foci (SAHF), which are induced by anti-silencing factor 1a (ASF1a) and histone cell-cycle regulation defective A (HIRA) ¹⁹³. HIRA must localize to PML NBs before interacting with ASF1a and does so through glycogen synthase kinase 3 β (GSK3 β) -mediated phosphorylation of HIRA by downregulating Wnt signals that normally promote cancer ¹⁹⁴.

PML and PML NBs not only regulate p53-dependent apoptosis but also some other forms of apoptosis that are p53-independent. PML interacts with Daxx, a proapoptotic factor in Apoptosis stimulating fragment (Fas)- and transforming growth factor β (TGF β)-mediated apoptosis ^{173, 190, 195, 196}. Furthermore, cytoplasmic PML has been shown to play a role in TGF β signaling by interacting with the TGF β signaling proteins SMA and mothers against decapentaplegic 2/3 (Smad2/3) and Smad anchor for receptor activation (SARA) to induce either growth arrest, cellular senescence or apoptosis ¹⁹⁷. Finally, PML can induce apoptosis in a p53-independent manner by regulating checkpoint kinase 2 (Chk2) autophosphorylation and activation, in which PML induces this pathway ^{198, 199}.

An interesting twist in the role of PML in cancer is that the presence of PML has not only a tumour-suppressive effect in somatic cells, preventing the development of cancer, but aids in the maintenance of cancer stem cells ^{200, 201}. PML appears to regulate self-renewal by cancer stem cells, such as haematopoetic stem cells in APL or leukaemiainitiating cells in chonic myeloid leukaemia (CML) to promote cellular transformation ^{200, 201}. Despite these recent studies, PML and PML NBs are still viewed as being tumour suppressive in nature. Accumulation of mutations in tumour-suppressor genes, including PML, can lead to cancer. Functional DNA-damage signaling pathways and DNA-repair mechanisms in a cell are important to prevent mutations from accumulating. The role of DNA-damage signaling and DNA repair in genome stability and their relation to PML is discussed below.

1.3 THE ROLE OF ATM AND ATR KINASES IN GENOME STABILITY AND DNA-DAMAGE SIGNALING

Various mechanisms for sensing and repairing DNA lesions are highly conserved from yeast to mammals. Ataxia telangiectasia-mutated (ATM) and ataxia telangiectasia and Rad3-related (ATR) are transducing kinases that are important in the initial cellular responses to DNA damage ²⁰²⁻²⁰⁵. Mutations in ATM and ATR have been associated with rare autosomal recessive disorders, ataxia telangiectasia and Seckel syndrome, respectively ²⁰⁶⁻²⁰⁸. Although these kinases have similar roles in DNA-damage signaling, the diseases they cause show different symptoms. Ataxia telangiectasia is characterized by cerebellar degeneration leading to severe neuromotor dysfunction, immunodeficiency, radiosensitivity and increased susceptibility to cancer ²⁰⁹. On the other hand, Seckel syndrome is exemplified by mental retardation, microcephaly, characteristic facial features including pronounced nose and ears, dwarfism and radiosensitivity ²¹⁰. Furthermore, ATM-deficient mice ²¹¹ show severe growth defects yet are viable, whereas an embryonic lethal phenotype is present in ATR-knockout mice, suggesting an essential function for ATR ²¹². These phenotype differences in loss or mutated ATM and ATR indicate clearly that ATM and ATR play distinct cellular roles.

Despite these differences, both ATM and ATR belong to the PI3K-like protein kinase (PIKK) family, which possess serine/threonine kinase activity through their PI3K domain^{203, 213, 214}. ATR was originally discovered based on its sequence homology with ATM ²¹⁵. ATM and ATR share substrate specificity as they target serine or threonine residues followed by a glutamine (SQ/TQ motif)^{216, 217}. ATM and ATR recognize and phosphorylate over 700 proteins with an SO/TO motif; many of these proteins are involved in networks that respond to DNA damage ^{203, 218, 219}. Many of these common ATM/ATR substrate are involved in cell-cycle checkpoint control, including checkpoint kinases Chk2 and Chk1, the tumour suppressor p53 and the mediator breast cancer 1, early onset (BRCA1)^{202-204, 218}. Other proteins are involved in DNA repair and chromatin modifications. Early activation of ATM and ATR along with their mediators leads to phosphorylation of specific targets resulting in downstream effects involving activation of transcription, cell-cycle control, apoptosis and DNA repair ²²⁰. Therefore, the ATM/ATR DNA-damage response involves activation of ATM and/or ATR, followed by the recruitment of mediator proteins allowing for signals to be transduced activating effector proteins for cell-cycle control, DNA repair or modification of chromatin.

1.3.1 ATM AND ATR ACTIVATION

ATM and ATR activation are complex processes. ATM is strongly activated by ionizing radiation (IR) and radiomimetic drugs that create double-strand breaks (DSBs)²²¹. Inactive molecules of ATM are maintained as dimers or higher order multimers in which the kinase domain is blocked by this interaction ²²². The MRN complex, which is composed of meiotic recombination 11 (Mre11), Radiation sensitive (Rad) 50 and Nijmegen breakage syndrome 1 (NBS1), is one of the first sensors of DNA damage and is an accessory complex for recruitment of ATM to sites of damage (Figure 5) ^{223, 224}. The MRN complex regulates ATM in at least two different ways, *via* oligonucleotides produced from MRN-dependent processing of DNA breaks, which stimulate ATM activity ²²⁵, and by the direct interaction of ATM with the MRN complex through the C-terminal domain of NBS1 ²²⁶. These MRN-ATM interactions result in an intermolecular phosphorylation event on serine residue 1981 of ATM, releasing active ATM monomers ²²².

ATR is strongly activated by UV radiation, replication-fork arrest and chemicals that create single-stranded DNA (ssDNA) ²²⁷⁻²²⁹. When ssDNA results from these types of damage, replication protein A (RPA) coats ssDNA forming a critical structure that recruits ATR-interacting protein (ATRIP), which in turn allows formation of the ATRIP-ATR complex ^{230, 231}. Following the induction of single stranded breaks (SSBs), the clamp loader Rad17 is recruited and activated, which then loads the proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA)-911 (Rad9-Rad1-Hus1) complex onto DNA ²³². Topoisomerase (DNA) II binding protein 1 (TopBP1) then binds the 911 complex and ATRIP ^{233, 234} and

ATR becomes further activated resulting in the phosphorylation of Rad17, 911 and TopBP1, which again further stimulates ATR kinase activity (Figure 5)²⁰⁵.

However, activation of ATM and ATR is not as simple as it seems. ATM and ATR have been thought to act in parallel and independently of each other, but there is also communication and cooperation between ATM and ATR in response to DNA damage. Following IR, ATM is activated first, followed by the sequential activation of ATR ²³⁵⁻²³⁸. Moreover, following UV radiation, replication stress or chemicals that create single-stranded DNA (ssDNA), activation of ATR results in ATM phosphorylation and activation ²³⁹.

1.3.2: MEDIATORS OF ATM AND ATR KINASES

Mediators are proteins directly downstream of ATM and ATR kinases that play a variety of roles including cell cycle control, DNA repair and chromatin modifications (Figure 6) ²⁰⁵. An important event that occurs after ATM and ATR activation is phosphorylation of a histone variant, H2A.X, which comprises approximately 10% of the total H2A ^{240, 241}. Both ATM and ATR phosphorylate H2A.X on serine residue 139, producing what is termed γ-H2A.X, which can spread over a 2-megabase (Mb) domain surrounding the damage ^{240, 242, 243}. Phosphorylated H2A.X accumulates in large protein complexes termed 'repair foci' ²⁴⁴. The number of repair foci correlates linearly with the number of DNA DSB ²⁴⁴. Furthermore, formation of these γ-H2A.X foci appears to preferentially occur in euchromatin, whereas heterochromatin is refractory to the phosphorylation of H2A.X ^{39, 245}. Furthermore, heterochromatin correlates with an impediment to ATM-dependent signaling and repair of DSBs ²⁴⁶. Finally, transcription is

inhibited at γ -H2A.X foci allowing repair to occur in which the γ -H2A.X signal is lost, but only at low levels of damage ^{247, 248}.

Other mediators are recruited following phosphorylation of H2A.X, mainly after ATM activation. Mediator of DNA-damage checkpoint 1 (MDC1) binds γ -H2A.X through its BRCA1 C-terminal (BRCT) domain ^{249, 250}. This interaction amplifies the γ -H2A.X signal, either by tethering ATM or by inhibiting γ -H2A.X dephosphorylation²⁵¹. MDC1 promotes further recruitment of the MRN complex, aiding the spreading of γ -H2A.X ²⁵². MDC1 is phosphorylated by CK2 and this phosphorylated MDC1 interacts with the MRN complex through the N terminus of NBS1 ^{252, 253}. Following damage, not only does the MRN complex bind free DNA ends, but more MRN complex is recruited from the pool of bound MRN-MDC1²⁵². The yH2A.X-MDC1 interaction also acts as a platform for the recruitment of other proteins involved in the DNA-damage response ²⁵⁴ including p53-binding protein (53BP1) and BRCA1 ²⁵⁵. In addition, ubiquitylation of histones occurs surrounding the break by the E3 ligases RNF8 and RNF168 and the E2 ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme UBC13, which is necessary for recruitment of 53BP1 and BRCA1²⁵⁵. RNF8, RNF168 and UBC13 are recruited by the γ -H2A.X-MDC1 interaction and phosphorylation of MDC1 ²⁵⁵⁻²⁵⁷. Finally, live-cell experiments have revealed the order of recruitment of these factors, namely MDC1, followed by NBS1, 53BP1 and BRCA1²⁵⁸. Many mediators may be recruited, but only a select few will be required depending on what downstream effect the cell chooses to carry out.

1.3.3: DOWNSTREAM EFFECTORS OF ATM AND ATR KINASES

The roles of ATM and ATR kinases are best understood by activation of their downstream effectors and the resulting changes that occur. These cellular changes include modulation of the cell cycle and modification and/or remodeling of chromatin to facilitate DNA repair ²²⁰.

1.3.3.1 CELL-CYCLE CONTROL

An important event that occurs after ATM and ATR activation is cell-cycle control. Within the cell cycle there are many checkpoints that a cell must pass to continue dividing. When DNA damage is present, these checkpoints become activated to prevent accumulation of DNA damage and to allow time for DNA repair to occur ²⁵⁹. All eukaryotic cells have four phases in the cell cycle, G1 (growth), S (DNA synthesis), G2 (growth) and M (mitosis), and checkpoints take place at G1/S, intra-S and G2/M (Figure 7A) ²⁵⁹.

For a normal cell cycle, a number of factors are required (Figure 7A). Three phosphotyrosine phosphatases, cell division cycle 25 A, -B and –C (Cdc25 A, -B and –C) are important in cell-cycle transitions ²⁶⁰. Under normal conditions, these Cdc25 proteins dephosphorylate cyclin-dependent kinases (Cdks) that act on the proteins directly involved in the cell cycle ²⁶¹. Dephosphorylated Cdk2 allows phosphoylation of Cdc45, which is a protein that is required for replication initiation and is important in regulating G1/S and intra-S checkpoints ^{262, 263}. For S-phase progression, structural maintenance of chromosome 1 (SMC1) and the kinase activity of Cdc7-Dumbbell forming 4 (Dbf4) are also required ^{264, 265}. For the entry into mitosis, the Cdc2-CyclinB complex is necessary

and its activity is dependent on the upregulation of Cdc25A and downregulation of the Wee1 kinase ²⁶⁶.

For checkpoint activation in response to DNA damage, ATM and ATR kinases are involved. ATM and ATR respond to their respective sources of DNA damage and have their respective pathways for checkpoint activation ²²⁰. However, there is sequential activation of ATM and then ATR following DSB, suggesting that ATM initiates a checkpoint blockage and ATR is the maintenance kinase ²³⁶, and *vice versa* with regards to UV radiation ²⁶⁷. Activation of two checkpoint kinases, Chk1 and Chk2, at all checkpoints is important to transduce the initial signal from ATM or ATR ^{268, 269}. Activation of ATM following DSBs results in phophorylation of Chk2 on threonine residue 68 for its activation ²⁷⁰, whereas ATR activation following UV damage results in Chk1 phosphorylation on serine residue 345 for its activation ²⁷¹. Cdc25 proteins are excluded from the nucleus following phosphorylation by Chk1/Chk2 and interaction with 14-3-3 proteins, thus allowing Cdc25 proteins to be their degraded ²⁷². Inactivation machinery, so cell division cannot continue ²⁷².

For the G1/S checkpoint, there is a rapid onset of a G1/S arrest as well as maintenance of a G1/S arrest if damage is prolonged (Figure 8). For the rapid initiation of a G1/S arrest, activated ATM and ATR phosphorylate Chk2 and Chk1 respectively. Cdc25A is inactivated through phosphorylation by Chk1 and Chk2, so that Cdk2 cannot be dephosphorylated ²⁶². The resulting phosphorylated Cdk2, complexed with cyclin E or A, accumulates and prevents the phosphorylation of Cdc45, which is important in the initiation of DNA replication ^{262, 263}. Maintenance of a G1/S arrest is mediated by the

potent tumour suppressor and transcription factor p53. ATM and ATR phosphorylate serine residue 15 on p53 directly promoting p53 stabilization ^{221, 236}. Activated Chk1 and Chk2 phosphorylate p53 on serine residue 20 to prevent Mdm2 binding and degradation of p53 ²⁷³. Accumulation of p53 leads to activation of its target genes including p21, which binds to the Cdk2-CyclinE complex to arrest cells in G1/S ⁴⁵. In addition, p21 binds the Cdk4-CyclinD complex to prevent it from phosphorylating the retinoblastoma protein (pRb), which in its hyperphosphorylated form inhibits transcription of S phases gene by the E2 transcription factor (E2F) ^{274, 275}.

The Cdc45 pathway is also involved in the intra-S phase checkpoint to prevent any further initiation of DNA replication (Figure 9) ²²⁰. However, ATM and ATR have different responses for the intra-S checkpoint (Figure 9). ATM phosphorylates SMC1 with the aid of NBS1, BRCA1 and Fanconi's anemia complementation group 2 (FANCD2) to inhibit DNA replication ²⁶⁴. On the other hand, ATR inhibits initiation of DNA synthesis by inhibiting the Cdc7-Dbf4 kinase ²⁶⁵. Like ATM, ATR also activates BRCA1 and NBS1 ²⁷⁶ promoting recovery of stalled replication forks.

As in a G1/S or intra-S checkpoint, the ATR/ATM-Chk1/Chk2-Cdc25A axis is also involved in the G2/M checkpoint (Figure 10) ²²⁰. For example, Chk1 and Chk2 can activate the Wee1 kinase ²⁶⁶. Cdc25A and Wee1 then act on the Cdc2-CyclinB complex, which promotes entry into mitosis ²⁶⁶. Together, downregulation of the Cdc25A phosphatase and upregulation of the Wee1 kinase mediate phosphorylation of Cdc2 to prevent entry into mitosis ²⁷⁷.

1.3.3.2: DNA REPAIR

ATM and ATR are largely involved in the initial events of DNA-damage signaling and aid in transducing signals for certain processes to occur. Cell cycle control as discussed above is a way for the cell to halt cell division once DNA damage has occurred. However, this response does not eliminate the damage. The DNA damage must be repaired or else the cell will be overwhelmed by DNA damage and undergo apoptosis. Therefore, controlling the cell cycle buys time for the cell to repair the damage, and ATM and ATR allow this to happen. There are numerous mechanisms of DNA repair and the repair mechanism that is used essentially is determined by the type of damage present and the phase of the cell cycle (Figure 7B) ²²⁰. DNA repair can be divided into six categories including direct repair of altered bases, base-excision repair, mismatch repair, nucleotide excision repair, DSB repair and cross-link repair ^{220, 278}. For simplicity sake, DSB repair is discussed here as ATM and ATR, along with DNA protein kinase (DNAPK), are the central DSB signaling kinases ^{279, 280}.

In mammalian cells, DSBs can be repaired either by non-homologous end-joining (Figure 11) (NHEJ) or homologous recombination (Figure 12) (HR)^{220, 279}. NHEJ basically involves re-joining the ends of DSBs, which can lead to translocations if the breaks belong to different chromosomes (Figure 11)²⁸¹. NHEJ is preferentially used in G1 of the cell cycle but can be used throughout the cell cycle as it simply resects the ends of the break ²⁸². Firstly, a dimer of Ku thyroid autoantigen (Ku) proteins (Ku70/Ku80) binds both ends of the DSB, which recruits the catalytic subunits of DNA protein kinase (DNAPK-cs)²⁸³. The X-ray repair complementing defective repair in Chinese hamster cells 4 (XRCC4)/DNA ligase IV (LIG4) complex is recruited to ligate the two processed

DNA termini ²⁸⁴. Other proteins such as the nuclease Artemis and Cernunnos/XRCC-like factor (XLF) have also been implicated the processing and ligation of the DSB in NHEJ ^{281, 285}. NHEJ usually results in the loss of few nucleotides and is largely error prone ²⁸¹.

HR is quite different from NHEJ and relies on sequence homology between the broken ends and use of the undamaged homologous chromosome to fill in the missing information (Figure 12) ²⁸⁶. Therefore, HR is largely used during S phase of the cell cycle, when sister chromatids are in close proximity until they segregate in anaphase ²⁸². The MRN complex recognizes the ends of the DSB before starting the recombination process (Figure 12A) ²⁸⁷. Strand invasion and branch migration are mediated by RPA and Rad51 (Figure 12B) ²⁸⁸. Many other proteins, including BRCA1, BRCA2, Rad52, Rad54, Rad55 and Rad57, are involved in HR, but their roles are unclear ²⁸⁹. A Holliday junction forms where the strands cross over, DNA polymerases synthesize new DNA, branches migrate and Holliday junctions are then resolved by methyl methane sulfonate and UV sensitive 81 (MUS81) · methyl methane sulfonate sensitivity 4 (MMS4) (Figure 12B) ²⁹⁰. HR is largely error free compared to NHEJ and is conserved from budding yeast to higher eukaryotes ²⁸⁶.

1.3.3.3 MODIFICATION OF CHROMATIN

Cell-cycle control may buy time for a cell to repair DNA but the DNA may not always be readily accessible. The packaging of DNA into chromatin is largely refractory to DNA repair. DNA damage, such as DSBs, causes some disruption in chromatin structure, but further modifications of chromatin may be necessary for the complete repair of DNA damage. These modifications to chromatin are partly mediated by ATM/ATR and their downstream effectors. Some of these modifications involve post-translational modification of histones such as acetylation, ubiquitylation and phosphorylation, remodeling nucleosomes and global changes in chromatin ²⁵⁵.

Chromatin is more accessible and can be transcribed when histones become acetylated ^{26, 28, 29}. Following DSBs, acetylation of histones is mediated by the mammalian Tat-interactive protein 60 kDa (TIP60) complex in which its histone acetyltransferase (HAT) subunit is homologous to the nucleosome acetyltransferase of H4 (NuA4) in yeast ²⁹¹. TIP60 HAT and NuA4 acetylate H4 lysine residues 5, 8, 16 and 16 to facilitate the 'opening up' of chromatin surrounding the site of DNA damage ²⁹². These HATs also acetylate γ -H2A.X promoting the ubiquitylation of γ -H2A.X, which in turn facilitates dephosphorylation and/or turnover of γ -H2A.X ²⁹³. UV-induced histone acetylation by the p300 HAT is mediated by p53, a downstream target of ATM/ATR, resulting in increased chromatin accessibility for DNA repair ^{294, 295}.

In addition to HATs, a number of ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling complexes are recruited by γ-H2A.X, an event downstream of ATM/ATR activation. Some of these chromatin remodeling complexes include INOsitol requiring (INO80) and Sick with rat8 (SWR1) in yeast, the mammalian homologues of which are subunits in the TIP60 complex ^{255, 296, 297}. The role of INO80 and SWR1 is to remove the core histones in nucleosomes surrounding the DSB by exchanging H2A.X-H2B dimers for H2A-H2B dimers to allow NHEJ or HR to occur ^{298, 299}. Other chromatin remodeling complexes such as SWItch/Sucrose NonFermentable (SWI-SNF) and chromatin structure remodeling complex (RSC) have been shown to participate primarily in HR ^{300, 301}.

While HATs and chromatin remodeling complexes affect histones and nucleosomes directly, global changes in chromatin structure can occur following DNA damage and activation of ATM/ATR. Global chromatin relaxation induced by loss of H1 or inhibition of HDACs appears to amplify the DNA-damage response through greater DSB accessibility, which enhances signaling ³⁰². However, chromatin containing DSBs first undergoes local decondensation surrounding the lesion in an energy-dependent manner ³⁰³. Although in yeast DSBs appear to move to coalesce at one or more DNA-repair centres ³⁰⁴, DNA breaks are relatively immobile in mammalian cells and DSBs prefer to undergo translocations with neighbouring chromosomes ³⁰⁵. These local changes in chromatin mobility establish an accessible environment for DNA-damage signaling and repair and are independent of γ -H2A.X ³⁰³. Although γ -H2A.X is important for stable association of DNA-damage response proteins, it may be necessary to maintain the decondensed state of chromatin ^{303, 306}.

Heterochromatin may be a physical block to the spreading of γ-H2A.X along chromatin as well as limiting the mobility of damaged chromatin ^{39, 303}. Heterochromatin is more refractory to formation of γ-H2A.X compared to euchromatin ^{39, 245}, a situation which is also reflected by a delay in ATM-dependent signaling and repair of DSBs in heterochromatic regions ²⁴⁶. Knockdown of Kap1, a transcriptional co-repressor, or other heterochromatin factors like HP1 or HDACs, alleviates the necessity for ATM in DSB repair, most likely by perturbing heterochromatin structure ²⁴⁶. Kap1 is phosphorylated by ATM on serine residue 824 following DSBs leading to chromatin relaxation, also caused by loss of Kap1 (Figure 13) ³⁰⁷. Phosphorylation of Kap1 also leads to the expression of p53 target genes involved in cell-cycle control and apoptosis ^{308, 309}. ATR

also phosphorylates Kap1 and the phosphorylated Kap1 colocalizes with a number of DNA-damage response proteins including γ -H2A.X., 53BP1, TopBP1 and BRCA1 ³¹⁰. This suggests that Kap1 may participate in the majority of DNA-repair processes by allowing chromatin decondensation upon early phosphorylation of Kap1 and access to these DNA-damage response factors ³¹⁰. HP1 is also affected by the DNA-damage response as phosphorylation HP1 β by CK2 promotes mobilization of HP1 β following DNA damage ³¹¹. However, recent evidence has also shown that HP1 can be recruited to several types of DNA damage to modify chromatin structure and facilitate efficient DNA repair ³¹². Therefore, the role of HP1 in the DNA-damage responses and modification of chromatin remains unresolved and controversial.

1.4 THE ROLE OF PML NBs IN GENOME STABILITY AND DNA DAMAGE SIGNALING

Many processes act together to maintain genome stability, including DNA repair, cell-cycle control and apoptosis. Maintaining genome stability is an important component in preventing the accumulation of mutations in oncogenes and tumour suppressor genes that could lead to cancer. The role of PML and PML NBs in tumour-suppression and cancer has been discussed extensively. However, PML NBs also play a role in maintaining genome stability and DNA-damage signaling, which might contribute to their role in tumour suppression. Sister-chromatid exchange (SCE), a marker for genome instability, is seen at high levels in PML-deficient mice, similar to patients with Bloom's syndrome ³¹³. PML-deficient mice also show an impaired p53 response to DNA damage ¹⁸⁴. PML and PML NBs regulate p53 on a number of different levels including p53 expression ¹³⁴, stabilization ¹²⁹, post-translational modifications ¹⁵² and p53 target

gene transcription ¹⁸⁴ as discussed above. This involvement directly implicates PML and PML NBs in transducing signals for a proper p53 response (i.e. cell-cycle arrest, senescence, or apoptosis). Not only does p53 localize to PML NBs, many other proteins localize to PML NBs that are involved in DNA repair and DNA-damage signaling ¹⁰¹. PML NBs also increase in number following DNA damage in an ATM- and ATRdependent manner suggesting that PML NBs act as sensors to DNA damage ¹¹⁹.

1.4.1 PML NBs AND DNA REPAIR

Many DNA-repair factors colocalize with PML NBs before and after DNA damage with a complex network of interactions ¹⁰¹. Some of the DNA-repair factors include: ATM, ATR and Chk2 kinases; BRCA1; histone variant H2A.X; all components of the MRN complex (Mre11, Rad50, NBS1); Rad51; Rad52; all components of the Rad9-Hus1-Rad1 complex; RPA; p53; TopBP1; telomerase repeat binding proteins 1 & 2 (Trf1 & 2); and Recombinase Q (RecQ) helicases, Bloom syndrome protein (BLM) and Werner (WRN) ¹⁰¹. Behaviour of these DNA-repair proteins differs with regards to PML NBs, as some proteins localize with nuclear bodies in undamaged cells, some proteins dissociate and reassociate following DNA damage, others are relocalized in a cell-cycle-dependent manner and, finally, some only associate following damage ^{101, 149}. A subset of these interactions is summarized below.

In undamaged cells the MRN complex ^{314, 315}, ATR ³¹⁶, BLM ³¹⁷, RPA ³¹⁷ and Chk2 ¹⁹⁸ are found in PML NBs and the nucleoplasm. The association of the MRN complex with PML NBs is mediated by the interaction between NBS1 and a PML NB component, Sp100 ³¹⁸. BLM association with PML NBs is more dynamic. During the G1 and S-phases of the cell cycle, BLM localizes to PML NBs ^{313, 319}, whereas RPA and

Rad51 associate with BLM during the S and G2 phases of the cell cycle ³¹⁷. Normal BLM function requires association with PML NBs and this interaction plays an important role in p53 activation ³¹⁹.

When cell are exposed to IR, disruption of PML NBs occurs due to loss of chromatin contacts ¹⁰², allowing distribution of PML NB associated proteins to sites of damage for repair of DSB by NHEJ using the MRN complex or by HR using BLM, Rad51 and RPA¹⁰¹. ATM activates Chk2, after which some Chk2 leaves the NB and some Chk2 remains ^{101, 149}. Chk2 phosphorylates PML on serine residue 117¹⁹⁸, the consequences of which remain unclear in terms of PML NB disassembly but which may allow formation of supramolecular assemblies by affecting PML NB interactions ¹⁰¹. Approximately 1 hour following IR and peaking at 8-12 hours post IR, TopBP1 colocalizes with PML NBs, which correlates with an increase in PML and TopBP1 protein levels ³²⁰, p53 also behaves in a similar manner by colocalizing with PML NBs after DNA damage and p53 protein levels increase in a PML-dependent manner ³²¹. Following 8-12 hours post IR, ATM begins to colocalize at PML NBs and colocalization of resident proteins of the PML NB, including BLM, RPA and the MRN complex, peaks mostly when cells are arrested in G2/M, either facilitating late repair or a G2/M arrest, but this remains unclear ^{101, 317}. With ATM and Chk2 activation, p53 is phosphorylated and stabilized to upregulate its target genes to induce a G1/S arrest or apoptosis 322 . The juxtaposition of PML NBs and repair foci containing γ -H2A.X is also seen at later time points, but the mechanism and function of this association remains unknown^{119, 321}.

When cells are exposed to UV radiation, PML NBs are disrupted in a similar manner as after exposure to IR. ATR, which also mediates S-phase arrest, is activated

and, along with RPA, both proteins move from PML NBs to sites of damage ³¹⁶. The RecQ helicase WRN, normally found at nucleoli, localize to PML NBs after UV radiation along with RPA and Rad51 and may play a role in regulating p53 ³²³. In addition to p53, many other proteins that are necessary for p53 activation also colocalize at PML NBs following UV radiation, such as Mdm2, CBP and HIPK2 ^{152, 153, 186, 187}. p53 activation is coordinated by PML NBs through p53 phosphorylation by HIPK2 and p53 acetylation by CBP, as well as by interaction with Mdm2 to prevent p53 degradation ^{152, 153, 186, 187}. Similarly to what is seen after IR, activation and stabilization of p53 leads to increased expression of p53 target genes for a G1/S arrest or apoptosis ³²².

Many of the DNA-repair and HR proteins that associate with PML NBs (BRCA1, NBS1, Rad1/Rad9/Hus1, Rad17, RPA, Rad51, Rad52) further colocalize with Trf1/2 and telomeric DNA at a subset of PML NBs to facilitate an alternative mechanism of telomere maintenance called alternative lengthening of telomeres (ALT) ^{324, 325}. ALT occurs in cell lines that lack telomerase and the subset of PML NBs involved in ALT are known as ALT-associated PML bodies (APBs) ^{324, 326}. APBs are usually found in late-S and G2 phases of the cell cycle and persist through mitosis, in which APBs are associated with telomere repeats at sites of DNA synthesis ^{324, 325}. How the accumulation of these factors (ie. BRCA1, Rad51, RPA, Rad17, Rad1/Rad9/Hus1, Rad51 and Rad52) along with BLM and the MRN complex at APBs allow cooperative function with respect to telomere elongation remains unclear ¹⁰¹. However, NBS1 does seem to be required for telomere elongation at APBs, through the NBS1-Sp100 interaction ^{318, 326}.

In response to DNA damage, many signaling and repair proteins localize to and from PML NBs as discussed above. However, the functional consequences of this

complex network of interactions at PML NBs have not been revealed in its entirety. It is clear that PML NBs play a key role in transducing signals to mediate the p53 response to DNA damage. What about their role in DNA repair? As PML NBs colocalize with numerous DNA-repair proteins which are necessary for the formation of repair foci ³²⁰, PML NBs may act as a functional nexus to regulate and stabilize repair foci. PML NBs do colocalize with sites of DNA repair, such as γ -H2A.X in DSB repair ^{321, 327} as well as BLM at sites of nucleotide-excision repair following UV radiation ^{317, 328}. In addition, PML NBs have been shown to recruit ssDNA after DNA damage, which could facilitate the processing of DNA damage ³⁰⁰.

As for a direct role for PML NBs in DNA repair, it is not entirely clear. Most DNA-repair factors colocalize with PML NBs at later time points and usually DNA damage has been repaired at this point ^{101, 119, 321}. However, PML NBs may play a role in later phases of repair ^{149, 320} or in specific repair pathways. PML NBs may be important in repair by HR, a claim supported by a number of findings. Firstly, PML-knockout mice exhibit high levels of SCE, a defect seen in cells with faulty HR machinery ³¹³. Secondly, Rad51, BLM and other HR proteins colocalize to PML NBs ¹⁰¹. Lastly, telomere elongation is thought to occur by HR in ALT cells, in which the association of PML NBs with telomeres plays a major role ^{324, 329}. However, it is unclear whether PML NBs move to sites of damage or if damaged chromatin is recruited to sites adjacent to PML NBs ¹⁰¹. To date there is no convincing evidence to support the movement of PML NBs to DNA damage. Therefore, PML NBs most likely integrate signaling events for DNA repair through the accumulation and/or release of DNA-repair factors upon disruption of PML NBs following DNA damage ¹⁰¹.

1.4.2 PML NBs AS DNA DAMAGE SENSORS

PML NBs mediate signals for DNA repair, cell-cycle control and apoptosis. Following DNA damage, PML NBs also increase in number ^{101, 320, 321}, similar to the behaviour of PML NBs following cell stress, as discussed above. The combination of these dynamic changes in PML NB composition and number following DNA damage suggests that PML NBs act as DNA damage sensors ^{101, 119}.

PML NBs increase in number following various types of DNA damage including UV radiation ^{187, 328}, IR ^{119, 314, 320, 321}, alkylating agents ³³⁰ and topoisomerase II inhibitors etoposide (VP16) and doxorubicin causing DSBs ¹¹⁹. The disruption of PML NBs following DNA damage occurs in a SUMO-independent fashion being driven by the loss of chromatin contacts with the PML NBs ^{101, 102}. In response to low physiological levels of IR or chemotherapy agents, PML NBs do respond in a rapid, sensitive and dose-dependent fashion by increasing in number *via* a supramolecular fission mechanism from pre-existing PML NBs ¹¹⁹, reminiscent of the behaviour of PML NBs in S phase of the cell cycle ¹¹⁴.

It was previously unknown if this behaviour of PML NBs is regulated by any of its associating DNA-damage signaling or repair proteins; however, recent evidence suggests it is ¹¹⁹. Despite the major importance of PML and PML NBs in regulating p53 function, the increase in PML NB after DNA damage is surprisingly independent of p53 ¹¹⁹. ATM, ATR and Chk2 kinases as well as NBS1, a component of the MRN complex, have been shown to regulate this increase in PML NB number ¹¹⁹. Inhibition of these proteins through chemical inhibitors or DNA-repair-deficient cell lines impedes the increase in PML NB number following DNA damage ¹¹⁹. ATM, ATR, Chk2 and NBS1

are involved in parallel yet partially redundant signaling pathways involved in the detection and repair of DNA damage, as discussed above ^{203, 204}. Briefly, the MRN complex, containing NBS1, senses DSBs. Through a number of mediator proteins, ATM and/or ATR are activated and ATM phosphorylates and activates Chk2. Interestingly, inhibition of both ATM and ATR using caffeine has a dramatic effect in dampening PML NB response to DNA damage, suggesting these kinases act in an additive fashion to regulate PML NB number ¹¹⁹. This interpretation is consistent with their redundant roles in DNA-damage signaling ²⁰².

Dellaire and colleagues (2006)¹¹⁹ provide a model for PML NB number increase in response to DSBs (Figure 14A). Following the induction of DSBs, first there is a biophysical response due to initial topological changes in chromatin structure as PML NBs are disrupted and form microbodies through a fission mechanism from preexisting NBs. A second phase of the increase in PML NB number following DSB induction is dependent on DNA-repair processes in which ATM, ATR, Chk2 and NBS1 are involved. The importance of this increase in PML NB number following DNA damage is an increase in 'functionally active' sites for repair factors to associate and be posttranslationally modified at these 'docking sites', as surface area increases for these protein interactions to occur in concert with an increase in nuclear body number ^{101, 119}. Thus, PML NBs can act as DNA damage sensors. Elucidation of the exact mechanism(s) behind the increase in PML NB number following DNA damage is important to validate PML NBs as a potential biomarker for tumour responses to radiation and chemotherapy agents. As such PML NBs could provide a novel means to monitor the response of cancer cells treated with DNA-damaging agents.

1.4.3 HOW DOES ATM/ATR REGULATE PML NB NUMBER?

The exact role that ATM/ATR plays in the increase in PML NB number following DNA damage is unknown. The role of ATM and/or ATR in regulating PML NB behaviour following DNA damage may be two-fold, 1) through phosphorylation of PML by Chk2 ¹⁹⁸. ATR ¹²⁹ or ATM and 2) through changes in chromatin structure following DNA damage (Figure 14B). PML NBs make extensive contacts with chromatin ^{102, 115} and the increase in PML NB number following DNA damage is similar to PML NB behaviour following cell stress or during S-phase, when chromatin structure is altered ^{102, 115, 119}. Recently it has been shown that ATM regulates global decondensation of chromatin following DSBs through phosphorylation of Kap1³⁰⁷. Although ATM has been observed to have this effect on chromatin through Kap1, ATR has also been found to phosphorylate Kap1³¹⁰. Loss of both ATM and ATR has the most profound effect on the delay in PML NB number increase following DSBs¹¹⁹. However, loss of ATM and/or ATR affects many pathways in DNA-damage signaling. Therefore, I hypothesized that loss of Kap1 might isolate the role of DNA-damage-dependent decondensation of chromatin in regulating PML NB number after DNA damage.

I have found a novel pathway involving Kap1 in the regulation of PML NB number. Loss of Kap1 without DNA damage causes an increase in PML NB number which correlates with chromatin relaxation, suggesting that Kap1 may regulate PML NB number prior to DNA damage. This phenomenon is not dependent on cell type and exhibits no alterations in the cell cycle profile. Furthermore, following DNA damage, there is a further increase in PML NB number that occurs *via* a Kap1-independent mechanism but is partially dependent on phosphorylation of Kap1. I suggest that Kap1 plays an important role in maintaining PML NB integrity prior to and following DNA damage.



Naked DNA

10 nm chromatin fiber or 'beads on a string'

30 nm chromatin fiber or 'solenoid'

Chromatin fibre

Chromosome

Figure 1. Chromatin structure: Naked DNA is complexed with the core histone proteins to form a 10-nm fibre or 'beads on a string'. The basic unit of the 10-nm fibre is the nucleosome, which consists of 146 bp of DNA wrapped around heterodimers of histone H2A-H2B and two heterodimers of histones H3-H4. The 10-nm fibre further compacts into a 30-nm fibre or 'solenoid' fibre. Linker histone H1 plays a role in forming the 30-nm fibres. Tertiary structure of chromatin depends on long-distance chromatin fibre interactions within the 30-nm fibres forming loops of chromatin. These compact chromatin fibres can further condensed into chromosomes seen in metaphase. Adapted from http://themedicalbiochemistrypage.org/dna.html.

Histone core

Linker histone H1 □



Figure 2. Kap1 structure and function. (A) Schematic illustration of the Kap1 protein and its domains: RING-finger BB-boxes coiled-coil (RBCC) domain; Heterochromatin protein 1 (HP1) binding domain (BD); Plant homeo domain (PHD) finger; Bromodomain (Bromo). The RBCC domain is the site of Kruppel-associated box (KRAB) domain binding. Adapted from Sripathy *et al.* (2006) ³⁷. (B) Schematic illustration of Kap1 function. Kap1 acts as a transcription intermediary factors interacting with a number of proteins to facilitate heterochromatin formation and gene silencing. Kruppel-associated box zinc-finger proteins silencing complexes (KRAB-ZFP) associate with tri-methylated histone H3 on lysine residue 9 (H3me3K9) and the N terminus of Kap1. Through its C-terminal domain, Kap1 interacts with heterochromatin proteins including HP1, histone deacetylases (HDAC) and histone methyltransferases (HMETs).



Figure 3. Mechanisms of PML NB disruption following cell stress. PML NBs can disassemble and cause an increase in PML NB number two ways: SUMO-dependent or SUMO-independent mechanisms. Many cellular stresses such as viral protein expression, heat shock or heavy-metal treatment, desumoylate PML NB components PML and Sp100. Loss of sumoylation results in the blebbing of PML NBs into numerous small PML microstructures devoid of SUMO-1. Therefore, this process is SUMO-dependent. PML NB numbers also increase in response to DNA damage caused by radiation, chemical treatment or exogenous nucleases, which cause changes in chromatin topology. PML microbodies, rather than microstructures, are released and are identical to the parent NB in Sp100 and SUMO-1 content. This PML NB response to DNA damage does not depend on SUMO-1, making it a SUMO-independent mechanism. Adapted from Dellaire and Bazett-Jones (2004)¹⁰¹.

Anti Viral Response

Sp100, MX1, Isg20

DNA Repair

Mre11, NBS1, Rad50, TopBP1, p53, ATM, ATR, Chk2, Rad51, Rad52, RPA, BRCA1, Rad9, BLM, WRN, Trf1, Trf2



Proteolysis

ICP0, 11S proteasome subunits

Tumour **Suppression**

pRb, p53, HAUSP, Akt, PTEN

Apoptosis

p53, Mdm2, Daxx, Bax, p27Kip1, HIPK2

Gene Regulation

Sp100, Daxx, HP1, CBP, p53, HIPK2, ATRX, Ubc9, SUMO1, HDAC1/2/3

Figure 4. The plurifunctional PML NB. The diverse functions of PML NBs and some of the proteins implicated in these cellular processes are summarized in this figure. These proteins can localize at PML NBs or interact with PML directly. Furthermore, these proteins may localize to PML NBs depending on the phase of the cell cycle. A protein may either be localized in the nucleoplasm and within PML NBs, or may localize only to PML NBs upon specific stress conditions. Adapated from Dellaire and Bazett-Jones $(2004)^{101}$.



Figure 5. Activation of ATM and ATR with their respective accessory proteins. ATM is activated following the induction of double-strand breaks (DSBs) and requires the MRN complex composed of Mre11, Rad50 and NBS1 for ATM activity. ATR is activated following the induction of SSBs. RPA coats ssDNA and recuits ATRIP, which forms the ATR-ATRIP complex. The clamp loader Rad17 is recruited and loads the PCNA-911 complex onto DNA. 911 and ATRIP further recruit TopBP1 for full activation of ATR.

Figure 6. Mediators of the ATM response to DNA damage. Following activation of ATM *via* the MRN complex after the induction of DSB, histone H2A.X is phosphorylated. MDC1 is recruited and binds to phosphorylated H2A.X. MDC1 is phosphorylated by CK2 to promote spreading of H2A.X phosphorylation around the DSB through further recruitment of MRN and ATM. MDC1 mediates the recruitment of E3 ligases RNF8 and RNF168 and E2 conjugating enzyme UBC13 to regulate ubiquitylation of H2A.X and other histones to promote recruitment of BRCA1 and 53BP1. Adapted from Van Attikum and Gasser (2009) ²⁵⁵.





Figure 7. The cell cycle and its relationship to DNA repair. (A) Proteins that mediate the cell cycle. The eukaryotic cell cycle consists of four stages: G1 (growth), S (DNA synthesis), G2 (growth) and M (mitosis). Cell-cycle checkpoints exist at three places within the cell cycle: G1/S, intra-S and G2/M. A cell must be able to pass all checkpoints to complete the cell cycle. Many proteins mediate cell-cycle checkpoints. At G1/M and intra-S, Cdc25A must be active and readily dephosphorylate Cdk2 to allow replication initiation by Cdc45. pRb must be phosphorylated to promote the release of E2F for transcription of S-phase genes. Furthermore, Cdc7-Dbf4 is important for progression through S-phase. At G2/M, downregulation of Cdc25A and upregulation of Wee1 kinase is important to activate Cdc2-CyclinB to promote mitosis. (B) The connection between DNA repair and the cell cycle. The choice of a DNA-repair mechanism depends on the cell cycle. NHEJ can be used throughout the cell cycle. However, HR is preferred in S-phase due to close proximity of homologous chromosomes.



Figure 8. Activation of the G1/S cell-cycle checkpoint. ATM and ATR are activated following DNA damage, which in turn activates Chk1/Chk2. For a rapid G1/S arrest, Chk1/Chk2 phosphorylates Cdc25A, causing its inactivation and degradation. This results in the accumulation of phosphorylated Cdk2 that cannot activate Cdc45 for replication initiation. To maintain the G1/S arrest, p53 is phosphorylated by ATM/ATR and Chk1/Chk2. Phosphorylated p53 induces expression of p21, which binds to Cdk4-CyclinD, thus preventing it from phosphorylating pRb, which normally promotes release of the transcription factor E2F for expression of S-phase genes. Adapted from Sancar *et al.* (2004) 220 .






Figure 10. Activation of the G2/M cell-cycle checkpoint. ATM and ATR are activated following DNA damage, which in turn activates Chk1/Chk2. Both Chk1 and Chk2 are able to regulate phosphorylation and inactivation of Cdc25A as well as phosphorylation of the Wee1 kinase to inhibit Cdc2-CyclinB, which is necessary to promote the entry into mitosis. Adapted from Sancar *et al.* (2004) 220 .



Figure 11. Non-homologous end joining (NHEJ). Following DSB formation, heterodimers Ku70-Ku80 and DNAPK catalytic subunits (DNAPK-cs) recognize the damage and bind the ends of the DSB. End processing can occur. XRCC4-Lig4 or XLF/Cernunnos mediate rejoining or ligation of the broken ends. Adapted from Sancar *et al.* (2004) 220 .

Figure 12. Homologous recombination (HR). (A) Recognition of broken DNA ends. Following DSB formation, the MRN complex recognizes and binds the broken ends. RPA and RAD51 coat the ssDNA and mediate strand invasion. (B) Strand invasion and Holliday junctions. DNA replication occurs to fill in the gaps. Holliday junctions result when the two recombining strands are covalently joined by single-strand crossovers. MUS81 MMS4 resolvase cleaves the Holliday junctions, resulting in two separate duplexes. Adapted from Sancar *et al.* (2004)²²⁰.



Β

Resolve Holliday junctions



Figure 13. ATM, Kap1 and chromatin structure. Global decondensation of chromatin is mediated by ATM through phosphorylation of Kap1 on serine residue 824 following DNA damage. Kap1 maintains the structure of condensed chromatin. Once Kap1 is phosphorylated, Kap1-protein interactions are disrupted, Kap1 is no longer associated with chromatin and chromatin decondenses.

Figure 14. The biophysical and molecular components of the mechanism regulating **PML NB number following the induction of DSBs.** (A) Following DSBs, biophysical. changes occur in chromatin and chromatin contacts with PML NBs are compromised, resulting in microbody formation *via* a fission mechanism from preexisting NBs. Secondly, DNA-repair processes regulate PML NB number as loss of ATM, ATR, Chk2 or NBS1 inhibits the increase in PML NB number following DNA damage. (B) PML phosphorylation. Kinases involved in DNA-repair pathways such as Chk2 and ATR can directly phosphorylate PML. ATM mediates PML phosphorylation through Chk2, but it is unknown whether ATM can directly phosphorylate PML. Phosphorylation of PML may disrupt PML NBs, but PML NBs may also be disrupted by further changes in chromatin mediated by ATM through phosphorylation of Kap1. Adapted from Dellaire *et al.* (2006) ¹¹⁹.



ATR

CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS

(

2.1 REAGENTS

All reagents were from Sigma-Aldrich unless stated otherwise.

2.2 CELL LINES AND DRUG TREATMENTS

Cell lines used in this study are as follows: Phoenix helper-free retrovirus producer cell line (gift from C. McCormick, Dalhousie University, Halifax, Nova Scotia), normal human fibroblasts (NHF) (GM05757; Coriell Cell Repository) and osteosarcoma (U2OS) cells expressing short hairpin RNA (shRNA) against GFP or Kap1 (gift from Y. Shiloh, Tel Aviv University, Tel Aviv, Israel). Phoenix and U2OS cells were grown in Dulbecco's modified eagle medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 1% penicillin-streptomycin solution. U2OS cells expressing GFP or Kap1 shRNA were grown in complete medium supplemented with 1 μ g/mL puromycin. NHF and subsequent cell lines derived from them were grown in alpha-minimum essential medium eagle (α -MEME) supplemented with 15% FBS and 1% penicillin-streptomycinglutamine solution. All cell lines were cultured at 37°C in a 5% CO₂ atmosphere.

To induce DSBs, cells were treated with 20 μ M etoposide (VP16) for 30 minutes, washed in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) (WISENT Inc.), and left to recover for the indicated periods of time.

2.3 CELL LINES CREATED BY RETROVIRAL TRANSDUCTION

All retroviral vectors were transfected into Phoenix cells using the Calcium Phosphate ProFection® Mammalian Transfection System (Promega), as described by the manufacturer. The following cell lines were transduced with the resulting retrovirus produced from the packaging cell line. The scheme of retroviral transductions is described in Figure 15.

An immortalized normal human fibroblast cell line (Tert-NHF) was generated by retroviral transduction of an early passage of NHF using a pBabe-Hygro-hTert vector ³³¹ encoding the catalytic subunit of telomerase, followed by selection in 75 ug/mL hygromycin (BioShop). Cell lines stably expressing GFP shRNA or Kap1 shRNA were created through retroviral transduction of Tert-NHF cells using pRetrosuper-Puro vectors encoding shRNA against GFP or Kap1 (gift from Y. Shiloh, Tel Aviv University, Tel Aviv, Israel), respectively, followed by selection in 1 ug/mL puromycin. Tert-NHF Kap1 shRNA (Tert-NHF Δ KAP1) cell lines stably expressing wild-type or mutant Kap1 were created by retroviral transduction with the vector pCLXSN expressing HA-tagged wild- type Kap1, mutant Kap1 S824A or Kap1 S824D (gift from Y. Shiloh, Tel Aviv University, Tel Aviv, Israel), respectively, and underwent selection with 1 ug/mL puromycin and 200 ug/mL neomycin.

2.4 IMMUNOFLUORESCENCE

Cells grown on coverslips were treated with VP16 to induced DSBs. Cells were fixed in 2% paraformaldehyde (PFA; Electron Microscopy Sciences) (EMS) in PBS at room temperature (RT) for 10 minutes (min), followed by three 5 min washes in PBS. Cells were quenched in 25 mM ammonium chloride for 5 min to reduce autofluorescence, permeabilized in PBS/0.5% Triton-X100 for 5 min, followed by three 5 min washes in PBS.

Cells were blocked in 5% normal donkey serum in PBS. Cells were then immunolabeled with polyclonal rabbit anti-PML (1:300) (Santa Cruz Biotech; SC-5621) or mouse anti-KRIP1 for Kap1 (1:500) (BD Biosciences; 610680) for 1 h at RT, followed by three 5 min washes in PBS. Cells were further labeled with secondary antibodies conjugated to Alexa Fluor 488 (1:200) (A21206) or Alexa Fluor 568 (1:200) (A10037) (Molecular Probes, Invitrogen) for 30 min at RT, followed by three 5 min washes in PBS. Vectashield mounting medium (Vector Laboratories, Inc.) containing 4,6'diamidino-2phenylindole (DAPI) or 1 µg/mL DAPI in PBS with mounting medium containing 90% glycerol (Bioshop) and 2% propyl gallate in PBS was used to stain DNA and mount coverslips on slides.

Fluorescent images were taken using a 40X 1.4 NA oil-immersion objective lens on a Zeiss Axioplan 2 motorized upright fluorescence microscope fitted with a Zeiss Axiocam HRc digital camera. Images were acquired using AxioVision 4.6 (Zeiss). Further image processing and analysis was done using ImageJ v.1.42 (National Institutes for Health) (NIH) and Photoshop 8.0 (Adobe).

2.5 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

To determine the mean PML NB number, immunofluorescence images of PML from multiple focal planes were used to generate an average-intensity Z-projection in Image J v1.42 (NIH). For each experiment, PML NBs were counted in 30 cells for each time point and nucleus size was used to normalize NB number. The ratio of the area of each nucleus divided by the mean area of the nucleus in a dataset was used to normalize NB number between experiments. Normalization of NB number was needed as PML NB variation during the cell cycle and with ploidy reduces variability between datasets ¹¹⁹. Experiments were repeated as indicated. Error analysis was expressed as standard error for single experiments (SE) (n = 30) or standard error of the mean (SEM) for repeated experiments (3 x 30 cells, n = 90). Statistical significance between datasets was generated using a pairwise *t* test using Excel software (Microsoft).

2.6 WESTERN BLOT ANALYSIS OF WHOLE CELL LYSATES

Whole cell lysates were prepared after treatment in two ways. To assess the integrity of DNA-damage signaling pathways in the Tert-NHF cell line, whole cell lysates were prepared in 2X SDS loading buffer (20% glycerol, 125 mM Tris-HCl pH 6.8, 4% sodium dodecyl sulfate [SDS], 0.2% bromophenol blue, 10% β -mercaptoethanol) supplemented with the phosphatase inhibitors NaF (10 mM) and β -glycerolphosphate (40 mM). These lysates were boiled for 5 min followed by sonication at a low output for 10-15 seconds to shear the genomic DNA (Misonix Sonicator 3000).

All other whole cell lysates were prepared using a denaturing lysis buffer (10% glycerol, 62.5 mM Tris-HCl pH 6.8, 2% SDS) supplemented with the phosphatase inhibitors NaF (1mM) and Na₃VO₄ (1mM). Hot lysis buffer was added to the cells, immediately followed by boiling for 10 min and sonication as described above. When the lysates were ready to be used, bromophenol blue and β -mercaptoethanol were added to the lysate to a final concentration of 0.05% and 5%, respectively.

Proteins in whole cell lysates were resolved by SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis and blotted to polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) (BioRad or iBlot; Invitrogen) or nitrocellulose (iBlot; Invitrogen). To confirm intact DNA-damage signaling pathways and levels of Kap1, proteins were visualized using primary antibodies specific to Kap1 (BD Biosciences; 610680), phosphorylated Ser 824 on Kap1 (Bethyl Laboratories, Inc; A300-767A), ATM (GeneTex; GTX70107), phosphorylated Ser 1981 on ATM (Cell Signaling Technology; 4526), Chk2 (Cell Signaling Technology; 2662), phosphorylated Thr 68 on Chk2 (Cell Signaling Technology; 2661), phophorylated Ser 139 on γ -H2A.X (Upstate Cell Signaling Solutions; 05-636) and β -actin (Sigma-Aldrich; A2228). Secondary antibodies used were against mouse (A6782) or rabbit (A6154) from Sigma Aldrich. An enhanced chemiluminescent kit (Thermo Scientific; 34080) followed by exposure to X-ray film (Kodak) was used to detect the antigen-antibody complexes. Densitometry was performed using Image J v.1.42 software (NIH) to determine the expression levels of certain proteins and normalize these levels to the loading control β -actin, to obtain relative protein levels.

2.7 FLOW CYTOMETRY FOR CELL-CYCLE ANALYSIS

Cells were harvested and pelleted by centrifugation at 4000 rpm for 5 min. The cells were washed in cold PBS and pelleted again as described above. Cells were fixed in 70% ethanol on ice at -20°C overnight or longer. On the day of analysis, cells were pelleted, washed in PBS containing 0.2 mg/mL RNase, and pelleted again. Cells were resuspended in PBS-RNase containing 50 μ g/mL propidium iodide to a final cell concentration of $3x10^6$ cells/mL and kept on ice for at least 30 min until analysis. Cells were analyzed on a FACSCalibur flow cytometer (BD Biosciences), and peak areas were calculated using Modfit LT 3.0 software (Verity).

2.8 MICCROCOCCAL NUCLEASE DIGESTION

Micrococcal nuclease (MNase) digestions were carried out as described by Ziv et al. $(2006)^{307}$ with minor modification. Briefly, 1×10^7 cells were harvested, pelleted and washed twice in PBS. Nuclei were isolated in a buffered solution (340 mM sucrose, 15 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 15 mM NaCl, 60 mM KCl, 10 mM DTT, 0.15 mM spermine, 0.5 mM spermidine, Sigma protease-inhibitor cocktail, 0.25% TritonX-100) at 4°C for 10 min with periodic vortexing, followed by three washes in the buffered solution. Nuclei were digested at 25°C with MNase (Roche Applied Science) at a concentration of 7 U per 250 µL of MNase digestion buffer (60 mM KCl, 15 mM NaCl, 15 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 0.25 M sucrose, 1 mM CaCl₂). Aliquots (50 μ L) were taken at 5, 10, 15, 20 and 30 min and added directly to 0.5 M EDTA pH 8 to terminate the reaction. A SDS-PrK solution (5% SDS, 1mg/mL Proteinase K) was added to digest away the protein. The resulting solution was diluted in MNase buffer (5 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 25 mM CaCl₂) and genomic DNA was purified by phenol-chloroform extraction, followed by ethanol precipitation. The resulting DNA fragments and 1 kB ladder (Fisher Scientific) were resolved on a 1.5% agarose gel containing ethidium bromide (EtBr).

MNase profiles were obtained from UV-fluorescence images of EtBr-stained agarose gels (Licor), followed by analysis of the images using the profiler plugin from Image J v1.42 (NIH). The resulting peaks in these profiles indicate the band fluorescence intensity of each oligonucleosome (N1-N4).

2.9 ELECTRON SPECTROSCOPIC IMAGING

Cells were processed and imaged as described by Dellaire *et al.* (2004) ¹²⁰. Briefly, cells on fully confluent coverslips were fixed, quenched and permeabilized in the same manner as regular immunofluorescence. Cells were further fixed in 1% gluteraldehyde (EMS) for 5 min, followed by three 5 min washes in PBS at RTs. Cells were then washed 5X 10 min in distilled water (GIBCO, Invitrogen) to remove excess PBS and prevent salt crystallization in subsequent steps. Cells were then dehydrated in a series of graded ethanol washes (30%, 50%, 70%, 90%, 100%), each for 30 min.

Following dehydration, cells were embedded in an epoxy resin, Quetol 651 (EMS). Cells were first infiltrated with the Quetol 651 resin alone for approximately two hours, followed by 2X 2 h incubations in a Quetol 651 mix (35% v/v Quetol 651, 54% v/v NMA, 11% v/v NSA, 2% v/v DMP-30 hardener; EMS). Coverslips were placed in permanox dishes (Nunc) with Quetol 651 mix and placed in a 65°C incubator for 48 h in order for the resin to harden.

The embedded cells were sent to the lab of Dr. David Bazett-Jones (The Hospital for Sick Children, Toronto, Ontario), where the following steps were performed. The blocks of resin containing the cells of interest were sectioned to 70 nm using a Leica ultramicrotome, from which the resulting sections were colleted on a mesh copper grid (EMS). The sections were imaged using a Tecnai 20 transmission electron microscope (FEI) equipped with an energy-filtering spectrometer (Gatan). Energy-filtered electron micrographs of nitrogen and phosphorus were collected, false-colour labeled (nitrogen – green, phosphorus – red) and combined in Photoshop 8.0 (Adobe) to highlight chromatin. More detailed protocols on electron spectroscopic imaging can be seen in Bazett-Jones and Hendzel (1999) 332 and Dellaire *et al.* (2004) 120 .

The composite elemental maps for nitrogen and phosphorus were then analyzed for thickness of nuclear-lamina-associated chromatin using Image J v1.42 software (NIH). Pixel measurements were converted into microns (μ m) and then averaged (n = 10). Statistical significance between cell lines was generated using a pairwise *t* test in Excel (Microsoft).



Figure 15. Retroviral transduction of cell lines used in this study. NHF cells were transduced with a retrovirus expressing the catalytic subunit of human telomerase (hTERT). Immortalized Tert-NHF cells were then sequentially transduced with retroviruses encoding a shRNA directed against GFP or Kap1, followed by re-introduction of HA-tagged wild-type Kap1 or mutant Kap1 (S824A or S824D). Antibiotic selection at each stage of transduction is indicated.

CHAPTER 3: RESULTS

3.1 GENERATING A TERT-IMMORTALIZED NHF CELL LINE

This study heavily relied on the use of a well-characterized cell line to achieve stable knockdown of Kap1 through RNAi followed by re-introduction of wild-type or mutant Kap1 to allow the study of the effects of Kap1 on PML NB number before and after DSBs. Previous studies looking at the response of PML NB to DSB had used primary human fibroblasts, WI38 ³²¹, GM05757 ¹¹⁹. I chose the GM05757 NHF cell line, which has been used in numerous studies involving DNA-damaging agents ³³³⁻³³⁶. Untransformed cells exhibit cellular senescence after several rounds of replication, which is triggered by the shortening of telomeres ³³⁷⁻³³⁹. Ectopic expression of the catalytic subunit of telomerase (TERT) can extend the replicative life span of cells by aiding in the maintenance of telomeres ^{331, 340, 341}. Therefore, I immortalized the NHF cell line by retroviral transduction of human TERT using low passage cells.

Prior to creating other stable cell lines through RNAi or ectopic gene expression, I sought to characterize the DNA-repair pathways and PML NB behaviour of the Tert-NHF cells (Figure 16). The integrity of DNA-damage signaling pathways was assessed using etoposide (VP16) in a single pulsed dose (20 μM, 30 min) to create ~75-100 DSBs, equivalent to ~2G of IR (Figure 16A) ¹¹⁹. VP16 inhibits topoisomerase II (TopoII), an enzyme that passes through a DNA double helix causing a transient DSB to control DNA topology ³⁴². When TopoII is inhibited by VP16, normally transient DSBs created by the enzyme persist as lesions that are then converted to DSBs ³⁴². ATM, Kap1 and Chk2 were present at all time points, indicating that the genes for these proteins were not affected by TERT integration into the genome (Figure 16A). Activation of ATM was seen after 30 min VP16 treatment, as evidence by phosphorylation of ATM on serine

residue 1981 (Figure 16A). Downstream targets of ATM were also activated following VP16 treatment. H2A.X, Chk2 and Kap1 were phosphorylated on serine residue 139 (Figure 16A), threonine residue 68 (Figure 16A) and serine residue serine 824, respectively (Figure 16A), with peak phosphorylation occurring at 30 min post-VP16 treatment.

PML NB behaviour after VP16 treatment was also assessed. Following 3 h recovery from VP16 treatment, PML NB number was significantly higher compared to the no DNA damage control (p<0.05) (Figure 16B). These results were similar to the response of non-immortalized NHFs to VP16 treatment ¹¹⁹. Therefore, TERT immortalization did not affect either the DNA-damage signaling or PML NB behaviour of this cell line, making the Tert-NHF cell line suitable to use for the creation of other cell lines.

3.2 LOSS OF KAP1 CAUSES AN INCREASE IN PML NB NUMBER IN A CELL-TYPE INDEPENDENT MANNER AND DOES NOT RELATE TO CHANGES IN CELL CYCLE DISTRIBUTION

ATM and ATR are implicated in the regulation of PML NB number ¹¹⁹. It is possible that ATM and/or ATR cause changes in chromatin structure affecting PML NB integrity. Indeed, PML NB number is affected by changes in chromatin ^{102, 114}. Furthermore, loss of Kap1, a protein regulated by ATM, has been shown to cause global decondensation of chromatin ³⁰⁷. Therefore, to identify the chromatin-dependent control of PML NB number, I wanted to determine if PML NB number would be affected by the loss of Kap1.

A stable Kap1-knockdown cell line was achieved by transducing retrovirus encoding shRNA against Kap1 into Tert-NHF cells to knock down Kap1 by RNAi. There was an 80% knockdown of Kap1 protein in the Tert-NHF Δ KAP1 cells compared to Tert-NHF cells alone or with a control GFP shRNA (Figure 17). Immunofluorescence analysis was used to further confirm Kap1 knockdown (Figure 18B) compared to the GFP control (Figure 18A) and to assess PML NB number (Figure 18). Without DNA damage, PML NB number was significantly higher in Δ KAP1 cells (~20 ± 0.5 NBs) compared the GFP control (~12 ± 0.5 NBs) (p<0.05) (Figure 19; control).

Kap1 was re-introduced into a Tert-NHF Δ KAP1 cell line by transducing these cells with retrovirus encoding HA-tagged wild-type Kap1 that is not affected by Kap1 shRNA. Kap1 protein levels increased back to 70% of control levels (Figure 17). Without DNA damage, PML NB number in these cells was ~14NBs (± 0.3 NBs), a similar level as seen in the GFP control (~12 ± 0.5 NBs), indicating that the increase in PML NBs seen in Δ KAP1 cells was specific to the depletion of Kap1 (Figure 19; control).

The same phenomenon was also observed in U2OS cells, where the depletion of Kap1 by 91% using RNAi led to a significant increase in PML NB number (~13 \pm 0.8 NBs) compared to U2OS cells expressing the GFP shRNA control (8 \pm 1 NB) (p<0.05) (Figure 20). Thus, depletion of Kap1 by RNAi leads to a cell-type independent increase in PML NB number.

PML NB number can vary during the cell cycle; in particular, PML NBs increase in number in S-phase ¹¹⁴. Therefore, I used propidium iodide and flow cytometry to see if the loss of Kap1 affects the fraction of cells in S-phase, which could contribute to an increase in PML NB number. The cell-cycle profiles looked similar between Tert-NHF

and Tert-NHF Δ KAP1 cells (Figure 21A). Of more importance, the percentage of cells in S-phase was similar for Tert-NHF cells ($13 \pm 2 \%$) and Δ KAP1 ($17 \pm 2 \%$) (p = 0.28) (Figure 21B). Therefore, the increase in PML NB number due to loss of Kap1 does not depend on cell type or does not rise from changes in cell cycle distribution.

3.3 LOSS OF KAP1 ALTERS CHROMATIN STRUCTURE

Kap1 is involved in chromatin organization and loss of Kap1 leads to increased nuclease sensitivity of chromatin in U2OS cells, which is interpreted as relaxation of chromatin ³⁰⁷. I wanted to observe if this is the case in our Tert-NHF Δ KAP1 cell line. Basal chromatin condensation was evaluated by micrococcal nuclease (MNase) digestion, which cleaves the linker DNA between nucleosomes resulting in chromatin fragments of multiples of ~146 bp ³ corresponding to fragments with different numbers of nucleosomes. The mono-, di-, and tri-nucleosome DNA fragments that are resolved by agarose gel electrophoresis reflect chromatin accessibility to MNase, a surrogate measure of chromatin compaction. MNase accessibility was greater in the Tert-NHF Δ KAP1 cells, as smaller DNA fragments were produced earlier in the MNase digestion (Figure 22A). Profiles from the gels illustrate more clearly that in Tert-NHF Δ KAP1 cells, smaller oligonucleosomes were generated from the 10 and 30 minutes of MNase digestion in figure 8A compared to those from Tert-NHF cells alone (Figure 22B). This finding suggests that loss of Kap1 mediates an enhanced sensitivity of chromatin to MNase.

Although chromatin relaxation associated with loss of Kap1 can be shown on a molecular level by an increased sensitivity to MNase (Figure 22A) ³⁰⁷, changes in chromatin ultrastructure as a result of the loss of Kap1 have never been demonstrated.

Therefore, I employed electron microscopy to visualize chromatin on an ultrastructural level in Tert-NHF Δ KAP1 cells. Electron spectroscopic imaging (ESI) has the ability to distinguish between protein and DNA-based structures such as chromatin ^{120, 332}. Merged nitrogen (green) and phosphorus (red) elemental maps allow the identification of chromatin (yellow) (Figure 23A). Condensed chromatin can be seen most easily at the periphery of human nuclei adjacent to the nuclear lamina. Large regions of dense chromatin are seen in Tert-NHF cells alone, whereas Tert-NHF Δ KAP1 cells show more decondensed chromatin at the nuclear periphery (white arrows, Figure 23A). As a consequence, chromatin at the nuclear lamina was significantly thinner in Tert-NHF Δ KAP1 cells (0.20 ± 0.03 µm) compared to Tert-NHF cells (0.35 ± 0.05 µm) (p<0.05) (Figure 23B). Therefore, loss of Kap1 appears to cause decondensation of chromatin at the ultrastructural level.

3.4 EVIDENCE FOR A KAP1 PHOSPHORYLATION-DEPENDENT MECHANISM REGULATING CHANGES IN PML NB NUMBER

Loss of Kap1 causes chromatin relaxation ³⁰⁷ and regulates PML NB number as demonstrated above. Chromatin relaxation also occurs when Kap1 is phosphorylated by ATM on serine residue 824 following DNA damage, which most likely alters the association of Kap1 with chromatin ³⁰⁷. If Kap1 itself regulates PML NB number, perhaps phosphorylation of Kap1 also regulates PML NB number. Therefore, to test this hypothesis, I determined PML NB number following DNA damage in Δ KAP1 cells complemented with Kap1 phospho-mutants.

First, Kap1 phospho S824A or S824D mutants were re-introduced into Tert-NHF Δ KAP1 cells by retroviral transduction using KAP1 cDNAs resistant to KAP1 RNAi³⁰⁷.

The Kap1 S824A mutant cannot be phosphorylated, as the serine residue at position 824 is substituted with an alanine, which lacks a hydroxyl group. The Kap1 S824D mutant is a phospho-mimetic mutant, where the substitution of a serine with an aspartic acid mimics the charge after phosphorylation. The expression of these mutants was 80% of the levels of wild-type Kap1 prior to knockdown (Figure 17).

I next examined these cell lines for PML NB number by immunofluorescence analysis (Figure 24). If Kap1 phosphorylation is important for regulating PML NB number, I would expect that, prior to DNA damage, the Kap1 S824D mutant would have higher PML NB number compared to the GFP shRNA cells and the Kap1 S824A mutant, as the S824D mutant mimics phosphorylation of Kap1. Indeeed, PML NB number was significantly higher in Kap1 S824D mutant cells (~17 \pm 0.5 NBs) compared to the GFP shRNA control (~12 \pm 0.5 NBs) and Kap1 S824A mutant cell (~14 \pm 0.5 NBs) prior to DNA damage (p<0.05) (Figure 25; control). This finding suggests that phosphorylation of Kap1 is important in regulating PML NB.

3.5 FOLLOWING DNA DAMAGE, PML NB NUMBER FURTHER INCREASES WITH LOSS OF KAP1 OR MUTANT KAP1

In a NHF cell line, PML NB number increases in response to DSBs and, specifically following VP16 treatment, PML NB number peaks at 3 h recovery ¹¹⁹. This trend was confirmed following immunofluorescence analysis of PML NB number in GFP shRNA cells and HA-tagged wild-type Kap1 cells, where there is an increase from $\sim 12 \pm 0.5$ and 14 ± 0.5 NBs to $\sim 22 \pm 0.5$ and 24 ± 0.5 NBs, 3 h post VP16 treatment respectively (p<0.05) (Figure 19; control & 3 h R). If Kap1 were the only factor regulating PML NB number prior to and following VP16 treatment, PML NB number in Δ KAP1 cells would

remain at a constant level following DNA damage. However, PML NB number in Δ KAP1 cells further increased from 20 ± 0.5 NBs to 24 ± 0.5 NBs (p<0.05) (Figure 25; control & 3 h R). PML NB number also further increased in both of the Kap1 phosphomutants, with body number in Kap1 S824A and S824D increasing from ~14 ± 0.5 and 17 ± 0.3 NBs to ~19 ± 0.5 NBs 3 h post-VP16 treatment (p<0.05) (Figure 25; control & 3 h R). Both Kap1 phospho-mutants had approximately the same number of PML NBs (~19 ± 0.5 NBs) 3 h post-VP16 treatment (Figure 25; control & 3 h R). Together these data indicate that some other factors or mechanisms could be controlling PML NB number following DNA damage, in addition to Kap1.

Figure 16. ATM DNA-damage signaling pathways and PML NB behaviour following etoposide (VP16) treatment remain unperturbed. (A) Assessment of ATM, Kap1, Chk2 and H2A.X phosphorylation and protein levels. Cellular extracts were blotted with the indicated antibodies at various recovery times following 30 min of VP16 treatment to induce DSBs. (B) PML NB number increases after DNA damage. Mean PML NB number is compared over time after VP16 treatment and indicated periods of recovery. Error bars represent standard error (n = 30) (*p<0.05 between control and 3 h recovery) (R = recovery).

20 µM VP16 Recovery control 5 6 r Pan kDa a-Phospho ATM Ser 1981 250 α-ATM 250 α-Phospho Kap1 Ser 824 100 α-Kap1 100 75 a-Phospho Chk2 Thr 68 75 a-Chk2 15 a-Phospho H2A.X. Ser 139 50 a-Bactin 37

Tert-NHF



A



20 µM VP16





Figure 17. Relative Kap1 protein levels in cells lines with different constitutions of Kap1. Cellular extracts were obtained from Tert-NHF GFP shRNA or Δ KAP1 cells followed by ectopic expression of wild-type or mutant Kap1 in a Δ KAP1 cell line. Confirmation of Kap1 protein levels was done by western blot analysis using an antibody against Kap1, with β -actin as a loading control. Relative protein levels are indicated.



Figure 18. Representative immunofluorescence images of Tert-NHF cell lines with wild-type Kap1 or loss of Kap1. Normal levels of Kap1 can be seen in (A) GFP shRNA cells and (C) Δ KAP1 + HA-Kap1 cells. Loss of Kap1 is observed in (B) Δ KAP1 cells. Images were analyzed for levels of Kap1 and PML NB number in average-intensity Z-projections after VP16 treatment and indicated periods of recovery. DNA was stained with DAPI to view the nucleus (R = recovery).



20 µM VP16

Time

Figure 19. PML NB number increases with loss of Kap1 before and after DNA damage. (A) Comparison of mean PML NB number over time after VP16 treatment and recovery for the indicated periods of time in Tert-NHF treated with GFP shRNA, Δ KAP1 cells and in a Δ KAP1 cell line following the re-introduction of HA-tagged wild-type Kap1. Error bars represent standard error of the mean (n = 90) (*p<0.05 between cell lines, ***p<0.05 between control and 3 hr recovery within the cell line) (R = recovery).







Figure 20. Characterization of a U2OS cell line for Kap1 protein and PML NB number with normal levels of Kap1 and upon loss of Kap1. (A) Western blot analysis for Kap1 expression in U2OS cell lines with GFP shRNA or Δ KAP1. Relative protein levels are indicated. (B) Immuno fluorescence analysis of Kap1 and PML NB number in average-intensity Z projections of U2OS cell lines with GFP shRNA or Δ KAP1. (C) Comparison of mean PML NB number without DNA damage. Error bars represent standard error (n = 30) (*p < 0.05).







Time 5 10 15 20 30 5 10 15 20 30 (mins)











Figure 24. Representative immunofluorescence images of Tert-NHF cell lines with mutant Kap1. Mutant Kap1 is expressed in the (A) Δ KAP1 + HA-Kap1 S824A or (B) S824D cells. Images were analyzed for levels of Kap1 and PML NB number in average-intensity Z-projections after VP16 treatment and indicated periods of recovery. DNA was stained with DAPI to view the nucleus (R = recovery).



20 µM VP16

Time

Figure 25. Expression of mutant Kap1 indicates that PML NB number is regulated by phosphorylation of Kap1. (A) Comparison of mean PML NB number over time after VP16 treatment and recovery for the indicated periods of time in Tert-NHF cells with GFP shRNA or Δ KAP1, following re-introduction of HA-tagged mutant S824A or S824D Kap1 in Δ KAP1 cells. Error bars represent standard error of the mean (n = 90) (*p<0.05 between cell lines, **p<0.05 between GFP shRNA/HA-Kap1/Kap1 S824A and Kap1 S824D, ***p<0.05 between control and 3 hr recovery within the cell line) (R = recovery).
CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION

PML NBs mediate signals in response to DNA damage to facilitate DNA repair, cell- cycle control and apoptosis ¹⁴⁹. Furthermore, PML NBs act as DNA damage sensors by increasing in number following DNA damage ^{119, 120}. This phenomenon is regulated by ATM and ATR kinases ¹¹⁹. How ATM and ATR regulate the increase in PML NBs following DNA damage may be through changes in chromatin structure, due to the intimate relationship between chromatin and PML NBs ^{102, 119}. Kap1 is an ATM/ATR substrate that facilitates chromatin condensation, and can contribute to the decondensation of chromatin when Kap1 is either phosphorylated by ATM on serine residue 824 or depleted ^{37, 307}. I have found a novel pathway involving Kap1 in the regulation of PML NB number in part through Kap1-mediated changes in chromatin structure (Figure 26).

4.2 A KAP1-DEPENDENT MECHANISM REGULATING PML NB NUMBER

Kap1 is a protein that normally regulates chromatin structure along with other proteins such as HP1 and KRAB-ZFP to facilitate the formation of heterochromatin and gene silencing ³⁷. Loss of Kap1 or phosphorylation of Kap1 by ATM on serine residue 824 mediates global decondensation of chromatin ³⁰⁷, although Kap1 can be phosphorylated by ATR as well ³¹⁰. PML NBs respond to changes in chromatin structure by increasing in number ^{102, 119}. As ATM and ATR regulate PML NB number following DNA damage ¹¹⁹, it is possible that ATM and/or ATR mediate PML NB number *via* Kap1.

To my surprise, I found that Kap1 was directly implicated in the control of PML NB number. I observed an increase in PML NB number in the absence of DNA damage in Tert-NHF depleted of Kap1 by RNAi (Tert-NHF Δ KAP1) (Figure 18, 19). This effect is not dependent on cell type, as an increase in PML NB number prior to DNA damage was also seen in the U2OS cell line after Δ KAP1 (Figure 20). Furthermore, this effect on PML NB number is specific to Kap1, as re-introduction into Tert-NHF Δ KAP1 cells of an HA-tagged wild-type Kap1, resistant to Kap1 shRNA reduced PML NB number to a level similar to that seen in the GFP shRNA control cells (Figure 18, 19). This is the first study linking Kap1 to the control of PML NB number (Figure 26).

4.2.1 HOW DOES KAP1 CONTROL PML NB NUMBER?

There are several of possibilities as to how Kap1 controls PML NB number. One possibility is that loss of Kap1 activates intra-S checkpoints in the cell cycle, resulting in an increase in PML NBs. PML NBs have been shown to increase two-fold during S-phase ¹¹⁴. Therefore, the increase in PML NB number in cells lacking Kap1 might be due to an increase of cells in S-phase. However, there were similar numbers of cells in S-phase in Tert-NHF and Tert-NHF Δ KAP1 cells (Figure 21). A similar observation was made by Ziv and colleagues (2006) ³⁰⁷ as cells lacking Kap1 did not affect activation of cell-cycle checkpoints, even upon DNA damage, compared to cells with control GFP shRNA ³⁰⁷. However, these published data are expressed as G1/G2 ratio, and the percentage of cells in S-phase is lost. It is necessary to confirm this lack of cell-cycle effect in Δ KAP1 cells by specifically looking at cells in S-phase. Nonetheless, a significant increase of cells in S-phase would be required to alter PML NB number, which was not observed.

A more likely possibility as to how PML NB number is regulated by Kap1 is through chromatin structure. PML NBs make extensive contacts with chromatin¹⁰² and

89

increase in number in response to changes in chromatin topology, such as the PML NB response during S phase ¹¹⁴. During S-phase, topological changes occur in the replicating chromatin, where chromatin under topological stress retracts from the PML NB pulling it apart ¹¹⁴. In my study, decondensation of chromatin with loss of Kap1 was demonstrated by an increased accessibility of chromatin to nuclease digestion (Figure 22) ³⁰⁷ and by electron spectroscopic imaging (Figure 23). In cells lacking Kap1, chromatin surrounding the NB decondenses and could lead to PML NBs being pulled apart, increasing body number through a mechanism similar to the PML NB increase during S-phase ¹¹⁴.

The increase in PML NB number that occurs during early S-phase suggests that PML NBs are primarily associated with euchromatin rather than heterochromatin ¹¹⁴, which replicates later in S-phase ¹¹⁴. Therefore, an increase in euchromatin domains would allow for an increase in PML NB number ¹¹⁴. Kap1 maintains heterochromatin structure by acting as an intermediary factor that facilitates condensation of chromatin and gene silencing through interactions with other heterochromatin proteins such as HP1, SETDB1, Mi-2 α in the NuRD HDAC and KRAB-ZFP ^{37, 48, 49}. Loss of Kap1 and decondensation of chromatin may increase the number of euchromatin domains able to associate with PML NBs, which might lead to an increase PML NB number. Therefore, PML NBs may make contacts with heterochromatin *via* Kap1.

A number of studies have looked at the association of PML NBs and heterochromatin. Many of these studies have linked PML NBs with HP1, a binding partner of Kap1 ^{162, 163, 343}, thus implicating PML NBs in heterochromatin remodeling. PML NB associated protein Daxx interacts with alpha thalassemia/mental retardation syndrome X-linked (ATRX), a SWI/SNF chromatin remodeler, which interacts with HP1

90

to facilitate remodeling and/or condensation of chromatin specifically in G2^{116, 163}. HP1 is also required for ALT-associated PML NBs³⁴³ and has also been shown to interact with Sp100, another PML NB associated protein ¹⁶². Studies have also shown that PML NBs associate with heterochromatin at nucleoli ¹⁴⁷ and with heterochromatin foci linked to cellular senescence ¹⁹³. As for a direct association of PML NBs with Kap1, novel Kap1-containing foci have been observed adjacent to PML NBs ^{344, 345}. These Kap1-containing foci colocalize with a number of Kap1 interacting proteins, such as KRAB-ZFP and HP1 α/β , which are important in maintaining heterochromatin structure ^{37, 344}. Why Kap1 foci are juxtaposed with PML NBs remains unclear, but this association suggests that PML NBs may play a role in Kap1-mediated repression, perhaps *via* sumovlation of Kap1³⁴⁴. The links between PML NBs, Kap1 and other heterochromatin factors such as HP1 suggest that PML NBs may play a role in the formation of heterochromatin. Loss of Kap1 causes decondensation of chromatin as Kap1 protein interactions are compromised, resulting in an increase in PML NBs, perhaps by a fission mechanism. If this PML NB behaviour is truly a heterochromatin effect, loss of other heterochromatin proteins such as HP1, HDACs, HMETs or KRAB-ZFPs may result in similar increases in PML NB number.

Furthermore, this phenomenon may be specific to nuclear-lamina-associated chromatin. In cells lacking Kap1, chromatin at the nuclear lamina was thinner compared to that in normal Tert-NHF cells (Figure 23). At the nuclear periphery, chromatin is compact and silenced, and HP1 has been associated with nuclear lamina proteins ³⁴⁶, which could indirectly implicate Kap1 in the compaction of chromatin at the nuclear periphery.

4.3 PML NB NUMBER IS CONTROLLED BY PHOSPHORYLATION OF KAP1

It is evident that Kap1 directly plays a role in regulating PML NB number. However, Kap1 can undergo post-translational modifications following DNA damage. Following DNA damage, ATM phosphorylates Kap1 on serine residue 824, resulting in global decondensation of chromatin ³⁰⁷. Cells lines expressing phospho-inhibitory (S824A) or phospho-mimetic (S824D) Kap1 mutants in place of normal Kap1 were used to assess whether phosphorylation of Kap1 could regulate PML NB number. Phosphorylation of Kap1 is important in regulating PML NB number as, prior to DNA damage, PML NB number was higher in Kap1 S824D mutant cells compared to GFP shRNA control and Kap1 S824A mutant cells (Figures 24, 25). Similar to the loss of Kap1, the phosphomimetic Kap1 mutant also causes decondensation of chromatin ³⁰⁷. Therefore, phosphorylation of Kap1 may also contribute to the increase in PML NB number as chromatin decondenses, allowing PML NBs to pull apart (Figure 26).

Following DNA damage, both S824A and S824D Kap1 mutants had similar levels of PML NBs, except at 1 h post DNA damage where PML NB peaks for the Kap1 S824D mutant. However, PML NB number normally peaks at 3 h post DNA damage ¹¹⁹ (Figure 25). Phosphorylation of Kap1 by ATM occurs within 1 h of DNA damage ³⁰⁷. Therefore, phosphorylation of Kap1 and decondensation of chromatin may be early events that contribute to the increase in PML NB number following DNA damage.

Phosphorylation of Kap1 by ATM is involved not only with decondensation of chromatin but also with gene expression and DNA repair. Kap1 phosphorylation by ATM promotes the expression of genes controlling the cell cycle (p21, Gadd45 α) and apoptosis (Bax, Bak, Noxa) in response to DNA damage, and expression of these genes is

controlled by a sumoylation/phosphorylation switch on Kap1 ³⁰⁸. As Kap1 foci and PML NBs are in close proximity and PML NBs contain lots of SUMO-1, PML NB could play a role in this sumolylation/phosphorylation switch or help transduce the signals for cell- cycle arrest or apoptosis. Additionally, phosphorylated Kap1 colocalizes with several proteins at DNA-damage foci, such as 53BP1, γ-H2A.X, BRCA1 and TopBP1 ³¹⁰. These proteins are localized at PML NBs at later time points following DNA damage ^{101, 119}. Although the majority of repair has occurred by this time, PML NBs may allow association of phosphorylated Kap1 and other proteins to transduce signals for cell-cycle arrest or apoptosis and/or mediate post-translational modifications of DNA-repair factors or even Kap1 itself. Perhaps PML NBs mediate Kap1 phosphorylation, dephosphorylation or sumoylation.

As an added twist, it has been suggested that Kap1 plays a role in the repair of damage that occurs in heterochromatin ²⁴⁶. DSBs that occur within heterochromatin require ATM signaling for their repair, as loss of Kap1 and other heterochromatin proteins such as HP1 or HDACs alleviates the requirement for ATM in DSB repair ²⁴⁶. This finding suggests that ATM signaling perturbs heterochromatin *via* Kap1 allowing better access to lesions for efficient DNA repair ²⁴⁶. As PML NBs associate with heterochromatin and Kap1 as discussed above, perhaps PML NBs take part in the repair of DSBs in heterochromatin.

4.4 EVIDENCE OF A KAP1-INDEPENDENT MECHANISM REGULATING PML NB NUMBER

Other factors may be involved in the increase in PML NBs post DNA damage. Following DNA damage, PML NB number further increased in cells with $\Delta KAP1$ alone or with Kap1 mutants (Figure 25). This increase suggests that another mechanism or pathway, other than phosphorylation of Kap1, contributes to the increase in PML NBs following DNA damage (Figure 26). These other factors may be further changes in chromatin 303 . phosphorylation of PML by Chk2, ATR or ATM (Figure 14)¹⁹⁸, or post-translational modification of other PML NB associated proteins. Further changes in chromatin structure may be due to the DNA damage itself ³⁰³ or mobilization of other heterochromatin proteins including HP1B³¹¹. PML and other PML NB components are modified following DNA damage, which may contribute to the increase in PML NB number by disrupting protein interactions at the PML NB. Other PML NB components that may be modified by ATM/ATR are cell-cycle related proteins or DNA-repair proteins including BRCA1, NBS1, H2A.X, or even ATM/ATR mediator proteins 53BP1 or TopBP1^{220, 255}. Therefore, following DNA damage, phosphorylation of Kap1 and other factors may play a role in regulating PML NB number.

4.5 FUTURE DIRECTIONS

This study implicates a Kap1-dependent mechanism in the regulation of PML NB number through changes in chromatin structure (Figure 26). Following DNA damage, Kap1 phosphorylation and other ATM/ATR mediators or effectors may play a role in the increase in PML NB number (Figure 26). Although Kap1 is directly implicated in the control of PML NB number, the exact mechanism remains unclear. Many questions arise from this study.

4.5.1 DOES ΔKAP1 AFFECT S-PHASE?

Although there was no increase of S-phase cells to contribute to the increase in PML NB number with loss of Kap1, it is necessary to confirm this observation using a different technique in addition to the typical cell-cycle analysis. To obtain a typical cell-cycle profile, propidium iodide is used, which intercalates with DNA ³⁴⁷. The stage of the cell cycle is interpreted from the DNA content of the cell as it correlates with the fluorescence of propidium iodide. A specific way to assess S-phase of the cell cycle is to use bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) incorporation. BrdU is a synthetic nucleoside that is analogous to thymidine. BrdU incorporates into replicating cells in S phase and can be detected using an antibody against BrdU with a fluorescent tag ³⁴⁸. By using BrdU, we can detect cells in early, mid and late S-phase and thus this technique may be able to detect any S-phase delay in Δ KAP1 cells.

4.5.2 WHAT IS THE SPATIAL ORGANIZATION OF KAP1 IN NUCLEI AND HOW DOES LOSS OF KAP1 AFFECT CHROMATIN MOBILITY?

Kap1 seems to act through changes in chromatin structure to regulate PML NB number. Micrococcal nuclease (MNase) digestion is a molecular technique to assess chromatin structure ³⁰⁷, which showed that loss of Kap1 causes decondensation of chromatin by increasing accessibility to MNase (Figure 22) ³⁰⁷. Electron spectroscopic imaging (ESI), a microscopic technique that allows visualization of ultrastructural changes in chromatin ¹²⁰, demonstrated that the nuclear-lamina-associated chromatin was thinner in Δ KAP1 cells than in control cells (Figure 23), suggesting decondensation of heterochromatin at the nuclear envelope. Chromatin at the nuclear envelope and nuclear lamina is largely condensed and transcriptionally silent ^{346, 349}. It would be interesting to see specifically where Kap1 is located in chromatin and its dispersal, using gold immunodetection of Kap1 and phospho-mimetic Kap1 by ESI. Live-cell microscopy could also be used to observe changes in chromatin mobility in cells with and without Δ KAP1, as loss of physical constraints on chromatin such as nuclear compartments increase chromatin mobility ³⁵⁰.

There are many studies suggesting that the Kap1 effect on PML NB number may be specific to heterochromatin, as Kap1 is important in maintaining heterochromatin structure ³⁷. Furthermore, PML NBs have been associated with heterochromatin structure ^{116, 162, 163, 343}. Does loss of Kap1 specifically affect heterochromatin, or is there a global effect on chromatin structure? Southern blot analysis can be done on the MNase digestions from Δ KAP1 cells. Probes specific for euchromatin (Alu repeats) ¹³, heterochromatin (LINE1 repeats) ¹³, telomeres (telomeric repeats) ³⁵¹ and pericentromeric chromatin (α -satellites) ³⁵² can be used to delineate which type of chromatin Kap1 may be affecting.

4.5.3 DOES LOSS OF KAP1 AFFECT GENOMIC STABILITY AND/OR DNA REPAIR?

Although Kap1 affects chromatin structure, how does Kap1 cause an increase in PML NB number? Does Kap1 have a role in maintaining genome stability? One way to assess this is by looking at sister-chromatid exchange (SCE). Does loss of Kap1 increase SCE as loss of PML increases SCE? SCE can be assessed by BrdU incorporation ³⁵³. For examples, to measure SCE, cells can be treated with BrdU for 24 h followed by growth in the absence of BrdU for 24 h and then collect cells in mitosis, cytospin and look for exchange of the BrdU labeled chromatid with the unlabeled chromatid. Another

component of genome stability is translocation frequency. Does loss of Kap1 cause a higher propensity for translocations? This can be assessed by spectral karyotyping, which simultaneously visualizes all pairs of chromosomes in different colours using fluorescently-labeled probes specific for each chromosome ³⁵⁴.

Kap1 has also been implicated in DSB repair associated with heterochromatin ²⁴⁶. If Kap1 aids in the repair of DSBs in heterochromatin, are PML NBs involved? This can be assessed through immunofluorescence analysis looking for colocalization of Kap1, PML and phosphorylated H2A.X, which occurs at the site of the DSBs. Lastly, is the increase in PML NB number specific to heterochromatin? Do loss of other heterochromatin proteins such as HP1 or HDACS increase PML NB number? This can be done by RNAi to knockdown levels of these heterochromatin proteins followed by immunofluorescence anlysis for PML NB number.

4.6 CONCLUSIONS

Changes in chromatin structure induced by loss or phosphorylation of Kap1 plays a role in regulating PML NB number, but a number of details wait to be elucidated. For example, there is also a Kap1-independent mechanism that leads to a further increase in PML NB after DNA damage. The components of the Kap1-independent mechanism after DNA damage could involve other aspects of DNA-repair signaling and/or chromatin remodeling as discussed above. Although partially elucidated in this study, the mechanisms behind the increase in PML NB number following DNA damage have proved to be complex. The further study of the control of PML NB number will aid in the use of PML NBs as a biomarker for the DNA-damage response in cancer cells.



Figure 26. Model for the regulation of PML NB number by Kap1. In an undamaged cell, there is a basal number of PML NBs, as Kap1 is unperturbed. Chromatin is condensed as Kap1 protein-protein interactions remain intact. Kap1 is directly implicated in PML NB control. When Kap1 is lost, PML NB number increases as chromatin becomes decondensed due to perturbations in Kap1 protein-protein interactions. PML NB number further increases following DNA damage in cells lacking Kap1. Phosphorylation of Kap1 does play a role in PML NB number control after DNA damage. However, there is a Kap1-independent mechanism controlling PML NB number post-DNA damage. This mechanism may involve further changes in chromatin structure, PML phosphorylation or post-translational modification of other PML NB components.

REFERENCES

- 1. Kornberg R. D. (1974) Chromatin structure: a repeating unit of histones and DNA. *Science* **184**, 868-871.
- 2. Van Holde K. E. (1988) Chromatin. Springer Series in Molecular Biology.
- 3. Luger K., Mader A. W., Richmond R. K., Sargent D. F. & Richmond T. J. (1997) Crystal structure of the nucleosome core particle at 2.8 A resolution. *Nature* **389**, 251-260.
- 4. Cremer T., Cremer C. (2001) Chromosome territories, nuclear architecture and gene regulation in mammalian cells. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* **2**, 292-301.
- 5. Meaburn K. J., Misteli T. (2007) Cell biology: chromosome territories. *Nature* **445**, 379-781.
- 6. Sproul D., Gilbert N. & Bickmore W. A. (2005) The role of chromatin structure in regulating the expression of clustered genes. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* **6**, 775-781.
- 7. Zirbel R. M., Mathieu U. R., Kurz A., Cremer T. & Lichter P. (1993) Evidence for a nuclear compartment of transcription and splicing located at chromosome domain boundaries. *Chromosome Res.* **1**, 93-106.
- 8. Lamond A. I., Earnshaw W. C. (1998) Structure and function in the nucleus. *Science* **280**, 547-553.
- 9. Spector D. L. (2001) Nuclear domains. J. Cell. Sci. 114, 2891-2893.
- 10. Handwerger K. E., Gall J. G. (2006) Subnuclear organelles: new insights into form and function. *Trends Cell Biol.* 16, 19-26.
- 11. Zink D., Fischer A. H. & Nickerson J. A. (2004) Nuclear structure in cancer cells. *Nat. Rev. Cancer.* **4**, 677-687.
- 12. Zink D. (2007) Intranuclear changes in cancer cells. *Genome Biol.* 8, 312.
- 13. Korenberg J. R., Rykowski M. C. (1988) Human genome organization: Alu, lines, and the molecular structure of metaphase chromosome bands. *Cell* **53**, 391-400.
- 14. Thoma F., Koller T. & Klug A. (1979) Involvement of histone H1 in the organization of the nucleosome and of the salt-dependent superstructures of chromatin. J. Cell Biol. 83, 403-427.

- 15. Adkins N. L., Watts M. & Georgel P. T. (2004) To the 30-nm chromatin fiber and beyond. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1677, 12-23.
- 16. Yokota H., van den Engh G., Hearst J. E., Sachs R. K. & Trask B. J. (1995) Evidence for the organization of chromatin in megabase pair-sized loops arranged along a random walk path in the human G0/G1 interphase nucleus. *J. Cell Biol.* **130**, 1239-1249.
- 17. Girton J. R., Johansen K. M. (2008) Chromatin structure and the regulation of gene expression: the lessons of PEV in *Drosophila*. *Adv. Genet.* **61**, 1-43.
- 18. Grewal S. I., Jia S. (2007) Heterochromatin revisited. Nat. Rev. Genet. 8, 35-46.
- 19. Grewal S. I., Elgin S. C. (2002) Heterochromatin: new possibilities for the inheritance of structure. *Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev.* **12**, 178-187.
- 20. Heitz E. (1928) Das heterochromatin der moose. I. Jahrb. Wiss. Botanik 69, 762-818.
- 21. Grewal S. I., Moazed D. (2003) Heterochromatin and epigenetic control of gene expression. *Science* **301**, 798-802.
- 22. Craig J. M. (2005) Heterochromatin--many flavours, common themes. *Bioessays* 27, 17-28.
- Grigoryev S. A., Bulynko Y. A. & Popova E. Y. (2006) The end adjusts the means: heterochromatin remodelling during terminal cell differentiation. *Chromosome Res.* 14, 53-69.
- 24. Muller H. J., Altenburg E. (1930) The frequency of franslocations produced by X-rays in *Drosophila*. *Genetics* **15**, 283-311.
- 25. Talbert P. B., Henikoff S. (2000) A reexamination of spreading of position-effect variegation in the white-roughest region of *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Genetics* **154**, 259-272.
- 26. Kouzarides T. (2007) Chromatin modifications and their function. *Cell* **128**, 693-705.
- 27. Jenuwein T., Allis C. D. (2001) Translating the histone code. *Science* **293**, 1074-1080.
- 28. Sims R. J., 3rd, Nishioka K. & Reinberg D. (2003) Histone lysine methylation: a signature for chromatin function. *Trends Genet.* **19**, 629-639.

- 29. Grunstein M. (1997) Histone acetylation in chromatin structure and transcription. *Nature* **389**, 349-352.
- 30. Eissenberg J. C., Elgin S. C. (2000) The HP1 protein family: getting a grip on chromatin. *Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev.* **10**, 204-210.
- 31. Lachner M., O'Carroll D., Rea S., Mechtler K. & Jenuwein T. (2001) Methylation of histone H3 lysine 9 creates a binding site for HP1 proteins. *Nature* **410**, 116-120.
- Bannister A. J., Zegerman P., Partridge J. F., Miska E. A., Thomas J. O., Allshire R. C. & Kouzarides T. (2001) Selective recognition of methylated lysine 9 on histone H3 by the HP1 chromo domain. *Nature* 410, 120-124.
- Ayyanathan K., Lechner M. S., Bell P., Maul G. G., Schultz D. C., Yamada Y., Tanaka K., Torigoe K. & Rauscher F. J., 3rd. (2003) Regulated recruitment of HP1 to a euchromatic gene induces mitotically heritable, epigenetic gene silencing: a mammalian cell culture model of gene variegation. *Genes Dev.* 17, 1855-1869.
- 34. Cleard F., Delattre M. & Spierer P. (1997) SU(VAR)3-7, a *Drosophila* heterochromatin-associated protein and companion of HP1 in the genomic silencing of position-effect variegation. *EMBO J.* **16**, 5280-5288.
- 35. Tschiersch B., Hofmann A., Krauss V., Dorn R., Korge G. & Reuter G. (1994) The protein encoded by the *Drosophila* position-effect variegation suppressor gene Su(var)3-9 combines domains of antagonistic regulators of homeotic gene complexes. *EMBO J.* **13**, 3822-3831.
- Le Douarin B., Nielsen A. L., Garnier J. M., Ichinose H., Jeanmougin F., Losson R. & Chambon P. (1996) A possible involvement of TIF1 alpha and TIF1 beta in the epigenetic control of transcription by nuclear receptors. *EMBO J.* 15, 6701-6715.
- Sripathy S. P., Stevens J. & Schultz D. C. (2006) The KAP1 corepressor functions to coordinate the assembly of *de novo* HP1-demarcated microenvironments of heterochromatin required for KRAB zinc finger protein-mediated transcriptional repression. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 26, 8623-8638.
- Friedman J. R., Fredericks W. J., Jensen D. E., Speicher D. W., Huang X. P., Neilson E. G. & Rauscher F. J., 3rd. (1996) KAP-1, a novel corepressor for the highly conserved KRAB repression domain. *Genes Dev.* 10, 2067-2078.
- Kim J. A., Kruhlak M., Dotiwala F., Nussenzweig A. & Haber J. E. (2007) Heterochromatin is refractory to gamma-H2AX modification in yeast and mammals. *J. Cell Biol.* 178, 209-218.

- 40. Cammas F., Oulad-Abdelghani M., Vonesch J. L., Huss-Garcia Y., Chambon P. & Losson R. (2002) Cell differentiation induces TIF1beta association with centromeric heterochromatin via an HP1 interaction. *J. Cell. Sci.* **115**, 3439-3448.
- 41. Cammas F., Janoshazi A., Lerouge T. & Losson R. (2007) Dynamic and selective interactions of the transcriptional corepressor TIF1 beta with the heterochromatin protein HP1 isotypes during cell differentiation. *Differentiation* **75**, 627-637.
- 42. Kim S. S., Chen Y. M., O'Leary E., Witzgall R., Vidal M. & Bonventre J. V. (1996) A novel member of the RING finger family, KRIP-1, associates with the KRAB-A transcriptional repressor domain of zinc finger proteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **93**, 15299-15304.
- Lechner M. S., Begg G. E., Speicher D. W. & Rauscher F. J., 3rd. (2000) Molecular determinants for targeting heterochromatin protein 1-mediated gene silencing: direct chromoshadow domain-KAP-1 corepressor interaction is essential. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 20, 6449-6465.
- 44. Nielsen A. L., Ortiz J. A., You J., Oulad-Abdelghani M., Khechumian R., Gansmuller A., Chambon P. & Losson R. (1999) Interaction with members of the heterochromatin protein 1 (HP1) family and histone deacetylation are differentially involved in transcriptional silencing by members of the TIF1 family. *EMBO J.* 18, 6385-6395.
- 45. Ryan K. M., Phillips A. C. & Vousden K. H. (2001) Regulation and function of the p53 tumor suppressor protein. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* **13**, 332-337.
- Ryan R. F., Schultz D. C., Ayyanathan K., Singh P. B., Friedman J. R., Fredericks W. J. & Rauscher F. J., 3rd. (1999) KAP-1 corepressor protein interacts and colocalizes with heterochromatic and euchromatic HP1 proteins: a potential role for Kruppel-associated box-zinc finger proteins in heterochromatin-mediated gene silencing. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 19, 4366-4378.
- Chang C. W., Chou H. Y., Lin Y. S., Huang K. H., Chang C. J., Hsu T. C. & Lee S. C. (2008) Phosphorylation at Ser473 regulates heterochromatin protein 1 binding and corepressor function of TIF1beta/KAP1. *BMC Mol. Biol.* 9, 61.
- 48. Schultz D. C., Friedman J. R. & Rauscher F. J., 3rd. (2001) Targeting histone deacetylase complexes via KRAB-zinc finger proteins: the PHD and bromodomains of KAP-1 form a cooperative unit that recruits a novel isoform of the Mi-2alpha subunit of NuRD. *Genes Dev.* **15**, 428-443.

- 49. Schultz D. C., Ayyanathan K., Negorev D., Maul G. G. & Rauscher F. J., 3rd. (2002) SETDB1: a novel KAP-1-associated histone H3, lysine 9-specific methyltransferase that contributes to HP1-mediated silencing of euchromatic genes by KRAB zincfinger proteins. *Genes Dev.* **16**, 919-932.
- Ivanov A. V., Peng H., Yurchenko V., Yap K. L., Negorev D. G., Schultz D. C., Psulkowski E., Fredericks W. J., White D. E., Maul G. G., Sadofsky M. J., Zhou M. M. & Rauscher F. J.,3rd. (2007) PHD domain-mediated E3 ligase activity directs intramolecular sumoylation of an adjacent bromodomain required for gene silencing. *Mol. Cell* 28, 823-837.
- Zeng L., Yap K. L., Ivanov A. V., Wang X., Mujtaba S., Plotnikova O., Rauscher F. J., 3rd & Zhou M. M. (2008) Structural insights into human KAP1 PHD fingerbromodomain and its role in gene silencing. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* 15, 626-633.
- 52. Moosmann P., Georgiev O., Le Douarin B., Bourquin J. P. & Schaffner W. (1996) Transcriptional repression by RING finger protein TIF1 beta that interacts with the KRAB repressor domain of KOX1. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **24**, 4859-4867.
- Abrink M., Ortiz J. A., Mark C., Sanchez C., Looman C., Hellman L., Chambon P. & Losson R. (2001) Conserved interaction between distinct Kruppel-associated box domains and the transcriptional intermediary factor 1 beta. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 98, 1422-1426.
- 54. Bellefroid E. J., Poncelet D. A., Lecocq P. J., Revelant O. & Martial J. A. (1991) The evolutionarily conserved Kruppel-associated box domain defines a subfamily of eukaryotic multifingered proteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **88**, 3608-3612.
- Margolin J. F., Friedman J. R., Meyer W. K., Vissing H., Thiesen H. J. & Rauscher F. J.,3rd. (1994) Kruppel-associated boxes are potent transcriptional repression domains. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 91, 4509-4513.
- 56. Huntley S., Baggott D. M., Hamilton A. T., Tran-Gyamfi M., Yang S., Kim J., Gordon L., Branscomb E. & Stubbs L. (2006) A comprehensive catalog of human KRAB-associated zinc finger genes: insights into the evolutionary history of a large family of transcriptional repressors. *Genome Res.* **16**, 669-677.
- O'Geen H., Squazzo S. L., Iyengar S., Blahnik K., Rinn J. L., Chang H. Y., Green R. & Farnham P. J. (2007) Genome-wide analysis of KAP1 binding suggests autoregulation of KRAB-ZNFs. *PLoS Genet.* 3, e89.
- Peng H., Begg G. E., Harper S. L., Friedman J. R., Speicher D. W. & Rauscher F. J., 3rd. (2000) Biochemical analysis of the Kruppel-associated box (KRAB) transcriptional repression domain. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275, 18000-18010.

- 59. Peng H., Begg G. E., Schultz D. C., Friedman J. R., Jensen D. E., Speicher D. W. & Rauscher F. J., 3rd. (2000) Reconstitution of the KRAB-KAP-1 repressor complex: a model system for defining the molecular anatomy of RING-B box-coiled-coil domain-mediated protein-protein interactions. *J. Mol. Biol.* **295**, 1139-1162.
- Peng H., Gibson L. C., Capili A. D., Borden K. L., Osborne M. J., Harper S. L., Speicher D. W., Zhao K., Marmorstein R., Rock T. A. & Rauscher F. J., 3rd. (2007) The structurally disordered KRAB repression domain is incorporated into a protease resistant core upon binding to KAP-1-RBCC domain. *J. Mol. Biol.* 370, 269-289.
- 61. Spector D. L. (1993) Macromolecular domains within the cell nucleus. *Annu. Rev. Cell Biol.* **9**, 265-315.
- 62. Sutherland H. G., Mumford G. K., Newton K., Ford L. V., Farrall R., Dellaire G., Caceres J. F. & Bickmore W. A. (2001) Large-scale identification of mammalian proteins localized to nuclear sub-compartments. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* **10**, 1995-2011.
- 63. Andersen J. S., Lam Y. W., Leung A. K., Ong S. E., Lyon C. E., Lamond A. I. & Mann M. (2005) Nucleolar proteome dynamics. *Nature* **433**, 77-83.
- 64. Shaw P. J., Jordan E. G. (1995) The nucleolus. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 11, 93-121.
- 65. Raska I., Shaw P. J. & Cmarko D. (2006) Structure and function of the nucleolus in the spotlight. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* **18**, 325-334.
- 66. Fatica A., Tollervey D. (2002) Making ribosomes. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 14, 313-318.
- Leung A. K., Gerlich D., Miller G., Lyon C., Lam Y. W., Lleres D., Daigle N., Zomerdijk J., Ellenberg J. & Lamond A. I. (2004) Quantitative kinetic analysis of nucleolar breakdown and reassembly during mitosis in live human cells. *J. Cell Biol.* 166, 787-800.
- 68. Dimario P. J. (2004) Cell and molecular biology of nucleolar assembly and ' disassembly. *Int. Rev. Cytol.* **239**, 99-178.
- 69. Pederson T. (1998) The plurifunctional nucleolus. Nucleic Acids Res. 26, 3871-3876.
- 70. Mayer C., Grummt I. (2005) Cellular stress and nucleolar function. *Cell. Cycle* **4**, 1036-1038.
- 71. Dellaire G., Bazett-Jones D. P. (2007) Beyond repair foci: subnuclear domains and the cellular response to DNA damage. *Cell. Cycle* **6**, 1864-1872.

- 72. Chen D., Huang S. (2001) Nucleolar components involved in ribosome biogenesis cycle between the nucleolus and nucleoplasm in interphase cells. *J. Cell Biol.* **153**, 169-176.
- 73. Phair R. D., Misteli T. (2000) High mobility of proteins in the mammalian cell nucleus. *Nature* **404**, 604-609.
- Daniely Y., Dimitrova D. D. & Borowiec J. A. (2002) Stress-dependent nucleolin mobilization mediated by p53-nucleolin complex formation. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 22, 6014-6022.
- 75. Fatyol K., Szalay A. A. (2001) The p14ARF tumor suppressor protein facilitates nucleolar sequestration of hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha (HIF-1alpha) and inhibits HIF-1-mediated transcription. *J. Biol. Chem.* **276**, 28421-28429.
- Govoni M., Farabegoli F., Pession A. & Novello F. (1994) Inhibition of topoisomerase II activity and its effect on nucleolar structure and function. *Exp. Cell Res.* 211, 36-41.
- Shav-Tal Y., Blechman J., Darzacq X., Montagna C., Dye B. T., Patton J. G., Singer R. H. & Zipori D. (2005) Dynamic sorting of nuclear components into distinct nucleolar caps during transcriptional inhibition. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 16, 2395-2413.
- 78. Cajal S. (1903) Un sencillo metodo de coloracion selectiva del reticulo protoplasmatico y sus efectos en los diversos organos nerviosos de vertebrados e invertebrados. *Trab. Lab. Invest. Biol (Madrid)* **2**, 129-221.
- 79. Gall J. G. (2003) The centennial of the Cajal body. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 4, 975-980.
- 80. Gall J. G. (2000) Cajal bodies: the first 100 years. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 16, 273-300.
- 81. Cioce M., Lamond A. I. (2005) Cajal bodies: a long history of discovery. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* **21**, 105-131.
- 82. Ogg S. C., Lamond A. I. (2002) Cajal bodies and coilin--moving towards function. J. *Cell Biol.* **159**, 17-21.
- Andrade L. E., Tan E. M. & Chan E. K. (1993) Immunocytochemical analysis of the coiled body in the cell cycle and during cell proliferation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 90, 1947-1951.

- 84. Carmo-Fonseca M., Ferreira J. & Lamond A. I. (1993) Assembly of snRNPcontaining coiled bodies is regulated in interphase and mitosis--evidence that the coiled body is a kinetic nuclear structure. *J. Cell Biol.* **120**, 841-852.
- 85. Platani M., Goldberg I., Lamond A. I. & Swedlow J. R. (2002) Cajal body dynamics and association with chromatin are ATP-dependent. *Nat. Cell Biol.* **4**, 502-508.
- 86. Raska I., Andrade L. E., Ochs R. L., Chan E. K., Chang C. M., Roos G. & Tan E. M. (1991) Immunological and ultrastructural studies of the nuclear coiled body with autoimmune antibodies. *Exp. Cell Res.* **195**, 27-37.
- Tucker K. E., Berciano M. T., Jacobs E. Y., LePage D. F., Shpargel K. B., Rossire J. J., Chan E. K., Lafarga M., Conlon R. A. & Matera A. G. (2001) Residual Cajal bodies in coilin knockout mice fail to recruit Sm snRNPs and SMN, the spinal muscular atrophy gene product. *J. Cell Biol.* 154, 293-307.
- Carmo-Fonseca M., Pepperkok R., Carvalho M. T. & Lamond A. I. (1992) Transcription-dependent colocalization of the U1, U2, U4/U6, and U5 snRNPs in coiled bodies. J. Cell Biol. 117, 1-14.
- 89. Gall J. G., Bellini M., Wu Z. & Murphy C. (1999) Assembly of the nuclear transcription and processing machinery: Cajal bodies (coiled bodies) and transcriptosomes. *Mol. Biol. Cell* **10**, 4385-4402.
- 90. Narayanan A., Speckmann W., Terns R. & Terns M. P. (1999) Role of the box C/D motif in localization of small nucleolar RNAs to coiled bodies and nucleoli. *Mol. Biol. Cell* **10**, 2131-2147.
- 91. Wu C. H., Murphy C. & Gall J. G. (1996) The Sm binding site targets U7 snRNA to coiled bodies (spheres) of amphibian oocytes. *RNA* **2**, 811-823.
- 92. Wu C. H., Gall J. G. (1993) U7 small nuclear RNA in C snurposomes of the Xenopus germinal vesicle. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **90**, 6257-6259.
- 93. Thiry M. (1994) Cytochemical and immunocytochemical study of coiled bodies in different cultured cell lines. *Chromosoma* **103**, 268-276.
- 94. Cioce M., Boulon S., Matera A. G. & Lamond A. I. (2006) UV-induced fragmentation of Cajal bodies. J. Cell Biol. 175, 401-413.
- 95. Young P. J., Day P. M., Zhou J., Androphy E. J., Morris G. E. & Lorson C. L. (2002) A direct interaction between the survival motor neuron protein and p53 and its relationship to spinal muscular atrophy. *J. Biol. Chem.* **277**, 2852-2859.

- 96. Ascoli C. A., Maul G. G. (1991) Identification of a novel nuclear domain. J. Cell Biol. 112, 785-795.
- 97. Bernstein R. M., Neuberger J. M., Bunn C. C., Callender M. E., Hughes G. R. & Williams R. (1984) Diversity of autoantibodies in primary biliary cirrhosis and chronic active hepatitis. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* **55**, 553-560.
- 98. Maul G. G., Negorev D., Bell P. & Ishov A. M. (2000) Review: properties and assembly mechanisms of ND10, PML bodies, or PODs. J. Struct. Biol. 129, 278-287.
- Stuurman N., de Graaf A., Floore A., Josso A., Humbel B., de Jong L. & van Driel R. (1992) A monoclonal antibody recognizing nuclear matrix-associated nuclear bodies. J. Cell. Sci. 101, 773-784.
- 100.Boisvert F. M., Hendzel M. J. & Bazett-Jones D. P. (2000) Promyelocytic leukemia (PML) nuclear bodies are protein structures that do not accumulate RNA. *J. Cell Biol.* **148**, 283-292.
- 101.Dellaire G., Bazett-Jones D. P. (2004) PML nuclear bodies: dynamic sensors of DNA damage and cellular stress. *Bioessays* 26, 963-977.
- 102.Eskiw C. H., Dellaire G. & Bazett-Jones D. P. (2004) Chromatin contributes to structural integrity of promyelocytic leukemia bodies through a SUMO-1-independent mechanism. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 9577-9585.
- 103.Dyck J. A., Maul G. G., Miller W. H., Jr, Chen J. D., Kakizuka A. & Evans R. M. (1994) A novel macromolecular structure is a target of the promyelocyte-retinoic acid receptor oncoprotein. *Cell* 76, 333-343.
- 104. Ishov A. M., Sotnikov A. G., Negorev D., Vladimirova O. V., Neff N., Kamitani T., Yeh E. T., Strauss J. F., 3rd & Maul G. G. (1999) PML is critical for ND10 formation and recruits the PML-interacting protein daxx to this nuclear structure when modified by SUMO-1. J. Cell Biol. 147, 221-234.
- 105.Sternsdorf T., Jensen K. & Will H. (1997) Evidence for covalent modification of the nuclear dot-associated proteins PML and Sp100 by PIC1/SUMO-1. *J. Cell Biol.* **139**, 1621-1634.
- 106. Duprez E., Saurin A. J., Desterro J. M., Lallemand-Breitenbach V., Howe K., Boddy M. N., Solomon E., de The H., Hay R. T. & Freemont P. S. (1999) SUMO-1 modification of the acute promyelocytic leukaemia protein PML: implications for nuclear localisation. J. Cell. Sci. 112, 381-393.
- 107.Zhong S., Muller S., Ronchetti S., Freemont P. S., Dejean A. & Pandolfi P. P. (2000) Role of SUMO-1-modified PML in nuclear body formation. *Blood* **95**, 2748-2752.

107

- 108.Gao C., Ho C. C., Reineke E., Lam M., Cheng X., Stanya K. J., Liu Y., Chakraborty S., Shih H. M. & Kao H. Y. (2008) Histone deacetylase 7 promotes PML sumoylation and is essential for PML nuclear body formation. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 28, 5658-5667.
- 109. Nacerddine K., Lehembre F., Bhaumik M., Artus J., Cohen-Tannoudji M., Babinet C., Pandolfi P. P. & Dejean A. (2005) The SUMO pathway is essential for nuclear integrity and chromosome segregation in mice. *Dev. Cell.* **9**, 769-779.
- 110.Gao C., Cheng X., Lam M., Liu Y., Liu Q., Chang K. S. & Kao H. Y. (2008) Signaldependent regulation of transcription by histone deacetylase 7 involves recruitment to promyelocytic leukemia protein nuclear bodies. *Mol. Biol. Cell* **19**, 3020-3027.
- 111.Bailey D., O'Hare P. (2002) Herpes simplex virus 1 ICP0 co-localizes with a SUMO-specific protease. J. Gen. Virol. 83, 2951-2964.
- 112.Best J. L., Ganiatsas S., Agarwal S., Changou A., Salomoni P., Shirihai O., Meluh P. B., Pandolfi P. P. & Zon L. I. (2002) SUMO-1 protease-1 regulates gene transcription through PML. *Mol. Cell* **10**, 843-855.
- 113. Nefkens I., Negorev D. G., Ishov A. M., Michaelson J. S., Yeh E. T., Tanguay R. M., Muller W. E. & Maul G. G. (2003) Heat shock and Cd2+ exposure regulate PML and Daxx release from ND10 by independent mechanisms that modify the induction of heat-shock proteins 70 and 25 differently. *J. Cell. Sci.* **116**, 513-524.
- 114.Dellaire G., Ching R. W., Dehghani H., Ren Y. & Bazett-Jones D. P. (2006) The number of PML nuclear bodies increases in early S phase by a fission mechanism. *J. Cell. Sci.* **119**, 1026-1033.
- 115.Eskiw C. H., Dellaire G., Mymryk J. S. & Bazett-Jones D. P. (2003) Size, position and dynamic behavior of PML nuclear bodies following cell stress as a paradigm for supramolecular trafficking and assembly. *J. Cell. Sci.* **116**, 4455-4466.
- 116. Ishov A. M., Vladimirova O. V. & Maul G. G. (2004) Heterochromatin and ND10 are cell-cycle regulated and phosphorylation-dependent alternate nuclear sites of the transcription repressor Daxx and SWI/SNF protein ATRX. *J. Cell. Sci.* **117**, 3807-3820.
- 117.Everett R. D., Lomonte P., Sternsdorf T., van Driel R. & Orr A. (1999) Cell cycle regulation of PML modification and ND10 composition. *J. Cell. Sci.* **112 (Pt 24)**, 4581-4588.
- 118.Dellaire G., Eskiw C. H., Dehghani H., Ching R. W. & Bazett-Jones D. P. (2006) Mitotic accumulations of PML protein contribute to the re-establishment of PML nuclear bodies in G1. J. Cell. Sci. **119**, 1034-1042.

- 119.Dellaire G., Ching R. W., Ahmed K., Jalali F., Tse K. C., Bristow R. G. & Bazett-Jones D. P. (2006) Promyelocytic leukemia nuclear bodies behave as DNA damage sensors whose response to DNA double-strand breaks is regulated by NBS1 and the kinases ATM, Chk2, and ATR. J. Cell Biol. 175, 55-66.
- 120.Dellaire, G., Nisman, R. & Bazett-Jones, D. P. (2004). Correlative light and electron spectroscopc imaging of chromatin. In *Molecular cytology of chromatin functions. methods in enzymology*. pp. 456-478.
- 121.Fagioli M., Alcalay M., Pandolfi P. P., Venturini L., Mencarelli A., Simeone A., Acampora D., Grignani F. & Pelicci P. G. (1992) Alternative splicing of PML transcripts predicts coexpression of several carboxy-terminally different protein isoforms. *Oncogene* 7, 1083-1091.
- 122. Jensen K., Shiels C. & Freemont P. S. (2001) PML protein isoforms and the RBCC/TRIM motif. *Oncogene* **20**, 7223-7233.
- 123.Condemine W., Takahashi Y., Zhu J., Puvion-Dutilleul F., Guegan S., Janin A. & de The H. (2006) Characterization of endogenous human promyelocytic leukemia isoforms. *Cancer Res.* **66**, 6192-6198.
- 124.Borden K. L., Boddy M. N., Lally J., O'Reilly N. J., Martin S., Howe K., Solomon E. & Freemont P. S. (1995) The solution structure of the RING finger domain from the acute promyelocytic leukaemia proto-oncoprotein PML. *EMBO J.* 14, 1532-1541.
- 125.Borden K. L. (1998) RING fingers and B-boxes: zinc-binding protein-protein interaction domains. *Biochem. Cell Biol.* **76**, 351-358.
- 126.Henderson B. R., Eleftheriou A. (2000) A comparison of the activity, sequence specificity, and CRM1-dependence of different nuclear export signals. *Exp. Cell Res.* 256, 213-224.
- 127.Nguyen L. A., Pandolfi P. P., Aikawa Y., Tagata Y., Ohki M. & Kitabayashi I. (2005) Physical and functional link of the leukemia-associated factors AML1 and PML. *Blood* **105**, 292-300.
- 128. Condemine W., Takahashi Y., Le Bras M. & de The H. (2007) A nucleolar targeting signal in PML-I addresses PML to nucleolar caps in stressed or senescent cells. *J. Cell. Sci.* **120**, 3219-3227.
- 129.Bernardi R., Scaglioni P. P., Bergmann S., Horn H. F., Vousden K. H. & Pandolfi P. P. (2004) PML regulates p53 stability by sequestering Mdm2 to the nucleolus. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 6, 665-672.

- 130.Fogal V., Gostissa M., Sandy P., Zacchi P., Sternsdorf T., Jensen K., Pandolfi P. P., Will H., Schneider C. & Del Sal G. (2000) Regulation of p53 activity in nuclear bodies by a specific PML isoform. *EMBO J.* **19**, 6185-6195.
- 131. Wu W. S., Vallian S., Seto E., Yang W. M., Edmondson D., Roth S. & Chang K. S. (2001) The growth suppressor PML represses transcription by functionally and physically interacting with histone deacetylases. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **21**, 2259-2268.
- 132.Oh W., Ghim J., Lee E. W., Yang M. R., Kim E. T., Ahn J. H. & Song J. (2009) PML-IV functions as a negative regulator of telomerase by interacting with TERT. J. Cell. Sci. **122**, 2613-2622.
- 133.Beech S. J., Lethbridge K. J., Killick N., McGlincy N. & Leppard K. N. (2005) Isoforms of the promyelocytic leukemia protein differ in their effects on ND10 organization. *Exp. Cell Res.* **307**, 109-117.
- 134. Ching R. W., Dellaire G., Eskiw C. H. & Bazett-Jones D. P. (2005) PML bodies: a meeting place for genomic loci? J. Cell. Sci. 118, 847-854.
- 135. Shiels C., Islam S. A., Vatcheva R., Sasieni P., Sternberg M. J., Freemont P. S. & Sheer D. (2001) PML bodies associate specifically with the MHC gene cluster in interphase nuclei. *J. Cell. Sci.* **114**, 3705-3716.
- 136. Wang J., Shiels C., Sasieni P., Wu P. J., Islam S. A., Freemont P. S. & Sheer D. (2004) Promyelocytic leukemia nuclear bodies associate with transcriptionally active genomic regions. J. Cell Biol. 164, 515-526.
- 137. Chang S. K., Park B., Shin J., Ahn J. H., Kim I. H. & Ahn K. (2002) Proto-oncogene PML enhances antigen presentation by MHC class I molecules in human lung cancer cells. *Mol. Cells* 14, 130-135.
- 138.Bruno S., Ghiotto F., Fais F., Fagioli M., Luzi L., Pelicci P. G., Grossi C. E. & Ciccone E. (2003) The PML gene is not involved in the regulation of MHC class I expression in human cell lines. *Blood* **101**, 3514-3519.
- 139.Larghero J., Zassadowski F., Rousselot P., Padua R. A., Degos L. & Chomienne C. (1999) Alteration of the PML proto-oncogene in leukemic cells does not abrogate expression of MHC class I antigens. *Leukemia* 13, 1295-1296.
- 140.Sun Y., Durrin L. K. & Krontiris T. G. (2003) Specific interaction of PML bodies with the TP53 locus in Jurkat interphase nuclei. *Genomics* 82, 250-252.
- 141.Everett R. D. (2001) DNA viruses and viral proteins that interact with PML nuclear bodies. *Oncogene* **20**, 7266-7273.

- 142. Maul G. G., Ishov A. M. & Everett R. D. (1996) Nuclear domain 10 as preexisting potential replication start sites of herpes simplex virus type-1. *Virology* **217**, 67-75.
- 143. Ishov A. M., Stenberg R. M. & Maul G. G. (1997) Human cytomegalovirus immediate early interaction with host nuclear structures: definition of an immediate transcript environment. *J. Cell Biol.* **138**, 5-16.
- 144.Zhong S., Salomoni P. & Pandolfi P. P. (2000) The transcriptional role of PML and the nuclear body. *Nat. Cell Biol.* **2**, 85-90.
- 145.Block G. J., Eskiw C. H., Dellaire G. & Bazett-Jones D. P. (2006) Transcriptional regulation is affected by subnuclear targeting of reporter plasmids to PML nuclear bodies. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **26**, 8814-8825.
- 146. Strudwick S., Borden K. L. (2002) Finding a role for PML in APL pathogenesis: a critical assessment of potential PML activities. *Leukemia* **16**, 1906-1917.
- 147. Dellaire G., Farrall R. & Bickmore W. A. (2003) The Nuclear Protein Database (NPD): sub-nuclear localisation and functional annotation of the nuclear proteome. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **31**, 328-330.
- 148. Weidtkamp-Peters S., Lenser T., Negorev D., Gerstner N., Hofmann T. G., Schwanitz G., Hoischen C., Maul G., Dittrich P. & Hemmerich P. (2008) Dynamics of component exchange at PML nuclear bodies. J. Cell. Sci. **121**, 2731-2743.
- 149.Bernardi R., Pandolfi P. P. (2007) Structure, dynamics and functions of promyelocytic leukaemia nuclear bodies. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 8, 1006-1016.
- 150.Borden K. L. (2002) Pondering the promyelocytic leukemia protein (PML) puzzle: possible functions for PML nuclear bodies. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **22**, 5259-5269.
- 151. Negorev D., Maul G. G. (2001) Cellular proteins localized at and interacting within ND10/PML nuclear bodies/PODs suggest functions of a nuclear depot. *Oncogene* **20**, 7234-7242.
- 152.Hofmann T. G., Moller A., Sirma H., Zentgraf H., Taya Y., Droge W., Will H. & Schmitz M. L. (2002) Regulation of p53 activity by its interaction with homeodomain-interacting protein kinase-2. *Nat. Cell Biol.* **4**, 1-10.
- 153.D'Orazi G., Cecchinelli B., Bruno T., Manni I., Higashimoto Y., Saito S., Gostissa M., Coen S., Marchetti A., Del Sal G., Piaggio G., Fanciulli M., Appella E. & Soddu S. (2002) Homeodomain-interacting protein kinase-2 phosphorylates p53 at Ser 46 and mediates apoptosis. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 4, 11-19.

- 154. Everett R. D., Orr A. & Preston C. M. (1998) A viral activator of gene expression functions via the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway. *EMBO J.* **17**, 7161-7169.
- 155.Everett R. D., Freemont P., Saitoh H., Dasso M., Orr A., Kathoria M. & Parkinson J. (1998) The disruption of ND10 during herpes simplex virus infection correlates with the Vmw110- and proteasome-dependent loss of several PML isoforms. *J. Virol.* 72, 6581-6591.
- 156. Maul G. G., Guldner H. H. & Spivack J. G. (1993) Modification of discrete nuclear domains induced by herpes simplex virus type 1 immediate early gene 1 product (ICP0). J. Gen. Virol. 74, 2679-2690.
- 157.McNally B. A., Trgovcich J., Maul G. G., Liu Y. & Zheng P. (2008) A role for cytoplasmic PML in cellular resistance to viral infection. *PLoS ONE* **3**, e2277
- 158.Lallemand-Breitenbach V., Zhu J., Puvion F., Koken M., Honore N., Doubeikovsky A., Duprez E., Pandolfi P. P., Puvion E., Freemont P. & de The H. (2001) Role of promyelocytic leukemia (PML) sumolation in nuclear body formation, 11S proteasome recruitment, and As2O3-induced PML or PML/retinoic acid receptor alpha degradation. J. Exp. Med. 193, 1361-1371.
- 159.Kumar P. P., Bischof O., Purbey P. K., Notani D., Urlaub H., Dejean A. & Galande S. (2007) Functional interaction between PML and SATB1 regulates chromatin-loop architecture and transcription of the MHC class I locus. *Nat. Cell Biol.* **9**, 45-56.
- 160.LaMorte V. J., Dyck J. A., Ochs R. L. & Evans R. M. (1998) Localization of nascent RNA and CREB binding protein with the PML-containing nuclear body. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 95, 4991-4996.
- 161. Alcalay M., Tomassoni L., Colombo E., Stoldt S., Grignani F., Fagioli M., Szekely L., Helin K. & Pelicci P. G. (1998) The promyelocytic leukemia gene product (PML) forms stable complexes with the retinoblastoma protein. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 18, 1084-1093.
- 162. Seeler J. S., Marchio A., Sitterlin D., Transy C. & Dejean A. (1998) Interaction of SP100 with HP1 proteins: a link between the promyelocytic leukemia-associated nuclear bodies and the chromatin compartment. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 95, 7316-7321.
- 163. Luciani J. J., Depetris D., Usson Y., Metzler-Guillemain C., Mignon-Ravix C., Mitchell M. J., Megarbane A., Sarda P., Sirma H., Moncla A., Feunteun J. & Mattei M. G. (2006) PML nuclear bodies are highly organised DNA-protein structures with a function in heterochromatin remodelling at the G2 phase. J. Cell. Sci. 119, 2518-2531.

- 164.Salomoni P., Pandolfi P. P. (2002) The role of PML in tumor suppression. *Cell* **108**, 165-170.
- 165. Salomoni P., Ferguson B. J., Wyllie A. H. & Rich T. (2008) New insights into the role of PML in tumour suppression. *Cell Res.* **18**, 622-640.
- 166.de The H., Chomienne C., Lanotte M., Degos L. & Dejean A. (1990) The t(15;17) translocation of acute promyelocytic leukaemia fuses the retinoic acid receptor alpha gene to a novel transcribed locus. *Nature* **347**, 558-561.
- 167.de The H., Lavau C., Marchio A., Chomienne C., Degos L. & Dejean A. (1991) The PML-RAR alpha fusion mRNA generated by the t(15;17) translocation in acute promyelocytic leukemia encodes a functionally altered RAR. *Cell* **66**, 675-684.
- 168. Grimwade D., Gorman P., Duprez E., Howe K., Langabeer S., Oliver F., Walker H., Culligan D., Waters J., Pomfret M., Goldstone A., Burnett A., Freemont P., Sheer D. & Solomon E. (1997) Characterization of cryptic rearrangements and variant translocations in acute promyelocytic leukemia. *Blood* **90**, 4876-4885.
- 169. Joe Y., Jeong J. H., Yang S., Kang H., Motoyama N., Pandolfi P. P., Chung J. H. & Kim M. K. (2006) ATR, PML, and CHK2 play a role in arsenic trioxide-induced apoptosis. *J. Biol. Chem.* **281**, 28764-28771.
- 170.Lallemand-Breitenbach V., Jeanne M., Benhenda S., Nasr R., Lei M., Peres L., Zhou J., Zhu J., Raught B. & de The H. (2008) Arsenic degrades PML or PML-RARalpha through a SUMO-triggered RNF4/ubiquitin-mediated pathway. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 10, 547-555.
- 171. Tatham M. H., Geoffroy M. C., Shen L., Plechanovova A., Hattersley N., Jaffray E. G., Palvimo J. J. & Hay R. T. (2008) RNF4 is a poly-SUMO-specific E3 ubiquitin ligase required for arsenic-induced PML degradation. *Nat. Cell Biol.* **10**, 538-546.
- 172.Gurrieri C., Capodieci P., Bernardi R., Scaglioni P. P., Nafa K., Rush L. J., Verbel D. A., Cordon-Cardo C. & Pandolfi P. P. (2004) Loss of the tumor suppressor PML in human cancers of multiple histologic origins. *J. Natl. Cancer Inst.* **96**, 269-279.
- 173. Wang Z. G., Ruggero D., Ronchetti S., Zhong S., Gaboli M., Rivi R. & Pandolfi P. P. (1998) PML is essential for multiple apoptotic pathways. *Nat. Genet.* **20**, 266-272.
- 174. Scaglioni P. P., Yung T. M., Cai L. F., Erdjument-Bromage H., Kaufman A. J., Singh B., Teruya-Feldstein J., Tempst P. & Pandolfi P. P. (2006) A CK2-dependent mechanism for degradation of the PML tumor suppressor. *Cell* **126**, 269-283.

- 175.Reineke E. L., Lam M., Liu Q., Liu Y., Stanya K. J., Chang K. S., Means A. R. & Kao H. Y. (2008) Degradation of the tumor suppressor PML by Pin1 contributes to the cancer phenotype of breast cancer MDA-MB-231 cells. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 28, 997-1006.
- 176. Hayakawa F., Privalsky M. L. (2004) Phosphorylation of PML by mitogen-activated protein kinases plays a key role in arsenic trioxide-mediated apoptosis. *Cancer. Cell.* 5, 389-401.
- 177.Luo J., Manning B. D. & Cantley L. C. (2003) Targeting the PI3K-Akt pathway in human cancer: rationale and promise. *Cancer. Cell.* **4**, 257-262.
- 178. Cantley L. C. (2002) The phosphoinositide 3-kinase pathway. *Science* **296**, 1655-1657.
- 179. Vivanco I., Sawyers C. L. (2002) The phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase AKT pathway in human cancer. *Nat. Rev. Cancer.* **2**, 489-501.
- 180.Cantley L. C., Neel B. G. (1999) New insights into tumor suppression: PTEN suppresses tumor formation by restraining the phosphoinositide 3-kinase/AKT pathway. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **96**, 4240-4245.
- 181. Trotman L. C., Alimonti A., Scaglioni P. P., Koutcher J. A., Cordon-Cardo C. & Pandolfi P. P. (2006) Identification of a tumour suppressor network opposing nuclear Akt function. *Nature* 441, 523-527.
- 182. Trotman L. C., Wang X., Alimonti A., Chen Z., Teruya-Feldstein J., Yang H., Pavletich N. P., Carver B. S., Cordon-Cardo C., Erdjument-Bromage H., Tempst P., Chi S. G., Kim H. J., Misteli T., Jiang X. & Pandolfi P. P. (2007) Ubiquitination regulates PTEN nuclear import and tumor suppression. *Cell* **128**, 141-156.
- 183.Song M. S., Salmena L., Carracedo A., Egia A., Lo-Coco F., Teruya-Feldstein J. & Pandolfi P. P. (2008) The deubiquitinylation and localization of PTEN are regulated by a HAUSP-PML network. *Nature* **455**, 813-817.
- 184.Guo A., Salomoni P., Luo J., Shih A., Zhong S., Gu W. & Pandolfi P. P. (2000) The function of PML in p53-dependent apoptosis. *Nat. Cell Biol.* **2**, 730-736.
- 185.Pearson M., Pelicci P. G. (2001) PML interaction with p53 and its role in apoptosis and replicative senescence. *Oncogene* **20**, 7250-7256.
- 186. Louria-Hayon I., Grossman T., Sionov R. V., Alsheich O., Pandolfi P. P. & Haupt Y. (2003) The promyelocytic leukemia protein protects p53 from Mdm2-mediated inhibition and degradation. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 33134-33141.

- 187.Kurki S., Latonen L. & Laiho M. (2003) Cellular stress and DNA damage invoke temporally distinct Mdm2, p53 and PML complexes and damage-specific nuclear relocalization. *J. Cell. Sci.* **116**, 3917-3925.
- 188.Bischof O., Kirsh O., Pearson M., Itahana K., Pelicci P. G. & Dejean A. (2002) Deconstructing PML-induced premature senescence. *EMBO J.* **21**, 3358-3369.
- 189. Ferbeyre G., de Stanchina E., Querido E., Baptiste N., Prives C. & Lowe S. W.(2000) PML is induced by oncogenic ras and promotes premature senescence. *Genes Dev.* 14, 2015-2027.
- 190.Bernardi R., Pandolfi P. P. (2003) Role of PML and the PML-nuclear body in the control of programmed cell death. *Oncogene* 22, 9048-9057.
- 191.de Stanchina E., Querido E., Narita M., Davuluri R. V., Pandolfi P. P., Ferbeyre G. & Lowe S. W. (2004) PML is a direct p53 target that modulates p53 effector functions. *Mol. Cell* **13**, 523-535.
- 192.Pearson M., Carbone R., Sebastiani C., Cioce M., Fagioli M., Saito S., Higashimoto Y., Appella E., Minucci S., Pandolfi P. P. & Pelicci P. G. (2000) PML regulates p53 acetylation and premature senescence induced by oncogenic Ras. *Nature* 406, 207-210.
- 193.Zhang R., Poustovoitov M. V., Ye X., Santos H. A., Chen W., Daganzo S. M., Erzberger J. P., Serebriiskii I. G., Canutescu A. A., Dunbrack R. L., Pehrson J. R., Berger J. M., Kaufman P. D. & Adams P. D. (2005) Formation of MacroH2Acontaining senescence-associated heterochromatin foci and senescence driven by ASF1a and HIRA. *Dev. Cell.* 8, 19-30.
- 194. Ye X., Zerlanko B., Kennedy A., Banumathy G., Zhang R. & Adams P. D. (2007) Downregulation of Wnt signaling is a trigger for formation of facultative heterochromatin and onset of cell senescence in primary human cells. *Mol. Cell* 27, 183-196.
- 195. Zhong S., Salomoni P., Ronchetti S., Guo A., Ruggero D. & Pandolfi P. P. (2000) Promyelocytic leukemia protein (PML) and Daxx participate in a novel nuclear pathway for apoptosis. *J. Exp. Med.* **191**, 631-640.
- 196. Takahashi Y., Lallemand-Breitenbach V., Zhu J. & de The H. (2004) PML nuclear bodies and apoptosis. *Oncogene* 23, 2819-2824.
- 197.Lin H. K., Bergmann S. & Pandolfi P. P. (2004) Cytoplasmic PML function in TGFbeta signalling. *Nature* **431**, 205-211.

- 198. Yang S., Kuo C., Bisi J. E. & Kim M. K. (2002) PML-dependent apoptosis after DNA damage is regulated by the checkpoint kinase hCds1/Chk2. *Nat. Cell Biol.* **4**, 865-870.
- 199.Yang S., Jeong J. H., Brown A. L., Lee C. H., Pandolfi P. P., Chung J. H. & Kim M. K. (2006) Promyelocytic leukemia activates Chk2 by mediating Chk2 autophosphorylation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 281, 26645-26654.
- 200. Ito K., Bernardi R., Morotti A., Matsuoka S., Saglio G., Ikeda Y., Rosenblatt J., Avigan D. E., Teruya-Feldstein J. & Pandolfi P. P. (2008) PML targeting eradicates quiescent leukaemia-initiating cells. *Nature* **453**, 1072-1078.
- 201. Salomoni P. (2009) Stemming out of a new PML era? *Cell Death Differ.* **8**, 1083-1092.
- 202. Shiloh Y. (2001) ATM and ATR: networking cellular responses to DNA damage. *Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev.* **11**, 71-77.
- 203. Shiloh Y. (2003) ATM and related protein kinases: safeguarding genome integrity. *Nat. Rev. Cancer.* **3**, 155-168.
- 204.Kurz E. U., Lees-Miller S. P. (2004) DNA damage-induced activation of ATM and ATM-dependent signaling pathways. *DNA Repair (Amst)* **3**, 889-900.
- 205.Harper J. W., Elledge S. J. (2007) The DNA damage response: ten years after. *Mol. Cell* 28, 739-745.
- 206. Alderton G. K., Joenje H., Varon R., Borglum A. D., Jeggo P. A. & O'Driscoll M. (2004) Seckel syndrome exhibits cellular features demonstrating defects in the ATR-signalling pathway. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* **13**, 3127-3138.
- 207.O'Driscoll M., Ruiz-Perez V. L., Woods C. G., Jeggo P. A. & Goodship J. A. (2003) A splicing mutation affecting expression of ataxia-telangiectasia and Rad3-related protein (ATR) results in Seckel syndrome. *Nat. Genet.* **33**, 497-501.
- 208.Concannon P., Gatti R. A. (1997) Diversity of ATM gene mutations detected in patients with ataxia-telangiectasia. *Hum. Mutat.* **10**, 100-107.
- 209. Crawford T. O. (1998) Ataxia telangiectasia. Semin. Pediatr. Neurol. 5, 287-294.
- 210.O'Driscoll M., Gennery A. R., Seidel J., Concannon P. & Jeggo P. A. (2004) An overview of three new disorders associated with genetic instability: LIG4 syndrome, RS-SCID and ATR-Seckel syndrome. *DNA Repair (Amst)* 3, 1227-1235.

- 211.Elson A., Wang Y., Daugherty C. J., Morton C. C., Zhou F., Campos-Torres J. & Leder P. (1996) Pleiotropic defects in ataxia-telangiectasia protein-deficient mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **93**, 13084-13089.
- 212.Brown E. J., Baltimore D. (2000) ATR disruption leads to chromosomal fragmentation and early embryonic lethality. *Genes Dev.* 14, 397-402.
- 213. Abraham R. T. (2004) PI 3-kinase related kinases: 'big' players in stress-induced signaling pathways. *DNA Repair (Amst)* **3**, 883-887.
- 214. Rotman G., Shiloh Y. (1999) ATM: a mediator of multiple responses to genotoxic stress. *Oncogene* 18, 6135-6144.
- 215.Cimprich K. A., Shin T. B., Keith C. T. & Schreiber S. L. (1996) cDNA cloning and gene mapping of a candidate human cell cycle checkpoint protein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 93, 2850-2855.
- 216.Kim S. T., Lim D. S., Canman C. E. & Kastan M. B. (1999) Substrate specificities and identification of putative substrates of ATM kinase family members. *J. Biol. Chem.* **274**, 37538-37543.
- 217.O'Neill T., Dwyer A. J., Ziv Y., Chan D. W., Lees-Miller S. P., Abraham R. H., Lai J. H., Hill D., Shiloh Y., Cantley L. C. & Rathbun G. A. (2000) Utilization of oriented peptide libraries to identify substrate motifs selected by ATM. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 22719-22727.
- 218. Shiloh Y. (2006) The ATM-mediated DNA-damage response: taking shape. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* **31**, 402-410.
- 219.Matsuoka S., Ballif B. A., Smogorzewska A., McDonald E. R., 3rd, Hurov K. E., Luo J., Bakalarski C. E., Zhao Z., Solimini N., Lerenthal Y., Shiloh Y., Gygi S. P. & Elledge S. J. (2007) ATM and ATR substrate analysis reveals extensive protein networks responsive to DNA damage. *Science* **316**, 1160-1166.
- 220.Sancar A., Lindsey-Boltz L. A., Unsal-Kacmaz K. & Linn S. (2004) Molecular mechanisms of mammalian DNA repair and the DNA damage checkpoints. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* **73**, 39-85.
- 221.Banin S., Moyal L., Shieh S., Taya Y., Anderson C. W., Chessa L., Smorodinsky N. I., Prives C., Reiss Y., Shiloh Y. & Ziv Y. (1998) Enhanced phosphorylation of p53 by ATM in response to DNA damage. *Science* 281, 1674-1677.
- 222.Bakkenist C. J., Kastan M. B. (2003) DNA damage activates ATM through intermolecular autophosphorylation and dimer dissociation. *Nature* **421**, 499-506.

- 223.Lee J. H., Paull T. T. (2005) ATM activation by DNA double-strand breaks through the Mre11-Rad50-Nbs1 complex. *Science* **308**, 551-554.
- 224.Lee J. H., Paull T. T. (2004) Direct activation of the ATM protein kinase by the Mre11/Rad50/Nbs1 complex. *Science* **304**, 93-96.
- 225.Jazayeri A., Balestrini A., Garner E., Haber J. E. & Costanzo V. (2008) Mre11-Rad50-Nbs1-dependent processing of DNA breaks generates oligonucleotides that stimulate ATM activity. *EMBO J.* **27**, 1953-1962.
- 226. You Z., Chahwan C., Bailis J., Hunter T. & Russell P. (2005) ATM activation and its recruitment to damaged DNA require binding to the C terminus of Nbs1. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **25**, 5363-5379.
- 227.Unsal-Kacmaz K., Makhov A. M., Griffith J. D. & Sancar A. (2002) Preferential binding of ATR protein to UV-damaged DNA. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **99**, 6673-6678.
- 228. Shechter D., Costanzo V. & Gautier J. (2004) Regulation of DNA replication by ATR: signaling in response to DNA intermediates. *DNA Repair (Amst)* **3**, 901-908.
- 229. Choi J. H., Lindsey-Boltz L. A. & Sancar A. (2007) Reconstitution of a human ATRmediated checkpoint response to damaged DNA. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **104**, 13301-13306.
- 230.Zou L., Elledge S. J. (2003) Sensing DNA damage through ATRIP recognition of RPA-ssDNA complexes. *Science* **300**, 1542-1548.
- 231.Ball H. L., Cortez D. (2005) ATRIP oligomerization is required for ATR-dependent checkpoint signaling. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 31390-31396.
- 232. Yang X. H., Zou L. (2006) Recruitment of ATR-ATRIP, Rad17, and 9-1-1 complexes to DNA damage. *Methods Enzymol.* **409**, 118-131.
- 233.Kumagai A., Lee J., Yoo H. Y. & Dunphy W. G. (2006) TopBP1 activates the ATR-ATRIP complex. *Cell* **124**, 943-955.
- 234. Mordes D. A., Glick G. G., Zhao R. & Cortez D. (2008) TopBP1 activates ATR through ATRIP and a PIKK regulatory domain. *Genes Dev.* 22, 1478-1489.
- 235.Jazayeri A., Falck J., Lukas C., Bartek J., Smith G. C., Lukas J. & Jackson S. P. (2006) ATM- and cell cycle-dependent regulation of ATR in response to DNA double-strand breaks. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 8, 37-45.

- 236. Tibbetts R. S., Brumbaugh K. M., Williams J. M., Sarkaria J. N., Cliby W. A., Shieh S. Y., Taya Y., Prives C. & Abraham R. T. (1999) A role for ATR in the DNA damage-induced phosphorylation of p53. *Genes Dev.* 13, 152-157.
- 237. Myers J. S., Cortez D. (2006) Rapid activation of ATR by ionizing radiation requires ATM and Mre11. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 9346-9350.
- 238. Cuadrado M., Martinez-Pastor B., Murga M., Toledo L. I., Gutierrez-Martinez P., Lopez E. & Fernandez-Capetillo O. (2006) ATM regulates ATR chromatin loading in response to DNA double-strand breaks. J. Exp. Med. **203**, 297-303.
- 239. Stiff T., Walker S. A., Cerosaletti K., Goodarzi A. A., Petermann E., Concannon P., O'Driscoll M. & Jeggo P. A. (2006) ATR-dependent phosphorylation and activation of ATM in response to UV treatment or replication fork stalling. *EMBO J.* 25, 5775-5782.
- 240.Rogakou E. P., Pilch D. R., Orr A. H., Ivanova V. S. & Bonner W. M. (1998) DNA double-stranded breaks induce histone H2AX phosphorylation on serine 139. *J. Biol. Chem.* **273**, 5858-5868.
- 241.Celeste A., Petersen S., Romanienko P. J., Fernandez-Capetillo O., Chen H. T., Sedelnikova O. A., Reina-San-Martin B., Coppola V., Meffre E., Difilippantonio M. J., Redon C., Pilch D. R., Olaru A., Eckhaus M., Camerini-Otero R. D., Tessarollo L., Livak F., Manova K., Bonner W. M., Nussenzweig M. C. & Nussenzweig A. (2002) Genomic instability in mice lacking histone H2AX. *Science* 296, 922-927.
- 242.Burma S., Chen B. P., Murphy M., Kurimasa A. & Chen D. J. (2001) ATM phosphorylates histone H2AX in response to DNA double-strand breaks. *J. Biol. Chem.* **276**, 42462-42467.
- 243. Ward I. M., Chen J. (2001) Histone H2AX is phosphorylated in an ATR-dependent manner in response to replicational stress. *J. Biol. Chem.* **276**, 47759-47762.
- 244. Sedelnikova O. A., Rogakou E. P., Panyutin I. G. & Bonner W. M. (2002) Quantitative detection of (125)IdU-induced DNA double-strand breaks with gamma-H2AX antibody. *Radiat. Res.* **158**, 486-492.
- 245.Cowell I. G., Sunter N. J., Singh P. B., Austin C. A., Durkacz B. W. & Tilby M. J. (2007) gammaH2AX foci form preferentially in euchromatin after ionising-radiation. *PLoS ONE* **2**, e1057.
- 246.Goodarzi A. A., Noon A. T., Deckbar D., Ziv Y., Shiloh Y., Lobrich M. & Jeggo P. A. (2008) ATM signaling facilitates repair of DNA double-strand breaks associated with heterochromatin. *Mol. Cell* **31**, 167-177.

- 247. Solovjeva L. V., Svetlova M. P., Chagin V. O. & Tomilin N. V. (2007) Inhibition of transcription at radiation-induced nuclear foci of phosphorylated histone H2AX in mammalian cells. *Chromosome Res.* 15, 787-797.
- 248.Bouquet F., Muller C. & Salles B. (2006) The loss of gammaH2AX signal is a marker of DNA double strand breaks repair only at low levels of DNA damage. *Cell. Cycle* **5**, 1116-1122.
- 249. Stewart G. S., Wang B., Bignell C. R., Taylor A. M. & Elledge S. J. (2003) MDC1 is a mediator of the mammalian DNA damage checkpoint. *Nature* **421**, 961-966.
- 250.Stucki M., Clapperton J. A., Mohammad D., Yaffe M. B., Smerdon S. J. & Jackson S. P. (2005) MDC1 directly binds phosphorylated histone H2AX to regulate cellular responses to DNA double-strand breaks. *Cell* **123**, 1213-1226.
- 251. Stucki M., Jackson S. P. (2006) gammaH2AX and MDC1: anchoring the DNAdamage-response machinery to broken chromosomes. *DNA Repair (Amst)* **5**, 534-543.
- 252.Spycher C., Miller E. S., Townsend K., Pavic L., Morrice N. A., Janscak P., Stewart G. S. & Stucki M. (2008) Constitutive phosphorylation of MDC1 physically links the MRE11-RAD50-NBS1 complex to damaged chromatin. J. Cell Biol. 181, 227-240.
- 253.Lukas C., Melander F., Stucki M., Falck J., Bekker-Jensen S., Goldberg M., Lerenthal Y., Jackson S. P., Bartek J. & Lukas J. (2004) Mdc1 couples DNA doublestrand break recognition by Nbs1 with its H2AX-dependent chromatin retention. *EMBO J.* 23, 2674-2683.
- 254.Bekker-Jensen S., Lukas C., Melander F., Bartek J. & Lukas J. (2005) Dynamic assembly and sustained retention of 53BP1 at the sites of DNA damage are controlled by Mdc1/NFBD1. *J. Cell Biol.* **170**, 201-211.
- 255.van Attikum H., Gasser S. M. (2009) Crosstalk between histone modifications during the DNA damage response. *Trends Cell Biol.* **5**, 207-217.
- 256.Kolas N. K., Chapman J. R., Nakada S., Ylanko J., Chahwan R., Sweeney F. D., Panier S., Mendez M., Wildenhain J., Thomson T. M., Pelletier L., Jackson S. P. & Durocher D. (2007) Orchestration of the DNA-damage response by the RNF8 ubiquitin ligase. *Science* **318**, 1637-1640.
- 257. Mailand N., Bekker-Jensen S., Faustrup H., Melander F., Bartek J., Lukas C. & Lukas J. (2007) RNF8 ubiquitylates histones at DNA double-strand breaks and promotes assembly of repair proteins. *Cell* **131**, 887-900.

- 258.Bekker-Jensen S., Lukas C., Kitagawa R., Melander F., Kastan M. B., Bartek J. & Lukas J. (2006) Spatial organization of the mammalian genome surveillance machinery in response to DNA strand breaks. *J. Cell Biol.* **173**, 195-206.
- 259. Nurse P. (2000) A long twentieth century of the cell cycle and beyond. *Cell* **100**, 71-78.
- 260.Galaktionov K., Beach D. (1991) Specific activation of cdc25 tyrosine phosphatases by B-type cyclins: evidence for multiple roles of mitotic cyclins. *Cell* **67**, 1181-1194.
- 261.Dunphy W. G., Kumagai A. (1991) The cdc25 protein contains an intrinsic phosphatase activity. *Cell* **67**, 189-196.
- 262. Molinari M., Mercurio C., Dominguez J., Goubin F. & Draetta G. F. (2000) Human Cdc25 A inactivation in response to S phase inhibition and its role in preventing premature mitosis. *EMBO Rep.* **1**, 71-79.
- 263.Falck J., Mailand N., Syljuasen R. G., Bartek J. & Lukas J. (2001) The ATM-Chk2-Cdc25A checkpoint pathway guards against radioresistant DNA synthesis. *Nature* 410, 842-847.
- 264. Yazdi P. T., Wang Y., Zhao S., Patel N., Lee E. Y. & Qin J. (2002) SMC1 is a downstream effector in the ATM/NBS1 branch of the human S-phase checkpoint. *Genes Dev.* **16**, 571-582.
- 265.Costanzo V., Shechter D., Lupardus P. J., Cimprich K. A., Gottesman M. & Gautier J. (2003) An ATR- and Cdc7-dependent DNA damage checkpoint that inhibits initiation of DNA replication. *Mol. Cell* **11**, 203-213.
- 266. Yarden R. I., Pardo-Reoyo S., Sgagias M., Cowan K. H. & Brody L. C. (2002) BRCA1 regulates the G2/M checkpoint by activating Chk1 kinase upon DNA damage. *Nat. Genet.* **30**, 285-289.
- 267. Abraham R. T. (2001) Cell cycle checkpoint signaling through the ATM and ATR kinases. *Genes Dev.* **15**, 2177-2196.
- 268. Rhind N., Russell P. (2000) Chk1 and Cds1: linchpins of the DNA damage and replication checkpoint pathways. J. Cell. Sci. 113, 3889-3896.
- 269. McGowan C. H. (2002) Checking in on Cds1 (Chk2): A checkpoint kinase and tumor suppressor. *Bioessays* 24, 502-511.
- 270. Matsuoka S., Rotman G., Ogawa A., Shiloh Y., Tamai K. & Elledge S. J. (2000) Ataxia telangiectasia-mutated phosphorylates Chk2 *in vivo* and *in vitro*. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **97**, 10389-10394.

- 271. Zhao H., Piwnica-Worms H. (2001) ATR-mediated checkpoint pathways regulate phosphorylation and activation of human Chk1. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **21**, 4129-4139.
- 272. Sanchez Y., Wong C., Thoma R. S., Richman R., Wu Z., Piwnica-Worms H. & Elledge S. J. (1997) Conservation of the Chk1 checkpoint pathway in mammals: linkage of DNA damage to Cdk regulation through Cdc25. *Science* **277**, 1497-1501.
- 273. Chehab N. H., Malikzay A., Stavridi E. S. & Halazonetis T. D. (1999)
 Phosphorylation of Ser-20 mediates stabilization of human p53 in response to DNA damage. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 96, 13777-13782.
- 274.Harper J. W., Adami G. R., Wei N., Keyomarsi K. & Elledge S. J. (1993) The p21 Cdk-interacting protein Cip1 is a potent inhibitor of G1 cyclin-dependent kinases. *Cell* **75**, 805-816.
- 275.Lin W. C., Lin F. T. & Nevins J. R. (2001) Selective induction of E2F1 in response to DNA damage, mediated by ATM-dependent phosphorylation. *Genes Dev.* 15, 1833-1844.
- 276.Lee J. S., Collins K. M., Brown A. L., Lee C. H. & Chung J. H. (2000) hCds1mediated phosphorylation of BRCA1 regulates the DNA damage response. *Nature* **404**, 201-204.
- 277.Coleman T. R., Dunphy W. G. (1994) Cdc2 regulatory factors. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 6, 877-882.
- 278. Nouspikel T. (2009) DNA repair in mammalian cells: So DNA repair really is that important? *Cell Mol. Life Sci.* **66**, 965-967.
- 279.Bernstein K. A., Rothstein R. (2009) At loose ends: resecting a double-strand break. *Cell* **137**, 807-810.
- 280.Pardo B., Gomez-Gonzalez B. & Aguilera A. (2009) DNA repair in mammalian cells: DNA double-strand break repair: how to fix a broken relationship. *Cell Mol. Life Sci.* **66**, 1039-1056.
- 281.Lieber M. R., Ma Y., Pannicke U. & Schwarz K. (2003) Mechanism and regulation of human non-homologous DNA end-joining. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* **4**, 712-720.
- 282. Takata M., Sasaki M. S., Sonoda E., Morrison C., Hashimoto M., Utsumi H., Yamaguchi-Iwai Y., Shinohara A. & Takeda S. (1998) Homologous recombination and non-homologous end-joining pathways of DNA double-strand break repair have overlapping roles in the maintenance of chromosomal integrity in vertebrate cells. *EMBO J.* 17, 5497-5508.
- 283.Gottlieb T. M., Jackson S. P. (1993) The DNA-dependent protein kinase: requirement for DNA ends and association with Ku antigen. *Cell* **72**, 131-142.
- 284.Nick McElhinny S. A., Snowden C. M., McCarville J. & Ramsden D. A. (2000) Ku recruits the XRCC4-ligase IV complex to DNA ends. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **20**, 2996-3003.
- 285.Buck D., Malivert L., de Chasseval R., Barraud A., Fondaneche M. C., Sanal O., Plebani A., Stephan J. L., Hufnagel M., le Deist F., Fischer A., Durandy A., de Villartay J. P. & Revy P. (2006) Cernunnos, a novel nonhomologous end-joining factor, is mutated in human immunodeficiency with microcephaly. *Cell* **124**, 287-299.
- 286. Sonoda E., Takata M., Yamashita Y. M., Morrison C. & Takeda S. (2001) Homologous DNA recombination in vertebrate cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 98, 8388-8394.
- 287.Petrini J. H. (1999) The mammalian Mre11-Rad50-nbs1 protein complex: integration of functions in the cellular DNA-damage response. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* **64**, 1264-1269.
- 288.Sung P. (1994) Catalysis of ATP-dependent homologous DNA pairing and strand exchange by yeast RAD51 protein. *Science* **265**, 1241-1243.
- 289.Khanna K. K., Jackson S. P. (2001) DNA double-strand breaks: signaling, repair and the cancer connection. *Nat. Genet.* 27, 247-254.
- 290.Ogrunc M., Sancar A. (2003) Identification and characterization of human MUS81-MMS4 structure-specific endonuclease. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 21715-21720.
- 291.Doyon Y., Selleck W., Lane W. S., Tan S. & Cote J. (2004) Structural and functional conservation of the NuA4 histone acetyltransferase complex from yeast to humans. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **24**, 1884-1896.
- 292.Doyon Y., Cote J. (2004) The highly conserved and multifunctional NuA4 HAT complex. *Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev.* 14, 147-154.
- 293.Ikura T., Tashiro S., Kakino A., Shima H., Jacob N., Amunugama R., Yoder K., Izumi S., Kuraoka I., Tanaka K., Kimura H., Ikura M., Nishikubo S., Ito T., Muto A., Miyagawa K., Takeda S., Fishel R., Igarashi K. & Kamiya K. (2007) DNA damagedependent acetylation and ubiquitination of H2AX enhances chromatin dynamics. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 27, 7028-7040.
- 294.Rubbi C. P., Milner J. (2003) p53 is a chromatin accessibility factor for nucleotide excision repair of DNA damage. *EMBO J.* **22**, 975-986.

- 295.Lill N. L., Grossman S. R., Ginsberg D., DeCaprio J. & Livingston D. M. (1997) Binding and modulation of p53 by p300/CBP coactivators. *Nature* **387**, 823-827.
- 296. van Attikum H., Gasser S. M. (2005) ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling and DNA double-strand break repair. *Cell. Cycle* **4**, 1011-1014.
- 297. Downs J. A., Allard S., Jobin-Robitaille O., Javaheri A., Auger A., Bouchard N., Kron S. J., Jackson S. P. & Cote J. (2004) Binding of chromatin-modifying activities to phosphorylated histone H2A at DNA damage sites. *Mol. Cell* **16**, 979-990.
- 298. Tsukuda T., Fleming A. B., Nickoloff J. A. & Osley M. A. (2005) Chromatin remodelling at a DNA double-strand break site in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Nature* **438**, 379-383.
- 299. Papamichos-Chronakis M., Krebs J. E. & Peterson C. L. (2006) Interplay between Ino80 and Swr1 chromatin remodeling enzymes regulates cell cycle checkpoint adaptation in response to DNA damage. *Genes Dev.* **20**, 2437-2449.
- 300.Boe S. O., Haave M., Jul-Larsen A., Grudic A., Bjerkvig R. & Lonning P. E. (2006) Promyelocytic leukemia nuclear bodies are predetermined processing sites for damaged DNA. J. Cell. Sci. **119**, 3284-3295.
- 301. Chai B., Huang J., Cairns B. R. & Laurent B. C. (2005) Distinct roles for the RSC and Swi/Snf ATP-dependent chromatin remodelers in DNA double-strand break repair. *Genes Dev.* **19**, 1656-1661.
- 302. Murga M., Jaco I., Fan Y., Soria R., Martinez-Pastor B., Cuadrado M., Yang S. M., Blasco M. A., Skoultchi A. I. & Fernandez-Capetillo O. (2007) Global chromatin compaction limits the strength of the DNA damage response. J. Cell Biol. 178, 1101-1108.
- 303.Kruhlak M. J., Celeste A., Dellaire G., Fernandez-Capetillo O., Muller W. G., McNally J. G., Bazett-Jones D. P. & Nussenzweig A. (2006) Changes in chromatin structure and mobility in living cells at sites of DNA double-strand breaks. J. Cell Biol. 172, 823-834.
- 304.Lisby M., Mortensen U. H. & Rothstein R. (2003) Colocalization of multiple DNA double-strand breaks at a single Rad52 repair centre. *Nat. Cell Biol.* **5**, 572-577.
- 305. Soutoglou E., Dorn J. F., Sengupta K., Jasin M., Nussenzweig A., Ried T., Danuser G. & Misteli T. (2007) Positional stability of single double-strand breaks in mammalian cells. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 9, 675-682.

- 306.Celeste A., Fernandez-Capetillo O., Kruhlak M. J., Pilch D. R., Staudt D. W., Lee A., Bonner R. F., Bonner W. M. & Nussenzweig A. (2003) Histone H2AX phosphorylation is dispensable for the initial recognition of DNA breaks. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 5, 675-679.
- 307.Ziv Y., Bielopolski D., Galanty Y., Lukas C., Taya Y., Schultz D. C., Lukas J., Bekker-Jensen S., Bartek J. & Shiloh Y. (2006) Chromatin relaxation in response to DNA double-strand breaks is modulated by a novel ATM- and KAP-1 dependent pathway. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 8, 870-876.
- 308.Li X., Lee Y. K., Jeng J. C., Yen Y., Schultz D. C., Shih H. M. & Ann D. K. (2007) Role for KAP1 serine 824 phosphorylation and sumoylation/desumoylation switch in regulating KAP1-mediated transcriptional repression. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 36177-36189.
- 309.Lee Y. K., Thomas S. N., Yang A. J. & Ann D. K. (2007) Doxorubicin downregulates Kruppel-associated box domain-associated protein 1 sumoylation that relieves its transcription repression on p21WAF1/CIP1 in breast cancer MCF-7 cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282, 1595-1606.
- 310. White D. E., Negorev D., Peng H., Ivanov A. V., Maul G. G. & Rauscher F. J., 3rd. (2006) KAP1, a novel substrate for PIKK family members, colocalizes with numerous damage response factors at DNA lesions. *Cancer Res.* 66, 11594-11599.
- 311. Ayoub N., Jeyasekharan A. D., Bernal J. A. & Venkitaraman A. R. (2008) HP1-beta mobilization promotes chromatin changes that initiate the DNA damage response. *Nature* **453**, 682-686.
- 312.Luijsterburg M. S., Dinant C., Lans H., Stap J., Wiernasz E., Lagerwerf S., Warmerdam D. O., Lindh M., Brink M. C., Dobrucki J. W., Aten J. A., Fousteri M. I., Jansen G., Dantuma N. P., Vermeulen W., Mullenders L. H., Houtsmuller A. B., Verschure P. J. & van Driel R. (2009) Heterochromatin protein 1 is recruited to various types of DNA damage. J. Cell Biol. 185, 577-586.
- 313.Zhong S., Hu P., Ye T. Z., Stan R., Ellis N. A. & Pandolfi P. P. (1999) A role for PML and the nuclear body in genomic stability. *Oncogene* 18, 7941-7947.
- 314. Mirzoeva O. K., Petrini J. H. (2001) DNA damage-dependent nuclear dynamics of the Mre11 complex. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **21**, 281-288.
- 315.Lombard D. B., Guarente L. (2000) Nijmegen breakage syndrome disease protein and MRE11 at PML nuclear bodies and meiotic telomeres. *Cancer Res.* **60**, 2331-2334.

- 316.Barr S. M., Leung C. G., Chang E. E. & Cimprich K. A. (2003) ATR kinase activity regulates the intranuclear translocation of ATR and RPA following ionizing radiation. *Curr. Biol.* **13**, 1047-1051.
- 317.Bischof O., Kim S. H., Irving J., Beresten S., Ellis N. A. & Campisi J. (2001) Regulation and localization of the Bloom syndrome protein in response to DNA damage. J. Cell Biol. 153, 367-380.
- 318.Naka K., Ikeda K. & Motoyama N. (2002) Recruitment of NBS1 into PML oncogenic domains via interaction with SP100 protein. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **299**, 863-871.
- 319. Wang X. W., Tseng A., Ellis N. A., Spillare E. A., Linke S. P., Robles A. I., Seker H., Yang Q., Hu P., Beresten S., Bemmels N. A., Garfield S. & Harris C. C. (2001) Functional interaction of p53 and BLM DNA helicase in apoptosis. *J. Biol. Chem.* 276, 32948-32955.
- 320. Xu Z. X., Timanova-Atanasova A., Zhao R. X. & Chang K. S. (2003) PML colocalizes with and stabilizes the DNA damage response protein TopBP1. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **23**, 4247-4256.
- 321.Carbone R., Pearson M., Minucci S. & Pelicci P. G. (2002) PML NBs associate with the hMre11 complex and p53 at sites of irradiation induced DNA damage. *Oncogene* **21**, 1633-1640.
- 322.Lakin N. D., Jackson S. P. (1999) Regulation of p53 in response to DNA damage. Oncogene 18, 7644-7655.
- 323. Sakamoto S., Nishikawa K., Heo S. J., Goto M., Furuichi Y. & Shimamoto A. (2001) Werner helicase relocates into nuclear foci in response to DNA damaging agents and co-localizes with RPA and Rad51. *Genes Cells* **6**, 421-430.
- 324. Yeager T. R., Neumann A. A., Englezou A., Huschtscha L. I., Noble J. R. & Reddel R. R. (1999) Telomerase-negative immortalized human cells contain a novel type of promyelocytic leukemia (PML) body. *Cancer Res.* 59, 4175-4179.
- 325. Grobelny J. V., Godwin A. K. & Broccoli D. (2000) ALT-associated PML bodies are present in viable cells and are enriched in cells in the G(2)/M phase of the cell cycle. *J. Cell. Sci.* **113**, 4577-4585.
- 326. Wu G., Jiang X., Lee W. H. & Chen P. L. (2003) Assembly of functional ALTassociated promyelocytic leukemia bodies requires Nijmegen Breakage Syndrome 1. *Cancer Res.* 63, 2589-2595.

- 327. Varadaraj A., Dovey C. L., Laredj L., Ferguson B., Alexander C. E., Lubben N., Wyllie A. H. & Rich T. (2007) Evidence for the receipt of DNA damage stimuli by PML nuclear domains. J. Pathol. **211**, 471-480.
- 328. Seker H., Rubbi C., Linke S. P., Bowman E. D., Garfield S., Hansen L., Borden K. L., Milner J. & Harris C. C. (2003) UV-C-induced DNA damage leads to p53dependent nuclear trafficking of PML. *Oncogene* 22, 1620-1628.
- 329. Tarsounas M., West S. C. (2005) Recombination at mammalian telomeres: an alternative mechanism for telomere protection and elongation. *Cell. Cycle* **4**, 672-674.
- 330.Conlan L. A., McNees C. J. & Heierhorst J. (2004) Proteasome-dependent dispersal of PML nuclear bodies in response to alkylating DNA damage. *Oncogene* 23, 307-310.
- 331.Counter C. M., Hahn W. C., Wei W., Caddle S. D., Beijersbergen R. L., Lansdorp P. M., Sedivy J. M. & Weinberg R. A. (1998) Dissociation among in vitro telomerase activity, telomere maintenance, and cellular immortalization. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 95, 14723-14728.
- 332.Bazett-Jones D. P., Hendzel M. J. (1999) Electron spectroscopic imaging of chromatin. *Methods* 17, 188-200.
- 333. Wilson P. F., Nagasawa H., Warner C. L., Fitzek M. M., Little J. B. & Bedford J. S. (2008) Radiation sensitivity of primary fibroblasts from hereditary retinoblastoma family members and some apparently normal controls: colony formation ability during continuous low-dose-rate gamma irradiation. *Radiat. Res.* 169, 483-494.
- 334. Yan J., Yang X. P., Kim Y. S. & Jetten A. M. (2008) RAP80 responds to DNA damage induced by both ionizing radiation and UV irradiation and is phosphorylated at Ser 205. *Cancer Res.* **68**, 4269-4276.
- 335.Supiot S., Zhao H., Wiman K., Hill R. P. & Bristow R. G. (2008) PRIMA-1(met) radiosensitizes prostate cancer cells independent of their MTp53-status. *Radiother. Oncol.* **86**, 407-411.
- 336. Al Rashid S. T., Dellaire G., Cuddihy A., Jalali F., Vaid M., Coackley C., Folkard M., Xu Y., Chen B. P., Chen D. J., Lilge L., Prise K. M., Bazett Jones D. P. & Bristow R. G. (2005) Evidence for the direct binding of phosphorylated p53 to sites of DNA breaks in vivo. *Cancer Res.* 65, 10810-10821.
- 337.Campisi J. (1997) The biology of replicative senescence. *Eur. J. Cancer* **33**, 703-709.

- 338. Harley C. B., Futcher A. B. & Greider C. W. (1990) Telomeres shorten during ageing of human fibroblasts. *Nature* **345**, 458-460.
- 339. d'Adda di Fagagna F., Reaper P. M., Clay-Farrace L., Fiegler H., Carr P., Von Zglinicki T., Saretzki G., Carter N. P. & Jackson S. P. (2003) A DNA damage checkpoint response in telomere-initiated senescence. *Nature* **426**, 194-198.
- 340. Masutomi K., Yu E. Y., Khurts S., Ben-Porath I., Currier J. L., Metz G. B., Brooks M. W., Kaneko S., Murakami S., DeCaprio J. A., Weinberg R. A., Stewart S. A. & Hahn W. C. (2003) Telomerase maintains telomere structure in normal human cells. *Cell* 114, 241-253.
- 341. Kang M. K., Park N. H. (2007) Extension of cell life span using exogenous telomerase. *Methods Mol. Biol.* **371**, 151-165.
- 342. Montecucco A., Biamonti G. (2007) Cellular response to etoposide treatment. *Cancer Lett.* **252**, 9-18.
- 343. Jiang W. Q., Zhong Z. H., Nguyen A., Henson J. D., Toouli C. D., Braithwaite A. W. & Reddel R. R. (2009) Induction of alternative lengthening of telomeres-associated PML bodies by p53/p21 requires HP1 proteins. *J. Cell Biol.* 185, 797-810.
- 344.Briers S., Crawford C., Bickmore W. A. & Sutherland H. G. (2009) KRAB zincfinger proteins localise to novel KAP1-containing foci that are adjacent to PML nuclear bodies. *J. Cell. Sci.* **122**, 937-946.
- 345. Fleischer S., Wiemann S., Will H. & Hofmann T. G. (2006) PML-associated repressor of transcription (PAROT), a novel KRAB-zinc finger repressor, is regulated through association with PML nuclear bodies. *Exp. Cell Res.* **312**, 901-912.
- 346.Kalverda B., Roling M. D. & Fornerod M. (2008) Chromatin organization in relation to the nuclear periphery. *FEBS Lett.* **582**, 2017-2022.
- 347.Larsen J. K., Munch-Petersen B., Christiansen J. & Jorgensen K. (1986) Flow cytometric discrimination of mitotic cells: resolution of M, as well as G1, S, and G2 phase nuclei with mithramycin, propidium iodide, and ethidium bromide after fixation with formaldehyde. *Cytometry* **7**, 54-63.
- 348. Vogel W., Boldin S., Reisacher A. & Speit G. (1985) Characterization of chromosome replication during S-phase with bromodeoxyuridine labelling in Chinese hamster ovary and HeLa cells. *Chromosoma* **92**, 363-368.
- 349.Comings D. E. (1980) Arrangement of chromatin in the nucleus. *Hum. Genet.* **53**, 131-143.

- 350. Chubb J. R., Boyle S., Perry P. & Bickmore W. A. (2002) Chromatin motion is constrained by association with nuclear compartments in human cells. *Curr. Biol.* **12**, 439-445.
- 351.Bolzan A. D., Bianchi M. S. (2006) Telomeres, interstitial telomeric repeat sequences, and chromosomal aberrations. *Mutat. Res.* **612**, 189-214.
- 352.Plohl M., Luchetti A., Mestrovic N. & Mantovani B. (2008) Satellite DNAs between selfishness and functionality: structure, genomics and evolution of tandem repeats in centromeric (hetero)chromatin. *Gene* **409**, 72-82.
- 353.Rodriguez-Reyes R., Morales-Ramirez P. (2003) Sister chromatid exchange induction and the course of DNA duplication, two mechanisms of sister chromatid exchange induction by ENU and the role of BrdU. *Mutagenesis* **18**, 65-72.
- 354. Schrock E., du Manoir S., Veldman T., Schoell B., Wienberg J., Ferguson-Smith M. A., Ning Y., Ledbetter D. H., Bar-Am I., Soenksen D., Garini Y. & Ried T. (1996) Multicolor spectral karyotyping of human chromosomes. *Science* 273, 494-497.